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Report of the Board 
 

The Board is pleased to present the Report of the Board, the Strategic Report and the audited financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2016. The reports and financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by 

the Financial Reporting Council and comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social 

housing providers 2014 (SORP), the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 

Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The Group is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and 

applies the relevant paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Group structure 

Rooftop Housing Group Limited (RHG), the Group parent, is a non-asset holding, non-charitable Registered 

Society (29661R), registered with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) (L4404), providing operational and 

corporate services, including treasury management, information and communication technology, and human 

resources for the whole Group. It was formed on 12 November 2003. The shareholders of RHG include Rooftop 

Housing Association (RHA), Rooftop Homes Limited (RHL), Rooftop Support and Care Limited (RS&C) and the 

members of the parent Board.  

RHA was registered as a Registered Society in May 1993 (27786R) and obtained registration with the HCA in 

September 1994 (LH4050). RHA was initially established as an asset holding non-charitable body to take a transfer 

of part of the housing stock of Wychavon District Council in South Worcestershire. They converted to charitable 

status on 21 July 2004 and provide core social housing that meets charitable criteria.  

RHL was also formed on 12 November 2003, as a new asset holding non-charitable Registered Society (29660R) 

registered with the HCA (LH4405). All non-core social housing and commercial assets in 2004 were transferred to 

RHL. It provides housing that falls within the definition of social housing including keyworker and registered care 

activities. It also owns and operates market rented stock, residential garages and garage courts.  

RS&C, previously G3 (Inspiring Individuals) Limited, was incorporated on 4 April 1986 as a charitable Registered 

Society (25211R) and joined the Rooftop Housing Group on 1 October 2009.  RS&C provides all the support 

services for the Group.  This includes the young homeless service traditionally provided by RS&C along with the 

older people support previously provided by RHA. 

Rooftop Management Limited (RML) is a wholly owned commercial subsidiary company (Registered in England 

3569438). This company became dormant from 31 March 2005. 

Senior management team 

The senior management team detailed on page 61, under the title of ‘Executive officers’, served throughout the 

period from 1 April 2015 to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 
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Principal activities 

The principal activity of the Group is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing 

need. 

Additionally the Group provides: 

 housing for sale through shared ownership schemes 

 temporary housing accommodation through supported housing schemes 

 housing accommodation for keyworkers 

 housing accommodation for market rent 

 a limited amount of commercial property 

 management of older people schemes in partnership with the ExtraCare Charitable Trust 

 provision of support services primarily to young and older people. 

In addition RHG has an underlying commitment to tackling social and financial exclusion and building sustainable 

communities.  This is done through many partnerships including with local authorities, police and voluntary groups. 

The Board  

RHG is governed within the framework set by its rules as a Registered Society. These state that RHG will have a 

Board and determine its membership. The Board consists of 12 non-executive Board Members including three 

tenants. In making appointments to the Board, the Group seeks members with a range of skills that it requires to 

effectively govern its business. Members of the Board as at the date of this report are listed on pages 61 to 65 

together with brief biographical details. 

The Board Members of RHG, RHA, RHL and RS&C are carefully selected to make sure that they have the mix of 

skills and experience appropriate to their roles within the Group.  

Board Member obligations 

There are six general duties of all Board Members. This is enshrined in company law and is common with 

community benefit societies law.  

 To act within the powers of the Association 

 To promote the success of the Association for the benefit of its members as a whole paying regard to:  

o long-term consequences 

o employee interests 

o relationships with customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders 

o operational impact upon the environment and communities 

o the need to maintain high standards of conduct and probity and to act fairly 

 To exercise independent judgement 

 To exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence 

 To avoid conflicts of interest 

 Not to accept benefits from third parties. 

 

Obligations 

Each Board Member shares the responsibility, along with other Board Members, for directing the affairs of the 

Association and ensuring it is solvent, well-run and delivering the outcomes for which it has been set up. 
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The role of a Board Member and of the Board as a team includes, to:   

Strategy and purpose: 

 set out the vision for the Association, define its values, mission and overall direction, then protect and 

uphold these 

 make sure there are policies, strategies and plans in place to deliver the objects set out in the 

Association’s Rules, and that they are being delivered effectively 

 make sure the Association complies with its own Rules, and all the laws and regulations that apply to it. 

 

Compliance and integrity:  

 to make sure the Association complies with registered society law under the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies 2014, and with the requirements of the social housing regulator   

 ensure that the Association complies with its own Rules and remains true to its purpose and objects 

comply with the requirements of all the legislation and other regulators (if any) that govern the 

Association’s activities 

 act with integrity and avoid any personal conflicts of interest or misuse of the Association’s funds or 

assets. 

 

Financial viability and risk assurance: 

 ensure that the Association is and will remain solvent 

 use funds and assets reasonably and only in furtherance of the Association’s objects as set out in its 

governing document 

 avoid undertaking activities that might place the Association’s funds, assets or reputation at undue risk 

 ensure an effective assurance framework supports the achievement of the Association’s strategic 

objectives 

 take special care when borrowing funds or investing funds. 

 

Duty of care: 

 use reasonable skill and care in working as a Board Member, using personal skills and experience as 

needed, to ensure that the Association is well-run and efficient 

 seek external professional advice on all matters where there may be a material risk to the Association, or 

where Board Members may be in breach of their duties.  

 

General: 

 always act in the Association’s best interests 

 uphold the Association’s purpose, values, objectives and policies 

 uphold the values of the Association through high standards of conduct, behaviour and probity, and by 

complying with the organisation’s code of conduct, rules, standing orders, probity policy and financial 

regulations 

 contribute to, and share responsibility for, the Board’s decisions, including its duty to exercise reasonable 

care, skill and independent judgement 

 prepare for and attend meetings, training sessions and other events 

 participate in reviews of Board performance, measures designed to develop the Board’s capacity and 

effectiveness, and the Board Member appraisal system 

 declare any relevant interests and avoid conflicts of interest 

 respect the confidentiality of information 

 ensure your skills are kept up to date and that you participate in training sessions 

 declare any hospitality or gifts offered to you in your capacity as members of the Boards or its 

committees 

 uphold the National Housing Federation's Code of Governance.  
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Audit Committee 

The Group parent, RHG, is responsible for arranging all internal and external audit services throughout the Group. 

The Group Board has delegated initial responsibility for audit functions to an Audit Committee, which comprises 

Board Members from across the Group. The current membership is: 

 Robin Richmond (Interim Chair), RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C 

 Malcolm Robson, RHG 

 Sheila Kettley, RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C  

 Keith Rolfe, RHG 

The members of the Audit Committee are chosen for their appropriate skills, while representing the composition 

of the Group. 

The Audit Committee has responsibility for reviewing the adequacy of all risk and control related statements prior 

to endorsement by the relevant Boards, reviewing the effectiveness of internal control systems, including 

management, financial, operational and risk controls so that the Group can be reasonably assured that appropriate 

and effective risk management arrangements are in place. 

Resident involvement 

The purpose of Rooftop Housing Group’s Resident Panels is to enable Rooftop residents to be at the heart of 

Rooftop’s decision-making processes and help to ensure excellent and value for money services to our residents. 

The aim of our resident involvement activity is:  

 to be a voice for Rooftop residents within Rooftop’s governance structures and working in partnership 

with Rooftop staff 

 to enable residents to scrutinise and shape services 

 to monitor and review performance. 

To achieve these aims and objectives, there are now three parts to Rooftop’s Resident Panel structure with the 

following purposes: 

The Customer Panel: we have up to 20 resident members who meet regularly to discuss services.  This panel acts 

as the main voice of Rooftop residents and the hub for resident involvement activity. 

The Resident Excellence Panel: these residents operate our tenant scrutiny to ensure that we provide good quality 

services.  They also lead, plan and support the work of the Customer Panel and are accountable to the Board 

through the Audit Committee. 

The AptQuest Team: these residents seek the views and concerns of all our residents via a regular programme of 

customer phone surveys. 

The above arrangements are considered the most appropriate way of making sure that the Group provides the 

best possible service to its residents. 

Code of governance 

The Board has formally adopted the National Housing Federation’s Code of governance, and Code of Conduct 

(2012). The Board has formally assessed its compliance against the Code of governance and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Governance and Financial Viability Standard 

The Board has assessed compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 
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Statement of the Board’s financial responsibilities 

The Board is required by law to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of the Group and RHG, and of their surplus or deficit for that period.  

In preparing those financial statements, the Board is required to:  

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;  

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;  

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Group entities will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at 

any time, the financial position of the Group entities, and to enable it to make sure that the financial statements 

comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 

and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015.  The Board is also 

responsible for maintaining a satisfactory system of control over the accounting records and transactions, and for 

safeguarding the assets of the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 

fraud and other irregularities. 

Internal controls assurance statement 

The Board is the ultimate governing body and is responsible for Rooftop’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness.  The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 

failure to achieve Rooftop’s business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.   

The Board confirms there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 

by Rooftop, that has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report 

and accounts, and that this process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 

During 2015/16, the Board and/or Audit Committee have received the following evidence to support the 

effectiveness of the internal controls: 

 Rooftop employs independent internal auditors to assess its controls and make recommendations for 

improvements.   

 The internal audit annual plan is set by Audit Committee and is designed to ensure a broad scope of 

reviews, covering not just key financial systems but also operational performance and strategic control.  

During 2015/16, Audit Committee received seven assurance reviews including: 

o key financial systems – rent setting; treasury management 

o operational management – arrears 

o strategic control – governance; asset and liabilities register. 

 Each audit gives an overall assessment of the reliance that can be placed on the controls, with four 

categories (in descending order): full, substantial, limited or no assurance.  All seven reviews were found 

to provide substantial assurance (the second highest rating).   

 Where the auditors make recommendations for improvement, a management response is provided and 

this is reviewed by Audit Committee.  Delivery of those recommendations is then closely monitored 

through half-yearly follow-up reviews. 

 Risks are reviewed by Executive Team and Managers at a quarterly meeting with changes reported to 

Audit Committee. The Risk Map is reviewed by the Board through the quarterly pack and is available to 

members and staff on a continual basis.   
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 The Board is aware that Rooftop’s external environment is changing and that risk management must adapt 

to keep pace with this.  There has been a major review of our approach to risk management, including 

rationalising our risk map and introducing a documented risk appetite statement. 

 Management reports on operational and financial matters. All board reports include a risk management 

summary which clearly shows any risks identified. 

 Rooftop is a member of the HouseMark benchmarking group.  This provides valuable information on the 

efficiency and effectiveness of Rooftop at achieving its objectives, both compared to other similar 

organisations and compared to Rooftop’s historic performance. 

 Quarterly performance pack which includes monitoring reports, performance against goals and projects 

and key performance indicators.   

 We have made further improvements to our treasury reporting, and also updated our treasury 

management policy, with the support of our independent treasury advisors.  This has been independently 

reviewed by our internal auditors who found our processes gave substantial assurance. 

 Group budgets which are approved by the boards following a review of the annual budget process by the 

Audit Committee for compliance with the Group budget parameters and financial policies. 

 A robust Business Plan based on clear assumptions and sensitivity-tested to ensure Rooftop understands 

the effects of any potential changes in its environment. 

 Resident involvement impact assessment by an external consultant every two years. 

 Annual ICT penetration test. 

 All policies and strategies are approved by the Board, Audit Committee or Executive Team.  

 Fraud and hospitality registers. 

 External auditor’s reports and management letter. 

 A detailed review of the 2015 Sector Risk Profile published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 

 Rooftop was recognised as one of the Best 100 Not-for-Profit organisations to work for the second year 

running. 

 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) carried out an In Depth Assessment (IDA) of Rooftop in 

January 2016.  Rooftop continues to have the highest possible ratings for both Governance and Financial 

Viability from the HCA. 

There were no identified weaknesses in internal controls, which resulted in material losses, contingencies or 

uncertainties that require disclosure in these financial statements. 

Employees 

Within the Group structure all staff are employed by RHG, the Group parent.  RHG is committed to promoting 

equality of opportunity in its employment practices.  Applications for employment from persons with black or 

minority ethnic origin or disability are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies.  

In the event of an employee becoming disabled, every effort is made to retain them so that their employment 

within the Group may continue. It is the policy of the Group that training, career development and promotion 

opportunities should be available to all employees. 

The Group has continued its practice of consulting and keeping employees informed on matters that affect them 

and on the progress of the Group.  This is carried out in a number of ways including: formal consultation with the 

employee forum, departmental meetings and a company wide briefing session. In 2011 the Group was awarded 

Investors in People Gold accreditation and was re-accredited in 2015. 
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Health and safety 

The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all matters relating to health and safety. They have prepared health 

and safety policies and ensured all staff have undergone a programme of training on health and safety matters and 

have established a Safety Committee. 

Insurance 

RHG maintains insurance policies for members of the Board and executive directors against liabilities in relation to 

the Group.   

Political and charitable donations 

RHG did not make any political contributions, but made charitable donations of £3,257 (2015: £2,175). 

Post balance sheet events 

The Board considers that there have been no events since the year end that have had a significant effect on the 

Group’s financial position. 

Going concern 

The Board considers that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, it continues to adopt the ‘going concern’ principle in the financial statements. 

Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 21 September 2016. 

External auditor 

We are planning to retender audit services during 2016/17 following expiry of the current contract. 

Disclosure of information to the auditor 

In the case of each of the persons who are Board Members at the date when this report was approved: 

 so far as each of the Board Members is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

company’s auditor is unaware; and 

 each of the Board Members has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Board Member to 

make him/herself aware of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s 

auditor is aware of that information. 

By order of the Board 

 

 

  

Nicola Inchbald 

Chair 

20 July 2016
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Strategic report 
Objectives and strategy 

 Mission statement 

 ‘Our mission is to improve the quality of life of people and the communities in which they live.’ 

 Business Plan 2013 – 2023 

 Our group has four objectives: delivering excellent services; meeting the housing needs of communities and 

contributing towards cohesive and inclusive communities; making the best use of our resources; and encouraging 

innovation and improvement in all we do. 

Two new cross-cutting themes introduced in April 2015 are now reflected in our planning and operational 

practices.  These are:- 

 Sustainability – which covers responsible planning and management of resources.  The initial review in 

2015-16 has determined the scope and impact of this ‘green’ initiative and is reflected in our new 

Environmental Policy 

 Value for money – to cover our decision making processes, our return on assets, performance 

management and the scrutiny process and to promote a fuller understanding of costs and outcomes.   

This is reported in our annual VFM self assessment which is published on our website and included in this 

report. 

 Objective 1  Excellent services 

 ‘We will develop, deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers’. 

 Goals: 

 Carry out a three year programme of two scrutiny reviews per year 

 Ensure customers enjoy excellent access to services and customer care. 

 Objective 2  Community needs 

   ‘Working with partners, we will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities integrated 

with supported housing services, developing new build and asset reinvestment schemes that respond to housing 

needs identified by national and regional strategies that are environmentally sustainable.’ 

 Objective 2.1 Community needs – Through new homes 

 Goals: 

 HCA Affordable Homes Guarantee Programme 2015 -17 

 HCA Programme NAHP (National Affordable Housing Programme) 2015-18 

 During the period 2015-18 deliver 140 homes a year and secure funding through the Homes and 

Communities Agency, internal resources or other funding sources 

 Support the National Armed Forces Community Covenant through the provision of 30 new homes for 

former military personnel and their families by 2020, working with national specialist support charities. 

 Assemble a rolling land bank comprising:  

o All sites for contracted HCA schemes (approved budget) 

o Additional sites available for immediate development to provide 150 homes (budget £2.5m from within 

approved 10 year business plan provision for land purchase)  
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o Strategic land for future years (additional budget of £5 million over 10 years from April 2015 for 

purchase of options and land). 

 Objective 2.2 Community needs – Through existing homes 

 Goals: 

 Improve the environmental sustainability and affordability of our homes  

 During 2015-16 we carried out a wide reaching review of our approach to consider the options for long-

term sustainability, and this has resulted in the new environmental policy which establishes our 

sustainability standards for new homes, existing homes, design of our estates and the way Rooftop will 

deliver services over the next 40 years. 

Objective 2.3 Community needs – Through work in the community 

 Goals: 

 Provide accommodation and services to support Gypsy Roma Traveller households  

 Our Community Investment Goal is to invest a minimum of £500k of people and cash resources annually 

in our local communities, measuring the outcomes of community initiatives that demonstrate the best 

social value return 

During 2015-16 the Community Investment strategy was fundamentally reviewed to include the role of RHG in a 

‘dementia friendly’ society 

 Our Financial Inclusion Goal is by 2017 to offer work, family and money advice to all of our residents of 

working age in receipt of benefits (approximately 1,000). 

Objective 2.4 Community needs – Through providing support services we will enable residents of 

the Rooftop Group and the wider community to lead active and independent lifestyles 

Goals: 

 Implement organisational changes to deliver the Rooftop Support and Care revised 2014-2019 five year 

business plan, together with ambition to grow the volume of services by 10% by 2019 

Business development projects feature under this goal as does the project to “Implement the recommendations of 

the Support and Care Working Party” 

 Independent living – To support and help at least 1,000 older people, both Rooftop residents and from 

the wider community, to live independent lives by March 2018 

 Health and wellbeing – To promote and support health and wellbeing for at least 500 younger people by 

March 2018. 

Objective 3 – Resources 

‘We will make best use of our financial, property assets, ICT and human resources to support and deliver excellent 

services and homes for customers and the community.’ 

 Goals: 

 Optimise the use of our organisation’s people, skills and internal capacity 

 Partnership working to reduce operating costs  

 Capital Receipts - to generate £33 million net capital receipts 

 Asset utilisation – To continually review the performance of our property assets. 
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 Objective 4 - Encouraging innovation  

‘Our fourth objective strives for continuous improvement through annual team plans and supports all our other 

objectives and values.’ 

Business Model 

Rooftop’s Business Model demonstrates how Rooftop “creates, delivers and captures value.” 

Our Business Model identifies how our principal activities and Business plan allow us to deliver our four objectives.  

Some key elements of this Business Model include: 

 key partners 

 key activities 

 key resources 

 value proposition 

 revenue streams and cost structure. 

Key partners 

The Group works with several key partners who have a stake in the success of our business, as we do in theirs: 

 Wychavon District Council is our main local authority partner in Worcestershire  

 In Worcester the Group works with officers at city and county levels 

 In Gloucestershire the Group is working with councils in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury  

 ExtraCare Charitable Trust 

 Matrix Housing Partnership 

 NHS Trusts. 

Key activities 

The principal activity of the Group is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing 

need. 

Key resources 

The Group’s key resources are a pool of talented, experienced and committed staff; an asset base of over 6,400 

‘decent’ homes; a solid financial performance which allows the Group to fund future development, and excellent 

relationships with key stakeholders.  These resources are efficiently managed through our business planning 

process to ensure that objectives and goals, determined by the Board, are achieved. 

Value proposition 

Rooftop’s value proposition is that we will provide affordable homes that meet ‘decent homes’ standard, and built 

to be environmentally sustainable.  Rooftop will deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers, and we 

will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities. 

Revenue and cost structure 

At core, the Group is a social landlord providing affordable homes for rent.  Social housing lettings represent 88% 

of Rooftop’s turnover and 77% of its cost base.  The next most significant elements of the business are shared 

ownership sales (8% of turnover, 12% of operating costs) and supporting people (3% of turnover, 8% of operating 

costs).  Other activities are negligible.   

As a developing association, we have £206 million of loan funding.  Interest and financing costs consequently make 

up the majority of our non-operating activities, amounting to £9.3 million in 2016.   
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Development and performance 

Financial performance 

This is the first year that Rooftop Housing Group has presented its financial statements under Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  A number of accounting policies have changed 

to comply with that standard and prior year results have also been restated; the detail of this is included in the 

notes to the accounts. 

Rooftop Housing Group Limited 

The overall financial performance for the year has been excellent with the Group generating a surplus for the year 

before taxation of £7.7 million.  This is a tremendous achievement in the current difficult economic and financial 

climate.   

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, remains the main contributor to the overall group surplus. 

As an individual entity, RHG operates on the principle of cost recovery from its subsidiaries.  It generates relatively 

modest surpluses to cover its tax liabilities and provide some working capital. 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited  

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, generated a surplus of £7.1 million.   

During the year RHA drew down an additional £15 million funding from Legal & General, in order to finance its 

ambitious development programme.  This, offset by some scheduled loan repayments, explains the increase in long 

term creditors over the year as well as the temporary increase in cash balances to £22.6 million at year end.  The 

increase in drawn loans also means an increase in interest and financing costs, which have risen by £1.8 million 

from 2015 to 2016.  

An increased volume of shared ownership sales has resulted in increasing turnover (up £1.4 million) and increasing 

operating costs (up £1.3 million).  31 sales were completed during 2016 (2015: 21).  This partly reflects the cyclical 

nature of our development programme, with the increased sales in 2016 following the completion of a large 

number of new homes at the end of 2015, and fewer sales are planned in 2017.  Over the longer term, shared 

ownership sales form an increasingly important part of RHA’s business model.   

Surpluses from other property sales have fallen to £0.1 million (2015: £1.4 million) as RHA has paused its 

programme of void property sales.  The expected introduction of a nationwide right to buy for housing association 

tenants could be a major change in this area in future, and RHA is currently exploring the policy, operational and 

treasury implications of this.   

RHA’s turnover from social rents, its core income stream, rose by £2.4 million (8%). This was mainly due to the 

completion of new properties at the end of 2015, with existing rents generally rising by 2.2%. 

Rooftop Homes Limited  

RHL, the Group’s provider of keyworker accommodation, residential care, market and intermediate rent and 

garages has generated a surplus before tax of £0.6 million, a slight increase on the previous year.  RHL’s operations 

have been stable and there has been no change to its property portfolio.   

Rooftop Support and Care Limited  

RS&C, the Group’s specialist support provider for both the young and older people services has generated a 

surplus for the year of £9,000.  This is an improvement on the £18,000 deficit recorded in 2015.  RS&C’s turnover 

has increased by £268,000, largely due to an intra-group contract funded by RHA.  This has funded RS&C’s new 

Options and Active Lifestyles service, with a corresponding increase in operating costs.   

The operating environment for specialist support remains challenging.  Worcestershire County Council funding for 

older people’s support ended during 2015 and it is expected that there will be a substantial reduction in 

Gloucestershire County Council’s funding for young people’s services in 2017.  RS&C approaches these challenges 

with a strong balance sheet, with £781,000 available cash.    
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Operational highlights from the year 

 Board approval of the new 2016 Environmental Policy, which will determine the sustainability of Rooftop 

homes and estates for the next 40 years 

 Demonstration of the long term viability of the organisation though the recent In Depth Assessment by 

the HCA, by maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial 

capacity to deal with a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1) 

 Embedding of ‘Making a Difference’ (Mary Gober Customer Culture change programme) – which 

significantly impacted on the culture of the organisation and contributed towards our success in the 

Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 External cladding programme completed, which improved sustainability to 782 homes and helped achieve 

our SAP goal (average SAP rating of 71.3 points against the target of 70) 

 Opening of two specialist dementia schemes – Dorothy Terry House and Dora Matthew House 

 Implementation of the recommendations of the Support and Care Working Party which implemented the 

new structure and processes in Rooftop Support and Care 

 Community Investment Strategy Review, which resulted in new projects working towards making Rooftop 

a dementia friendly organisation and with a wider support role in the community 

 Achieved two stars in the Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 Acceptance by the HCA of our Financial Forecast Return (FFR) in May 2015 and revised FFR in October 

2015 following the 1% rent reduction announced in the budget (including stress testing) 

 Community investment activity with strong neighbourhood impact activity 

 Progress in Land Banking which will make future development easier 

 Customer Service Excellence award 2015-18 

 Re-accreditation to Investors in People Gold 2015-17 

 Queens Award for Enterprise – Matrix Housing Partnership, and 

 National Award for Most Innovative In-House Repair Contractor with Fortis, reflecting a superb 

achievement and significantly reduced VAT costs. 

For 2015-16 we had 16 goals, which reflected the direction of the Board and the use of resources in our projects.  

At the end of the year, 14 of the 16 goals were on target for completion, with two goals off target, namely:- 

 Service Review Goal : the programmed service reviews have taken place with visible outcomes, but 

customer satisfaction has not increased against the (‘all time high’) baseline of 93.1% in 2012  

 Support and Care Business Goal : the project to implement the findings of the Support and Care Working 

party is now complete, and the new structure and processes are in place. However, Support and Care are 

facing a difficult commercial environment.  The amber status reflects the reduction in funding available and 

continued challenging operating environment in the support and care sector. 

Future prospects 

This is a challenging time for social landlords and the customers who live in our homes.  This is a period of 

significant change for a sector which has traditionally been underpinned by stability in government policy.   

Recent changes in government policy, following on from the political and economic consequences of the last 

recession, are making our operating environment more challenging as well as creating extra need for our wider 

community investment services.  The most significant change during the year was the reduction of social housing 

rents in England by 1% a year over a four-year period, starting in April 2016.  Rooftop has reviewed its business 

plan and removed sufficient costs to demonstrate its long term viability, but our capacity for action has inevitably 

been greatly reduced. 

Other forthcoming changes include: 

 Cut in welfare by a further £12bn by 2017-18 

 Continued rollout of Universal Credit 
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 Pay to stay – where residents with income over £30k may need to pay full market rent (voluntary 

scheme) 

 Withdrawal of housing benefit for the under 25s and instead a new youth allowance for 18-21 year olds 

with no entitlement to help with housing costs  

 Replacement of the minimum wage with the compulsory National Living Wage 

 A freeze on working age benefits for two years from April 2016 (exemptions for disability and pensioner 

benefits) 

 Capping Housing Benefit in line with Local Housing Allowance  

 Reduction in funding for support services, with the total loss of funding for Older People Services last 

year, and impact of the cuts in the Younger People Services this year. 

Each of these changes to our external environment have been reflected in our business planning process and 

portfolio of goals and projects. 

We have added an additional two goals to our business plan, increasing our total number of goals to 18.  These 

new goals reflect the changes to our business plan arising from the Board’s interpretation of the current 

environment and Rooftop’s response to it.  The new goals are: 

 Environmental – to  raise the environmental sustainability of our homes to an average of Band B 

 Capital assets – to channel the receipts from the Voluntary Right to Buy process into development of new 

homes. 

The recent In Depth Assessment by the HCA in January 2016 demonstrated Rooftop’s long term viability, by 

maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial capacity to deal with 

a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1). 

Rooftop’s future prospects are derived from the following critical elements being in place, giving Rooftop a sound 

organisational base to achieve its long-term objectives: 

 clear objectives and goals with transparent and monitored outputs 

 ‘clear line of sight’ for the Board to provide direction and governance 

 effective executive and management structure 

 necessary resources, both financial and people to carry out the identified activities required to achieve 

our objectives 

 financial and organisational stability to sustain long term planning. 

Principal risks and uncertainties faced 

Rooftop have a robust risk management process, supported by our Electronic Performance Management system 

(Clearview).  This system is fully integrated with our business planning process and risk management process, 

which allows us to effectively manage the risks associated with new developments and initiatives in response to 

changes in our environment, and focus on the risks and choices we face.   

All decision reports to Board include the greatest risk associated with that initiative or development, and a full 

evaluation of the risk and relevant control measures is an integral part of the quarterly management meetings. The 

identification and scoring of risk together with the control measures taken to mitigate risk are reported on a 

regular basis to the Audit Committee and Board. 

During the year Rooftop has completed a full review of its risk map, leading to a more streamlined risk map 

focussed on the most significant risks facing the Group.  The principal risks facing Rooftop, as outlined in the risk 

map, are: 
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Risk Description 

Increase in variable interest 

rates 

 

Rooftop has £206 million of loan funding, of which 84% is fixed.  This leaves £34 

million of variable loans.  With LIBOR at historic lows, Rooftop recognises that 

there is a high probability of an increase on interest costs in the future.  An 

increase of 3% would equate to a £1 million increase in our interest costs.  The 

Board’s policy is to limit this risk by fixing at least 75% of our portfolio.  

Breach of loan agreements 

 

Rooftop’s loan agreements contain covenants which must be met to avoid default.  

These include covenants on asset cover, interest cover and gearing, as well as 

cross-default clauses meaning a failure in one borrower could affect other 

borrowers within the Group.  The changes to government rent setting policy, 

regulation and right to buy all have potential to impact on loan covenants, 

particularly asset cover.  Rooftop is monitoring this situation carefully and has 

taken mitigating steps including ring fencing cash and charging additional security 

against one of its loans. 

Ability to access new debt 

 

Rooftop’s ambitious development programme is dependent on the ability to access 

new loan funding.  The current programme to March 2018 is fully funded but 

ambitions in the longer term would require additional funding.  Having sufficient 

property security to charge against new loans is a potentially limiting factor for 

Rooftop, and funding markets could also be affected by wider factors such as 

government policy towards the social housing sector and the British exit from the 

European Union. 

Insufficient subsidy for 

development 

 

Developing new homes forms a major pillar of Rooftop’s strategy.  Decreasing 

social housing grant and an increased focus on property ownership contribute to 

this risk.  The Homes & Communities Agencies 2016-21 grant prospectus has a 

clear focus on property ownership, with limited provision for households who 

cannot afford to buy. 

Housing market sales exposure 

 

Over time, Rooftop has undertaken increasing volumes of property sales activity, 

with both shared ownership and outright sales.  Rooftop recognises that this 

increases its exposure to the cycle of the housing market.  The 1% rent reduction 

imposed on providers has reduced capacity in Rooftop’s business plan to deal with 

a shortfall or delay in expected sales receipts.        
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Value for Money self assessment – making a difference 

As a not-for-profit organisation, Rooftop invests its surpluses back into the local community by building new 

homes, improving existing homes and supporting community initiatives.   

We need to make sure that every penny counts – focussing not just on how much we spend, but how and where 

we spend it – to have the best impact on achieving our mission. 

Our approach 

Last year, we expanded the basket of Value for Money indicators we use to assess our performance.  They are 

designed to show a wider picture of what we are doing, rather than just focussing on ‘traditional’ landlord housing 

management.  We’ve divided these targets into three groups: 

 Return on assets 

This measures the big, headline information about the impact Rooftop is making through its assets.  We 

want these targets to show how well we are using our assets to:  

o provide great services which meet our residents’ needs 

o deliver new homes to help solve the wider housing crisis 

o reduce our impact on the environment 

o generate a financial return, which can then be reinvested in the other priorities above. 

These areas are crucial to us and we really want to make a difference through using our assets well. 

 Cost of specific services 

This is about how we compare to other similar landlords in terms of costs.  The areas we are reporting 

on cover all of our major frontline landlord services, plus our spending on overheads (back office areas 

such as Human Resources, Finance and Information Technology).   

 Service outcomes / social return 

Value for Money can’t just be about how cheap things are.  That’s why we’ve set out targets to measure 

how good the services we provide actually are.   

Comparison with others – HouseMark  

To help us compare the cost and effectiveness of our services, we are members of HouseMark benchmarking.  

This allows us to compare our own performance over time, and also to compare ourselves to other similar 

organisations – Local Authority stock transfer organisations (LSVTs) in the Central region with 2,500-7,500 homes.   

The vast majority of our targets are calculated using HouseMark.  Three of our targets are internal calculations 

only and are not comparable with others.  We still think these targets give us useful information about how we are 

performing, compared to our plans and compared to previous years.  
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Our performance 

The results of our VFM indicators for 2015/16 and our targets for 2016/17 are shown below: 
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Return on assets 

We are disappointed by the fall in overall satisfaction with our services.  Anecdotally, we understand that the 

satisfaction levels have been influenced by the repairs performance over the last year, which has also shown a 

significant drop in satisfaction since last year.  Overall satisfaction is affected by a wide range of issues, some of 

which are not under our direct control, and it can take some time to turn around negative opinion.  However, our 

repairs performance is now improving, and our new neighbourhood service will mean that customers will see 

Rooftop out in their areas more, giving them more opportunity for interaction, and for us to respond quickly to 

emerging issues in the community. The action plan to improve the satisfaction figure is: 

 Reconnect residents with their Neighbourhood Officer – by having generic staff with smaller patch sizes 

from 1 July 2016. 

 Undertaking a property and resident MOT where residents have requested nine or more repairs using 

2015/16 data. 

 Specifically for repairs, Fortis will contact residents on route to the appointment as a reminder. 

 Working on a plan to improve right first time and reduce the number of follow-ons. 

 Introducing a personal and proactive approach for one year to regain the confidence of residents. This will 

involve telephoning residents with complaints or service request instead of writing. 

 Introducing PDA’s for maintenance staff 

Rooftop is proud to punch above its weight in terms of how much we develop, relative to our size.  Our target for 

the year was based on building an average of 150 homes a year.  Having completed a record 292 homes in 

2014/15, 2015/16 was the start of a new development cycle and has focussed on identifying new sites and securing 

planning permission so there were fewer completed properties this year.  We expect to complete 455 homes 

over the three years to March 2018 which represents an average of 2.4% growth per year.  We have adjusted our 

yearly targets to better reflect the cycle of our development programme.    

Our financial return on new development continues to outperform the targets set in our financial appraisals. 

This year we achieved our longstanding goal to improve the average energy efficiency of our homes to 70 under 

the SAP assessment rating.  To date we have achieved an average SAP score of 71.3.  This means more of our 

residents are in warmer homes which are cheaper to run.  We have achieved this goal by: 

 building new, more efficient homes 

 selling older, less efficient properties 

 investing in major improvements to existing homes, including this year’s external cladding programme to 

682 properties. 

Achievement of our energy efficiency goal is an important milestone in Rooftop’s business strategy.  This year, we 

have created a new environmental policy which will guide our approach to environmental issues over the next 40 

years.  One of the key steps next year will be to create a new indicator to measure the impact of our new 

approach. 

Our cash operating margin continues to improve.  This is the percentage of income collected remaining after 

deducting our operating costs, which is then used to pay for major maintenance, interest and new development. 

Cost of specific services 

Once again, the results for the cost of our main services are outstanding.  We remain better than average on all 

five measures and in the top 25% for repairs and overheads. 

Compared to the average for our peers, our performance represents an efficiency saving of £1.9 million.   

This year we have spent £7.7 million on major works of which £3.2 million was spent on external wall insulation.  

In addition we were successful in getting £1.6 million funding from British Gas to undertake external cladding to 

682 properties. This deliberate investment in the quality of our homes has directly contributed to us achieving our 

energy efficiency target meaning more of our residents will enjoy warmer homes.   
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A major recent contribution to our very low costs for major works, responsive repairs and estate services is our 

innovative Cost Sharing Vehicle with Fortis Living.  Transferring services to the Cost Sharing Vehicle has been a 

major exercise aimed at saving £700,000 a year.  We recognise that satisfaction with repairs has temporarily fallen, 

but expect this to rise again once the actions we have identified are implemented.       

Our targets for next year are the result of our detailed budgeting and business planning processes.  We aim to 

broadly maintain our current strong performance.  This year we are carrying out a major review of our main 

housing management IT system.  This will increase our overhead costs in the short term, but in the longer term 

we expect this to result in significant improvements to the quality and cost of the services we provide. 

Service outcomes / social return 

Our new Options team have massively outperformed their target.  We initially planned to carry out 400 

independent living assessments last year.  In fact, the team carried out 1,383 assessments which is more than we 

originally intended to do over three years.  These assessments are enabling us to target services more effectively, 

inform other strategies about future needs and to plan for new services.  This year we will review this service and 

how it is structured.  Until we have completed this review, our target remains the same as last year.   

The Options team is part of the innovative new service we created last year, to support our residents following 

the end of Worcestershire County Council’s Supporting People funding.  We intended the service to be funded 

through service charges, but we are still negotiating with housing benefit authorities about whether these charges 

are eligible for housing benefit and have not collected the majority of that income.  This uncollected income has 

affected our percentage of rent collected figures, placing us in a very low position compared to our peers.  If we 

excluded this specific issue, our performance would be better than average. 

New homes are important to us, and we are pleased with the significant increase in satisfaction we have seen this 

year.  We are aiming for further increases next year. 

Our repairs satisfaction has been very disappointing and we believe this is the main reason for the drop in overall 

satisfaction with our services.  During the year we carried out an independent review of our repairs service which 

made some recommendations for improvement.  The management action list has been reviewed by our Audit 

Committee and the actions taken will be independently audited.  In addition, our Head of Asset Management will 

now work jointly for Rooftop and Fortis Property Care to identify and resolve the root cause. This in addition to 

the introduction of MOTs, being proactive with customer service requests and REP review of the Cost Sharing 

Vehicle will improve the service our residents receive. 

We expected our average time to re-let empty homes to increase this year, as we were managing the lettings of 

our new homes and also re-letting homes where residents transfer to our new homes for older people at Yates 

Court, Evesham.  This is part of our strategy to make better use of our assets, by enabling older residents to move 

to more suitable accommodation which will in turn release family accommodation for families on the housing 

waiting list.   

Resident-led scrutiny 

Value for Money is ultimately about improving outcomes for our residents. 

In 2012/13 we set up the Resident Excellence Panel (REP), a resident-led scrutiny group with a focus on improving 

standards and ensuring we provide Value for Money.   

During 2015/16 the REP performed a review on how well Rooftop is responding to welfare reform, as Universal 

Credit is being introduced into our core areas of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire.  The review concluded that 

Rooftop had prepared well and were supporting tenants effectively, and made some recommendations to help 

improve the service further. 

The REP also began reviewing our Cost Sharing Vehicle for repairs and maintenance, which has now been in place 

for two years.  Next year we also plan reviews of voids and service charges. 
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We have continued to arrange Value for Money workshops for the REP and Customer Panel, which have helped 

our residents select scrutiny areas and review and monitor our performance.  This self assessment has been 

reviewed by our Customer Panel.  Customer Panel members have also helped to develop the way we report Value 

for Money in our Residents’ Annual Report. 

Optimising future returns on assets 

In 2013/14, we commissioned Savills to review the performance of our property assets.  Savills told us that: 

“The overall performance of Rooftop’s properties is good.  Financial returns are roughly double those of other 

providers in the region” – Savills 

Savills broke our properties down into the following groups: 

 

The marginal 1.9% group of properties includes our keyworker scheme at Worcestershire Royal Hospital.  Over 

the last two years we have carried out a full review of our non-core housing properties to consider whether any 

action is needed to maximise return on our assets.  The review has concluded that our non-core assets are 

performing well and changes in the health sector have helped to improve performance at our keyworker schemes.   

This year we will update the asset performance model to reflect changes over the last three years.  This will help 

to show us whether any further action is needed. 

The government’s voluntary right to buy scheme also creates a major opportunity for us to review our assets and 

potentially target sales of certain types or locations of homes.  We believe that this could help us to raise £33 

million through property sales by March 2020, which could then be reinvested in new homes and improvements to 

existing homes. 

This year we have also created a formal register of assets and liabilities, which has been independently tested by 

our internal auditors.  This will help us to maximise performance of all our assets in the future. 
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Plans for 2016/17 

This year, the government set us a major challenge by forcing us to cut our rents by 1% a year for four years, 

starting from April 2016.  

In response, our managers and Board carried out a major review which removed £3.1 million of cost a year from 

our Business Plan.  Our 2016/17 budget will deliver the majority of these savings, with others phased in up to 

2019/20.  This is crucial to ensuring our ability to deliver our long term goals.     

We have also started several projects to investigate new ways of saving money, by doing things differently or 

working with partners.  This includes projects to investigate: 

 viability of an off-site manufacturing factory for new homes 

 partnership working in support and care 

 partnership working around the voluntary right to buy scheme 

 the move from specialist teams to generic housing officers. 

By order of the Board 

 

  

   

Nicola Inchbald 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Rooftop Housing Group Limited 

We have audited the financial statements of Rooftop Housing Group Limited for the year ended 31st March 2016 

which comprise the Group and the parent Association’s Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Group and the 

parent Association’s Statements of Financial Position, the Group Statement of Cash Flows, the Group and the parent 

Association’s Statements of Changes in Reserves and the related notes.  The financial reporting framework that has 

been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”. 

 

Respective responsibilities of The Board and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board’s Responsibilities set out on page 5, the Board is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  

 

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. This report is made solely to the parent Association’s members, as 

a body, in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and Chapter 4 of 

Part 2 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 

the parent Association’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 

other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the parent Association and the parent Association’s members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or 

for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 

at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

 

Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the Group and parent Association’s affairs as at 31st March 2016 and of 

the Group and parent Association’s surplus for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland”; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 

Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 

Providers of Social Housing 2015. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion; 

 the parent Association has not kept proper books of account; or 

 a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 

Mazars LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Date 22 August 2016 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 
  

     2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

Turnover   2 39,061 35,386 

Operating expenditure   2 (22,385) (19,737) 

Operating surplus   2 16,676 15,649 

Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment   4 138 1,456 

Interest receivable   8 112 75 

Interest and financing costs   9 (9,345) (7,521) 

Change in fair value of financial instruments  25 109 315 

Surplus on revaluation of investment properties  12 30 59 

Surplus before taxation   7 7,720 10,033 

Taxation   10 (113) (129) 

Surplus for the year    7,607 9,904 

Total comprehensive income for the year     7,607 9,904 
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Association Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 
  

     2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

Turnover   2 7,822 7,520 

Operating expenditure   2 (7,810) (7,413) 

Operating surplus   2 12 107 

Interest receivable   8 3 5 

Surplus before tax   7 15 112 

Taxation   10 (24) 16 

(Deficit)/Surplus for the year    (9) 128 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (9) 128 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

At 31 March 2016 
       2016  2015  

    Notes £’000 £’000 

     

Fixed assets       

Intangible assets  11 137 111 

Housing properties   12 286,153 275,221 

Investment properties   12 3,573 3,540 

Other property, plant and equipment   12 81 107 

    289,944 278,979 

Current assets      

Inventories    6 5 

Properties held for sale    686 3,753 

Debtors   13 3,180 4,609 

Cash   14 24,745 10,824 

    28,617 19,191 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year   15 (17,082) (14,024) 

Net current assets    11,535 5,167 

Total assets less current liabilities    301,479 284,146 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year   16 (253,055) (243,316) 

Provision for liabilities and charges  17 (111) (124) 

Net assets    48,313 40,706 

     

Capital and reserves      

Called-up share capital   18 - - 

Revenue reserve    48,313 40,706 

Total reserves     48,313 40,706 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board and were signed on its behalf by:  

   

Secretary Board Member

 

Board Member
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Association Statement of Financial Position 

At 31 March 2016 
  

      2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

Fixed assets         

Intangible assets   11 137 111 

Other property, plant and equipment  12 81 107 

     218 218 

Current assets       

Inventories    6 5 

Debtors   13 313 423 

Cash   14 892 825 

     1,211 1,253 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year   15 (1,076) (1,131) 

Net current assets     135 122 

Total assets less current liabilities 353 340 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year   16 - - 

Provision for liabilities   17 6 28 

Net assets    359 368 

     

Capital and reserves       

Share capital   18 - - 

Revenue reserve    359 368 

Total reserves     359 368 

 

The financial statements of Rooftop Housing Group were approved by the Board and were signed on its behalf by:  

Secretary Board Member

 

Board Member
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Reserves 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 
 
  Revenue 

reserve 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 30,802 30,802 

Surplus for the year 9,904 9,904 

Balance at 31 March 2015 40,706 40,706 

Surplus for the year 7,607 7,607 

At 31 March 2016 48,313 48,313 
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Association Statement of Changes in Reserves 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
  Revenue 

reserve 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 240 240 

Surplus for the year 128 128 

Balance at 31 March 2015 368 368 

Deficit for the year (9) (9) 

At 31 March 2016 359 359 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
    Note 2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Net cash generated from operating activities  26 20,005 17,055 

Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of fixed assets   (15,616) (34,618) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment   2,544 2,039 

Grants received   3,380 3,089 

Interest received   112 76 

Net cash flows from investing activities   (9,580) (29,414) 

Cash flows from financing activities     

Interest paid   (9,316) (7,571) 

New loans   15,000 25,229 

Repayments of borrowings   (2,188) (1,879) 

Net cash flows from financing activities   3,496 15,779 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   13,921 3,420 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   10,824 7,404 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   24,745 10,824 
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1. Principal accounting policies  

 

Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair 

value, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council and 

comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social housing providers 2014 (SORP), the 

Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 

Housing 2015. The Group is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and applies the relevant paragraphs 

prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Statement of compliance 

This is the first year the Group has prepared its financial statements in accordance with FRS 102, accordingly the 

financial information as at 1 April 2014 (being the date of transition) and for the year ended 31 March 2015 have 

been restated for material adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 in the current year. 

Group accounts 

The consolidated financial statements for Rooftop Housing Group Limited incorporate the financial statements of 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited, Rooftop Homes Limited, Rooftop Support and Care Limited and Rooftop 

Management Limited.  These entities are all subsidiaries within the meaning of the Co-operative and Community 

Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Localism Act 2011.   

Turnover 

Turnover represents rental and service charge income, fees, grants receivable and disposal proceeds of shared 

ownership first tranche sales. Turnover for RHG as parent represents charges to the subsidiaries.   

Proceeds from the first tranche disposals of shared ownership properties are accounted for in turnover in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which the disposal occurs.  The cost of sales includes the 

incidental costs of executing the sale and a proportion of the overall costs of the property determined by the 

percentage of the property sold under the first tranche sale.  The cost of sale is adjusted, where necessary, to 

ensure the surplus on sale is restricted to the overall surplus on the scheme.  

Service charges 

The Group operates variable and fixed service charges depending on the requirements of the respective tenancy 

agreements.  Where the charge is variable an assessment is made of whether costs have been over or under 

recovered and an appropriate prepayment or accrual provided for in the accounts. 

Right to buy income and sales 

Surpluses and deficits arising from the disposal of properties under the Right to Buy legislation are disclosed on the 

face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income after the operating result and before interest.  On the occurrence 

of a sale a relevant proportion of the proceeds are clawed back by Wychavon District Council.  The surplus or 

deficit is calculated by comparing the net proceeds received by the Group with the carrying value of the property 

sold. 

Shared ownership properties  

Shared ownership properties under construction are proportionally split between current and fixed assets, 

determined by the percentage of the properties to be sold under the first tranche sales. 
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Housing Properties 

Housing properties including shared ownership properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. The cost of the properties is their purchase price together with improvement 

costs and incidental costs of acquisition, including capitalised interest and development administration. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write down the net book value of housing properties to their estimated residual 

value on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives as follows: 

General Needs 100 years 

Sheltered and Supported 100 years 

Non-traditional 15 years 

Garages 25 years 

Leasehold property Over life of the lease 

Shared ownership 100 years 

Component Accounting 

Major components are treated as separable assets and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives or 

the lives of the properties to which they relate, if shorter, at the following annual rates: 

Roofs 75 years 

Windows 40 years 

Doors 40 years 

Boilers 15 years 

Kitchens 20 years 

Bathrooms 30 years 

Heating 30 years 

Electrics 30 years 

Lifts 30 years 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  

Housing properties in the course of construction are stated at cost and are not depreciated.  They are transferred 

into housing properties when completed. 

Land donated, or acquired below market value is included in cost at its valuation, with the donation treated as a 

capital grant when it relates to a specific project. 

The market rent properties are investment properties in accordance with FRS 102 and are not depreciated but are 

measured at fair value annually with any change recognised in surplus or deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

Impairment 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether an indicator of impairment exists. If such an indicator 

exists, an impairment assessment is carried out and an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made. 

Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and fair 

value less costs to sell. 

Other fixed assets and depreciation 

Tangible fixed assets other than Housing Properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation 

is charged on a straight line basis over the expected economic useful lives of those assets at the following annual 

rates: 

Office furniture 25% 

Office equipment 20%-33% 

IT networking 10% 

Computer equipment  20%-33% 

Leasehold improvements Over life of the lease 
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A full year’s depreciation is charged on these assets in the year of purchase, but no charge is made in the year of 

disposal. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at historic cost less accumulated amortisation and any provision for impairment. 

Amortisation is provided on all intangible assets at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset on a straight-

line basis over its expected useful life, as follows: 

Computer software – 5 years 

 Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other Government Grants 

Government grants are recognised using the accrual model and are classified either as a grant relating to revenue 

or a grant relating to assets. Grants relating to assets are recognised in income using the accrual model on a 

systematic basis over the expected useful life of the asset. Grants received for housing properties are recognised in 

income over the expected useful life of the housing property structure. Grants relating to revenue are recognised 

in income on a systematic basis over the period in which related costs for which the grant is intended to 

compensate are recognised. 

Recycling of Capital Grant 

Where there is a requirement to either repay or recycle a grant received for an asset that has been disposed of, a 

provision is included in the Statement of Financial Position to recognise this obligation as a liability. When approval 

is received from the funding body to use the grant for a specific development, the amount previously recognised as 

a provision for the recycling of the grant is reclassified as a creditor in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Disposal Proceeds Fund 

The net disposal proceeds as a result of the sale of a property under Social Homebuy, are credited to a disposal 

proceeds fund. 

Capitalisation of interest 

Interest on the loan financing a development is capitalised from the date of purchase of land or property and/or 

the start on site up to the date of practical completion.  The amount takes into account interest earned on SHG 

received in advance. 

Supported housing schemes managed by agents 

The Group owns a number of schemes that are run by specialist agencies.  The agents carry the financial risk from 

operating the scheme and, therefore, the Statement of Comprehensive Income only includes the income and 

expenditure that relates solely to the Group.  Any other income and expenditure related to the scheme is 

excluded from the statement of comprehensive income.  

Investments 

Any investment by one Group member to another is shown at historical cost. 

Major and cyclical repairs and maintenance 

The Group only capitalises major repairs expenditure on housing properties where it increases the net rental 

stream by: 

 extending its useful economic life or 

 the improvement enables a higher rental income to be charged  

All other major repairs expenditure is charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provisions 

The Group only provides for contractual and constructive liabilities where it has a present obligation to transfer 

economic benefits as a result of past events, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will result and a 

reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
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Pension Costs 

The Group has traditionally operated two defined benefit pension schemes, contracted out of the state scheme.  

These were closed from April 2014. The Group also operated two money purchase defined contribution schemes 

and a career average revalued earnings defined benefit scheme (CARE), but from April 2014 the Group only 

operates one defined contribution scheme. Contributions to pension schemes are determined in accordance with 

actuarial advice and calculated as a percentage of pensionable salaries.  

For the defined contribution scheme the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect 

of pension costs is the contributions payable in the year.  This is charged to RHG and apportioned to subsidiaries 

via the Group Membership Agreement. 

For the closed defined benefit schemes there is a contractual agreement between the scheme and the Group that 

determines how the deficit will be funded. This liability is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and the 

resulting expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the present value of the contributions payable 

that arise from the agreement to the extent that they relate to the deficit.    

Leased assets 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which 

they relate.  There are no finance leases.  

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

The Group is VAT registered but the majority of its income, being housing rents, and right to buy sales, is exempt 

for VAT purposes and this gives rise to a partial exemption calculation.  Expenditure is therefore shown inclusive 

of VAT and the input VAT recovered is deducted from lettings expenditure.  From October 2013 RHA, RHL and 

RS&C became members of a cost sharing group which provides property repair services to the Group. 

Deferred taxation 

The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated because of timing differences between the treatment of certain 

items for accounting and taxation purposes.  Full provision for deferred taxation is made under the liability method 

on all timing differences that have arisen, but not reversed by the balance sheet date, unless such provision is not 

permitted by FRS 102. 

Deferred tax is not provided for in respect of gains on the sale of non-monetary assets, if the taxable gain will 

probably be rolled over, or on revaluation gains on housing properties unless there is a binding agreement to sell 

them at the balance sheet date. 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges 

recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial Instruments classified as non-basic 

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains and losses arising from year to year being 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Service charge sinking funds 

Unutilised contributions to service charge sinking funds are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial 

Position. The amount included in liabilities in respect of service charge sinking funds includes interest credited to 

the fund.   

Significant management judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and labilities, income and expenses.  The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to account estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 
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Significant management judgements 

The following are management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of social housing properties 

The Group have to make an assessment as to whether an indicator of impairment exists.  In making the judgement, 

management considered the detailed criteria set out in the SORP.   

Estimation uncertainty 

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 

definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

Fair value measurement 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of non-basic financial instruments. Management 

base the assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available.  In that case, 

management uses the best information available.  Estimated fair values may vary from the actual price that would 

be achievable in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.   
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2. Particulars of Group turnover, operating costs & operating 

surplus 
  

  
2016 

 
2015 

 

  Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating  

surplus/ 
(deficit) 

Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating  

surplus/ 
(deficit) 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Group             

Social housing lettings  34,287 (17,146)  17,141  31,855  (15,847)  16,008  

Other social housing activities             

Shared ownership sales 3,061 (2,680) 381 1,681 (1,392) 289 

Supporting People 1,226 (1,844) (618) 1,367 (1,641) (274) 

Other - (602) (602) - (735) (735) 

Total 4,287 (5,126) (839) 3,048 (3,768) (720) 

Activities other than social housing 487 (113) 374 483 (122) 361 

Total 39,061 (22,385) 16,676 35,386 (19,737) 15,649 

  

Association             

Other social housing activities            

Other 7,822 (7,810) 12 7,520 (7,413) 107 

Total 7,822 (7,810) 12 7,520 (7,413) 107 
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3. Income and expenditure from social housing lettings 
  

    General 
Needs 

Supported 
Housing  

Other Total 

Group 2016   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges   26,818 2,831 431 30,080 

Amortised government grant   456 150 - 606 

Service charge income   998 2,603 - 3,601 

Turnover from social housing lettings   28,272 5,584 431 34,287 

       

Management   3,093 560 51 3,704 

Services   1,691 1,501 15 3,207 

Routine maintenance   3,438 677 23 4,138 

Planned maintenance   1,680 103 - 1,783 

Rent losses from bad debts   299 28 1 328 

Depreciation of housing properties   3,291 666 29 3,986 

Operating costs on social housing lettings   13,492 3,535 119 17,146 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings   14,780 2,049 312 17,141 

Rent losses from voids   168 618 37 823 

Group 2015 

          

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges   25,214 2,642 430 28,286 

Amortised government grant   448 152 - 600 

Service charge income   901 2,068 - 2,969 

Turnover from social housing lettings  26,563 4,862 430 31,855 

      

Management   2,694 557 40 3,291 

Services   1,674 1,230 12 2,916 

Routine maintenance   3,508 693 34 4,235 

Planned maintenance   1,301 151 3 1,455 

Rent losses from bad debts   81 68 5 154 

Depreciation of housing properties   3,130 637 29 3,796 

Operating costs on social housing lettings   12,388 3,336 123 15,847 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings   14,175 1,526 307 16,008 

Rent losses from voids   246 70 66 382 
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4. Sale of housing accommodation 
  

    Group  Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Sale of housing properties          

Receipts from sale of housing properties   2,544 2,118 - - 

Book value of properties sold   (2,335) (605) - - 

Other operating costs and costs of disposal   (71) (57) - - 

Surplus on sale of properties   138 1,456 - - 

 

5. Directors’ emoluments and expenses 
 

 

 

The total amount of severance payments made in the year to executive officers was £0 (2015: £10,000)  

 

 

The directors are defined as the members of the Board and the executive officers as given on page 61. Board member 

allowances paid during the year total £67,611 (2015: £66,340) which equates to 0.2% of turnover (2015: 0.2%). 

RHG Board Member allowances were as follows:  

 £  

C Jones 4,014  

K Hard 4,430  

M Robson 4,014  

P Griffiths 3,877  

H Hobart 4,014  

K Rolfe 4,014  

P Kellard 4,014  

S Kettley 4,014  

N Inchbald 11,034  

R Lathan 7,766  

E Wilson 4,014  

R Richmond 6,203  

M Holland 6,203  

 67,611  

 
The emoluments of the executive officers were as follows:  

    Group  Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Salaries and taxable benefits   547 628 547 628 

Pension contributions   64 68 64 68 

    611 696 611 696 
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Directors’ emoluments (excluding pension contributions) fell within the ranges: 

  2016 2015 

  Number Number 

£85,001 - £90,000 - 1 

£90,001 - £95,000 1 - 

£95,001 - £100,000 1 3 

£100,001 - £105,000 1 - 

£105,001 - £110,000 1 1 

£140,001 - £145,000 - 1 

£145,001 - £150,000 1 - 
 

Staff emoluments (excluding pension contributions) in excess of £60,000 fell within the ranges: 

  2016 2015 

  Number Number 

£60,001 - £70,000 1 2 

6. Employee information 

  The number of full-time equivalents (FTE 35 hour week) was:    Group Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    Number Number Number Number 

    FTE FTE FTE FTE 

Housing, support and care   137.34 135.67 137.34 135.67 

Administration and development   49.55 50.08 49.55 50.08 

Total at 31 March   186.89 185.75 186.89 185.75 

The average number of FTE during the year   187.36 182.35 187.36 182.35 

Staff costs (for the above persons):   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Wages and salaries   4,998 4,769 4,998 4,769 

Social security costs   467 449 467 449 

Pension costs   617 398 394 347 

Total   6,082 5,616 5,859 5,565 

The total amount of severance and redundancy payments made in the year was £26,750, (2015: £66,083). The pension costs in 2016 include the 
SHPS remeasurement the details of which are disclosed in Note 20. 

  

  The emoluments of the Group Chief Executive (GCE) were as follows:   Group  Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Emoluments (excluding pension contributions) and including benefits in kind    147 143 147 143 

The Group Chief Executive was an ordinary member of the pension scheme administered by Worcestershire County Council 
until 31 March 2014.  From the 1 April 2014 he became a member of the Social Housing Pension defined contribution scheme.  
Rooftop salaries are independently assessed and recommended by specialist consultants based upon the median for comparable 

housing organisations 
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7. Surplus before taxation  
  

     Group Association 

    2015 2015 

 

2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

The surplus before taxation is stated after charging:         

Depreciation   4,046 3,860 26 30 

Amortisation of intangible assets  58 43 58 43 

External auditor’s remuneration (excluding value added tax)         

- in their capacity as auditor   24 22 2 2 

- in respect of taxation   - 2 - 2 

- in respect of other services   2 5 1 4 

Operating lease rentals – land and buildings   92 92 92 92 

 

8. Interest receivable   
  

     Group Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

From banks   112 75 3 5 

Total   112 75 3 5 

 

9. Interest and financing costs 
  

     Group Association 

    2016 2015 2016 2015 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Bank loans and overdrafts   9,520 8,415 -  - 

Net interest on pension liability   13 20 -  - 

Less: interest capitalised   (188) (914) -   - 

Total   9,345 7,521 -   - 

The rate used to calculate capitalised interest was 4.8% (2015: 4.7%) being the average rate of borrowing. 
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10. Taxation - group 
  

     2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

   

Current tax:     

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year 124 157 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 2 (174) 

Total current tax 126 (17) 

Deferred tax: 

  

Origination and reversal of timing differences (1) 146 

Effect of changes in tax rate on opening liability (12) - 

Total deferred tax (13) 146 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 113 129 

Factors affecting tax charge for the year 

    

The tax assessed for the year is lower (2015: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK as explained below:     

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 7,720 10,033 

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of  

corporation tax in the UK 1,544 2,107 

Effects of:   

Fixed asset differences 34 53 

Losses carried back - 158 

Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate (11) (9) 

Capital gains chargeable for the year (3) 2 

Income not taxable for tax purposes (51) (58) 

Charity income - not taxable (1,427) (1,967) 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 17 17 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 2 (174) 

Timing differences not recognised 8 - 

Total tax charge for the year 113 129 
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10. Taxation - association 
      2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Current tax: 
    

UK corporation tax on surplus for the year - - 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 2 (174) 

Total current tax 2 (174) 

Deferred tax:   

Origination and reversal of timing differences 19 158 

Effect of changes in tax rate on opening liability 3 - 

Total deferred tax 22 158 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 24 (16) 

Factors affecting tax charge for the year 

   

The tax assessed for the year is higher (2015: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK   

as explained below:  

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 15 112 

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (20%) 

(2015: 21%) 3 24 

Effects of:   

Losses carried back - 158 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 17 3 

Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate 1 (9) 

Income not taxable for tax purposes (7) (18) 

Timing differences not recognised 8 - 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods 2 (174) 

Total tax charge for the year 24 (16) 

RHL is recognised by the HM Revenue & Customs as an investment company for taxation purposes.  

Within RHG, Rooftop Housing Association Limited adopted charitable status as a Registered Society thereby avoiding the need 

to pay corporation tax in the future. RHA has some £7.5 million (2015: £7.5 million) of tax losses that are available to be carried 
forward against any future non-charitable surpluses. 
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11. Intangible assets – group and association 

 
   Software Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Cost   

At 1 April 2015 924 924 

Additions 84 84 

Disposals - - 

As at 31 March 2016 1,008 1,008 

   

Amortisation   

At 1 April 2015 813 813 

Charge for the year 58 58 

Eliminated on disposals - - 

   

As at 31 March 2016 871 871 

   

Net book value   

As at 31 March 2016 137 137 

As at 31 March 2015 111 111 
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12. Tangible fixed assets - housing properties & land - group 
  

Housing properties Freehold 
Land 

Housing  
Properties 

for Lettings 

Shared 
Ownership 

Investment 
Properties 

Shared 
Ownership 

Under 

Construction 

Housing 
Properties 

Under 

Construction 

Total 

  £’000 £'000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or valuation              

At 1 April 2015 352 289,349 11,850 3,540 - 4,234 309,325 

Works to existing properties - 5,522 - 3 - - 5,525 

Additions 521 1,615 193 - 222 7,456 10,007 

Disposals - (381) (407) - - - (788) 

Transfer between categories - 5,499 1,148 - - (6,647) - 

Revaluation - - - 30 - - 30 

At 31 March 2016 873 301,604 12,784 3,573 222 5,043 324,099 

Depreciation 

             

At 1 April 2015 - 30,167 397 - - - 30,564 

Charge for year - 3,937 83 - - - 4,020 

Transfer between categories - (6) 6 - - - - 

Disposals - (192) (19) - - - (211) 

At 31 March 2016 - 33,906 467 - - - 34,373 

Net book value at 31 March 2016 873 267,698 12,317 

 

3,573 222 5,043 289,726 

Net book value at 31 March 2015 352 259,182 11,453 
 

3,540 - 4,234 278,761 

Cost or valuation represented by:          

       

Gross cost 873 301,604 12,784 2,448 222 5,043 322,974 

Revaluation - - - 1,125 - - 1,125 

Total 873 301,604 12,784 3,573 222 5,043 324,099 
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Property, plant and equipment - other - group 
  

  Office  
furniture and  

equipment 

Computer    
equipment  

Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost       

At 1 April 2015 739 635 1,374 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

At 31 March 2016 739 635 1,374 

Depreciation       

At 1 April 2015 660 607 1,267 

Disposals - - - 

Charge for year 14 12 26 

At 31 March 2016 674 619 1,293 

Net book value at 31 March 2016 65 16 81 

Net book value at 31 March 2015 79 28 107 

 

Property, plant and equipment - other - association 

    Office  
furniture and  

equipment 

Computer    
equipment  

Total 

   £’000 £’000 £’000 

Cost        

At 1 April 2015  739 635 1,374 

Additions  - - - 

Disposals  - - - 

At 31 March 2016  739 635 1,374 

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2015  660 607 1,267 

Disposals  - - - 

Charge for the year  14 12 26 

At 31 March 2016  
674 619 1,293 

Net book value at 31 March 2016 
 

65 16 81 

Net book value at 31 March 2015  79 28 107 
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Investment properties, which are all freehold, were valued to fair value at 31 March 2016 based on a valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered 

Surveyors.  Housing properties for lettings and shared ownership properties are accounted for at historic cost but have been valued for 

funders’ purposes as follows: 

Completed housing properties of the subsidiary undertaking, RHA, were valued as at 31 March 2016 on the basis of existing use value - social 

housing (EUV - SH). The existing use value for social housing assesses the dwellings on the basis that they would be managed and owned by an 

organisation committed to the provision of rented accommodation let at an affordable rent, and that the vacant units would be re-let on similar 

terms rather than sold into the open market. The value of RHA properties valued on an EUV-SH basis for funders’ purposes is £327.5 million.  

The EUV - SH valuation method discounts the cash flows from rental and other income less management, maintenance and repair expenditure 

to their present value. The main assumptions used were: 

 Discount rate 5.5% - 7.5% (real) 

 Annual growth in income/expenditure  1.0% (real) long term 

 Property sales Forecasts of right-to-buy sales are based on analysis, past  
experience and current trends. 

 

Savills, Chartered Surveyors, carried out the EUV - SH valuation in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards manual and 

takes into account the performance standards for Registered Providers published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 

 

RHL’s housing properties have been valued for funders’ purposes on the basis of market value, subject to leases and tenancies (as appropriate). 

This assumes that: in the case of the private rented stock that properties could be sold on the open market with vacant possession following 

termination of the assured shorthold tenancies; in the case of the keyworker properties and care home the capitalised net income arising from 

the various lease arrangements; and the garages on the basis of capitalised net income assuming continued existing use. The garages valuation 

also takes into account the redevelopment potential at a number of sites. The total value of all the RHL properties for funders’ purposes is 

£32.6 million. The net book value of social housing properties held on a long lease is £2.8 million (2015: £3.0 million). 

Varying assumptions such as discount rate have been used reflecting the characteristics and methodology applicable in each case.   

 

Total expenditure on works to existing properties: 

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Amounts capitalised:   

Replacement of components 5,497 2,019 

Improvements 28 1,112 

 5,525 3,131 

Amounts charged to the statement of comprehensive income 1,783 1,455 

 7,308 4,586 

 

Gross expenditure on components was £5.7 million and the cost of replaced components written off was £0.2 million. 
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13. Debtors 
 

    Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Amounts receivable within one year         

Rents and service charges 2,784 1,943 - - 

Less: provision for doubtful debts (847) (753) - - 

  1,937 1,190 - - 

Social housing grant receivable 453 2,496 - - 

Amounts due from subsidiaries - - 6 118 

Other debtors 228 287 20 33 

Corporation tax 172 174 172 174 

Prepayments and accrued income 390 462 115 98 

Total 3,180 4,609 313 423 

 

The net present value adjustment required  in respect of agreement to pay (ATP) arrears is immaterial. 

14. Cash at bank and in-hand 
 

There were no specific charges on RHG’s cash at bank and in-hand at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015.  

 

15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
  

   Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Housing loan repayable in one year 5,388 2,189 - - 

Recycled capital grant fund 137 - - - 

Government grant 1,589 1,000 - - 

Trade creditors 2,402 3,575 58 95 

Right-to-buy sale proceeds due to Wychavon District Council 383 435 - - 

Accruals in respect of repairs 201 422 - - 

Amounts payable on housing development and major repairs 1,564 1,713 - - 

Interest payable 646 610 - - 

Corporation tax 40 71 - - 

Other taxation and social security 143 128 121 116 

Pension scheme contractual liability (note 20) 110 87 - - 

Amounts due to subsidiaries - - 396 600 

Other accruals 4,479 3,794 501 320 

Total 17,082 14,024 1,076 1,131 

The recycled capital grant fund is due to the sale of one property.     
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16. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 

 
   Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

Housing loans £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Repayable between one and two years 4,407 5,378 - - 

Repayable between two and five years 13,413 17,500 - - 

Repayable, otherwise than by instalments, in five years or more 182,032 167,490 - - 

Total loans repayable 199,852 190,368 - - 

Pension scheme contractual liability (note 20) 728 615 - - 

Government grants 52,475 52,333 - - 

Total 253,055 243,316 - - 

 

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on certain of the Group’s housing properties and by a floating charge over the remaining assets. 

The interest rates are fixed between 3.8% and 6.5% or vary with market rates. Of the agreed facility £206.2 million (2015: £193.5 million) has 

been drawn down by the Group to date. The total loan facility is £231.0 million and is due for repayment by 2040.  

 

 2016 2015 

Deferred income – Government grants - group £’000 £’000 

At 1 April 53,333 49,100 

Grants receivable net of disposals 1,337 4,833 

Amortisation to statement of comprehensive income (606) (600) 

At 31 March  54,064 53,333 

Due within one year 1,589 1,000 

Due after one year 52,475 52,333 

 

The original total value of grant received at 31 March 2016 is £59,406,575. 

 

17. Provisions for liabilities and charges 

    Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Deferred taxation         

At 1 April 124 (22) (28) (186) 

Charge for the year (13) 146 22 158 

At 31 March 111 124 (6) (28) 

The deferred taxation provision comprises:     

Accelerated capital allowances 99 18 2 (7) 

Other timing differences 14 106 (6) (21) 

Losses (2) - (2) - 

At 31 March 111 124 (6) (28) 
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18. Share capital 

    Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  £ £ £ £ 

Shares of £1 each issued and fully paid         

At 1 April 43 39 12 11 

Issued during the year 4 4 1 1 

Cancelled during the year (4) - (1) - 

At  31 March 43 43 12 12 

 

The share capital of RHG consists of shares with a nominal value of £1, each of which carries no rights to dividends or other income. Shares in 

issue are not capable of being repaid or transferred.  Where a shareholder ceases to be a member that person’s share is cancelled and the 

amount paid by them then becomes the property of RHG. Therefore, all shareholdings relate to non-equity interests and there are no equity 

interests in RHG. Subsidiaries and RHG Board Members may be admitted as shareholders in accordance with policies. 

  

19. Capital commitments - group  
  

     2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Capital expenditure contracted for in respect of development expenditure but not provided 
for in the financial statements 

12,720 11,245 

Capital expenditure authorised by the Board but not contracted for in respect of development 

expenditure 

45,225 30,340 

Total 57,945 41,585 

The Group expects to finance the above expenditure by: 

  

Social Housing Grant receivable 7,462 4,805 

Property sales proceeds 9,819 3,657 

Use of cash surplus plus loan funding 40,664 33,123 

Total 57,945 41,585 

 

The contracted capital expenditure commitment is based on all developments currently on site. The commitment for capital expenditure 

authorised but not contracted for is based on development schemes in the business plan. 

  

20. Pension obligations 
  

The Group has traditionally operated two defined benefit pension schemes, contracted out of the state scheme.  These were closed from April 

2014. The Group also operated two money purchase defined contribution schemes and a career average revalued earnings defined benefit 

scheme (CARE), but from April 2014 the Group only operates one defined contribution scheme. Contributions to pension schemes are 

determined in accordance with actuarial advice and calculated as a percentage of pensionable salaries.  

For the defined contribution scheme the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect of pension costs is the 

contributions payable in the year.  This is charged to RHG and apportioned to subsidiaries via the Group Membership Agreement.  
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For the closed SHPS defined benefit schemes there is a contractual agreement between the scheme and the Group that determines how the 

deficit will be funded. This liability is recognised in the RHA Statement of Financial Position and the resulting expense in the RHA Statement of 

Comprehensive Income for the present value of the contributions payable that arise from the agreement to the extent that they relate to the 

deficit.    

Rooftop Housing Group participates in The Pension Trust – Social Housing Pension scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits 

to some 500 non-associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the Group to obtain sufficient 

information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution 

scheme. 

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together 

with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the 

framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK. 

The scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the Group is potentially liable for other participating employers' 

obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating 

employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme. 

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial valuation was certified on 

23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the 

trustees and the participating employers have agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the 

scheme as follows: 

 

Deficit contributions 

 
Tier 1 

From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020: 

 
 

£40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% each year on 1st April) 

 

Tier 2 
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023: 

 

 
£28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% each year on 1st April) 

 
Tier 3 
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: 

 
 
£32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% each year on 1st April) 

 

Tier 4 
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: 

 

 
£31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% each year on 1st April) 

 

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation was certified on 17 

December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of £1,035m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, payments 

consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit contributions. 

 

Present value of provision 

 
Where the scheme is in deficit and where the Group has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the Group recognises a liability for this 

obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to 

the deficit. The present value is calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised 

as a finance cost. 

 
31 March 2016 

(£000s) 
31 March 2015 

(£000s) 
31 March 2014 

(£000s) 

Present value of provision 838 702 734 

 
 

  



   

  Page 49 

Notes to the financial statements 

  

 
Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions  

 

 
Period Ending 
31 March 2016 

(£000s) 

Period Ending 
31 March 2015 

(£000s) 

Provision at start of period 702 734 

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 13 20 

Deficit contribution paid (87) (83) 

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions (5) 31 

Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule 215 - 

Provision at end of period 838 702 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income impact 

 

 
Period Ending 
31 March 2016 

(£000s) 

Period Ending 
31 March 2015 

(£000s) 

Interest expense 13 20 

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions (5) 31 

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule 215 - 

 

 

Assumptions 

 
31 March 2016 
% per annum 

31 March 2015 
% per annum 

31 March 2014 
% per annum 

Rate of discount 2.06 1.92 3.02 

 
The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future recovery plan contributions 

due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions. 
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21. Legislative provisions 

  

RHG is incorporated under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and is registered with the Homes and Communities 

Agency under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 

  

22. Related party transactions 

  

Transactions with tenant Board Members are at arms length on normal commercial terms and they cannot use their position to their 

advantage. Rent charged to Board Members in the year was £16,283 (2015: £15,921) and the arrears at 31 March 2016 were £116 (2015:£0). 

RHG charged a management fee of £5,652,674 (2015: £5,573,724) to RHA, £273,663 (2015: £246,868) to RHL and £1,895,104 (2015: 

£1,699,741) to RS&C.    

The Group Chief Executive is required to provide a vehicle for use in his employment. He has a loan for the vehicle for the amount of £25,000 

which commenced in February 2012 and has a balance outstanding at 31 March 2016 of £4,615.  The interest rate was 6.5% until January 2015 

and 1.5% thereafter. 

In August 2012 RHA became the sole corporate trustee of the Walker Hospital Trust. The Walker Hospital Trust is a charity which owns 

three properties and is a member of the National Association of Almshouses. 

From October 2013 RHA, RHL and RS&C became shareholders in Fortis Property Care Limited which provides property services to the 

Group including responsive repairs, planned maintenance, grounds maintenance and gas servicing. The services are provided at cost and the 

amount charged to RHA during the year was £7,369,933 (2015: £4,417,195) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £241,014). 

The amount charged to RHL during the year was £57,389 (2015: £59,004) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £0). The 

amount charged to RS&C during the year was £20,977 (2015: £10,344) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £0). 
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23. Units 

  

      2016  2015 

  Owned and 
managed 

Managed by 
others 

Total Total 

Under development at the end of the year         

Units for rent 88 - 88 21 

Under management at the end of the year 

    

   General needs housing 4,779 - 4,779 4,766 

   Supported housing and housing for older people 678 115 793 806 

   Intermediate rent 28 - 28 28 

   Keyworker accommodation 228 119 347 349 

   Keyworker office accommodation 32 - 32 32 

   Leasehold properties 108 - 108 109 

   Low cost home ownership accommodation 229 - 229 218 

   Managed on behalf of another landlord 51 - 51 51 

Units for rent 6,133 234 6,367 6,359 

Total units social housing 6,221 234 6,455 6,380 

   Market renting 45 - 45 44 

   Residential care homes - 46 46 46 

Total units non-social housing 45 46 91 90 

Total units for rent 6,266 280 6,546 6,470 

Retained freeholds and estate charges 281 - 281 281 

 

24. Contingent liabilities and financial commitments  

  

As part of the transfer agreement with Wychavon District Council, Rooftop Housing Association Limited  

provided various indemnities to the Council in respect of obligations the association assumed upon the transfer. 

In the view of the Board there is little likelihood of any liability arising in respect of these indemnities and accordingly no  

provision is reflected in these financial statements. 

 Total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows : 

 Group Association 

2016 2015 2016 2015 

Payments due : £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

- within one year 92 92 92 92 

- between one and five years 199 291 199 291 

- after five years - - - - 

  291 383 291 383 
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25. Financial Instruments 
 

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below: 

 

 Group Association 

  2016 2015 2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Financial assets     

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:     

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 13) 2,790 4,147 192 207 

Amounts due from related undertakings (see note 13) - - 6 118 

 2,790 4,147 198 325 

Financial liabilities     

Measured at fair value through surplus or deficit:     

Loans payable (see note 15,16) 18,035 18,144 - - 

Measured at amortised cost:     

Loans payable (see note 15,16) 187,205 174,413 - - 

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:     

Trade and other creditors (see note 15,16)  5,507 6,624 179 211 

Amounts owed to related undertakings (see note 15,16) - - 396 600 

 192,712 181,037 575 811 

The income, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are summarised below:     

Interest expense     

Total interest expense for housing loans at amortised cost 8,622 7,517 - - 

Fair value gains and (losses)     

On housing loans measured at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income 109 315 - - 

 

  



   

  Page 53 

Notes to the financial statements 

  

 

26. Statement of Cash Flows 

 
  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Cash flow from operating activities   

Surplus for the year 7,607 9,904 

Adjustment for non-cash items:   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 4,046 3,860 

Amortisation of intangible assets 58 43 

(Increase) / decrease in inventories (1) 2 

Decrease / (increase) in debtors 2,453 (2,279) 

(Decrease) / increase in creditors (666) 24 

(Decrease) / increase in provisions (13) 146 

Carrying amount of property, plant and equipment disposals 577 922 

(Increase) in fair value of financial instruments (109) (315) 

(Increase) in fair value of investment property (30) (59) 

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:   

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment (2,544) (2,039) 

Government grants utilised in the year (606) (600) 

Interest payable 9,345 7,521 

Interest received (112) (75) 

Cash generated by operations 20,005 17,055 
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27. Transition to FRS 102 

 
This is the first year that the Group has presented its financial statements under Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the 

Financial Reporting Council.  The following disclosures are required in the year of transition.  The last financial statements under previous UK 

GAAP were for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the date of transition to FRS 102 was, therefore, 1 April 2014.  As a consequence of 

adopting FRS 102, a number of accounting policies have changed to comply with that standard. 

In carrying out the transition to FRS 102, the Group has not applied any of the optional exemptions as permitted by Section 35 Transition to 

this FRS. 

 

Housing Properties 

Under previous UK GAAP the Group had a policy of revaluing housing land and buildings. On transition to FRS 102 the Group has elected to 

revert to historic cost. Properties held to earn commercial rentals or for capital appreciation or both are classified as investment properties 

and continue to be measured at fair value annually with no depreciation charged and any change in value now recognised in surplus in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Grant Accounting 

Grants were previously netted off the cost of the related asset.  As the Group now accounts for its properties at cost it has adopted the 

accruals model for government grants as required by SORP 2014.  Under the accruals model the government grants have been allocated to the 

related assets and amortised over the useful economic life of those assets.  As a result of grants no longer being netted off the cost of the 

related asset the depreciation charge on that asset has been restated. 

 

Designated Reserves 

The balances previously held in designated reserves in respect of sinking funds have been transferred to creditors. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction price and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges recognised as an expense in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.  Financial instruments classified as non-basic are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains 

and losses arising from year to year being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

Under previous UK GAAP the Social Housing Pension Scheme, a multi employer defined benefit pension scheme of which Rooftop Housing 

Group is a member, was accounted for by the Group as a defined contribution scheme.  It is not possible for the Group to obtain sufficient 

information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme and so continues to account for the scheme as a defined 

contribution scheme.  Where the scheme is in deficit and the Group has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement the Group now recognises a 

liability for this obligation.  The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement 

that relates to the deficit  
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2014 for the Association – date of transition to FRS 102 
 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 

Holiday Pay Pension 
Deficit 

Software Reserves FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 2,198   -870  1,328 

Depreciation -2,007   769  -1,238 

Total 191     90 

Intangible assets Cost 0   870  870 

Amortisation 0   -769  -769 

Total 0     101 

Total fixed assets 191     191 

Current assets       

Inventories 7     7 

Debtors 823     823 

Cash 675     675 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Other creditors -1,611 -31    -1,642 

Net current assets -106     -137 

Provision for liabilities 180 6 0   186 

Net assets 265 -25 0 0 0 240 

       

Capital and reserves       

Designated reserve 28    -28 0 

Revenue reserve 237 -25 0  28 240 

Total capital and reserves 265 -25 0 0 0 240 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2015 for the Association 

 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Holiday Pay Pension 
Deficit 

Software Reserves FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 2,298   -924  1,374 

Depreciation -2,080   813  -1,267 

Total 218     107 

Intangible assets Cost 0   924  924 

Amortisation 0   -813  -813 

Total 0     111 

Total fixed assets 218     218 

Current assets       

Inventories 5     5 

Debtors 423     423 

Cash 825     825 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Other creditors -1,177 -37 83   -1,131 

Net current assets 76     122 

Provision for liabilities 20 8 0   28 

Net assets 314 -29 83 0 0 368 

       

Capital and reserves       

Designated reserve 28    -28 0 

Revenue reserve 286 -29 83  28 368 

Total capital and reserves 314 -29 83 0 0 368 
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 - Association 

    

£000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 

Holiday Pay Pension 
Deficit 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Turnover 7,520   7,520 

Operating expenditure -7,490 -6 83 -7,413 

Operating surplus 30 -6 83 107 

Interest receivable 5   5 

Surplus before tax 35 -6 83 112 

Taxation 14 2  16 

Surplus for the year 49 -4 83 128 

Total comprehensive income for the year 49 -4 83 128 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2014 for the Group – date of transition to FRS 102 

 
  Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 

Restatement £000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change 
to cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Software Holiday 
Pay 

Pension 
Deficit 

Completed properties Cost 272,120 671    -450      272,341 

Grant -53,261  53,261         0 

Revaluation 110,518 -110,518          0 

Depreciation 0 -24,809  -2,182  105      -26,886 

Total 329,377           245,455 

Investment properties Cost 1,994     450      2,444 

Fair Value 800 -800    1,037      1,037 

Total 2,794           3,481 

Total Housing Properties 332,171           248,936 

Tangible fixed assets Cost 2,198        -870   1,328 

Depreciation -2,007        769   -1,238 

Total 191           90 

Intangible assets Cost 0        870   870 

Amortisation 0        -769   -769 

Total 0           101 

Other fixed assets 191           191 

Total fixed assets 332,362           249,127 

Current assets             

Inventories 7           7 

Properties held for sale 1,489           1,489 

Debtors 2,851           2,851 

Cash 7,404           7,404 

Creditors due within 1 year             

Housing loans -1,839           -1,839 

Government grants 0  -3,373         -3,373 

Other creditors -8,958    -1,695     -31 -83 -10,767 

Net current assets 954           -4,228 

Creditors due after 1 year             

Housing loans -167,764      481 -458    -167,741 

Defined benefit pension liability 0          -651 -651 

Government grants 0  -45,727         -45,727 

Provisions for liabilities 34     -18    6  22 

Net assets 165,586 -135,456 4,161 -2,182 -1,695 1,124 481 -458 0 -25 -734 30,802 

             

Capital and reserves             

Revaluation reserve 133,770 -133,770          0 

Designated reserve 4,750    -4,750       0 

Revenue reserve 27,066 -1,686 4,161 -2,182 3,055 1,124 481 -458  -25 -734 30,802 

Total capital and reserves 165,586 -135,456 4,161 -2,182 -1,695 1,124 481 -458 0 -25 -734 30,802 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2015 for the Group 

 
  Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 

Restatement £000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 

Change 
to cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Software Holiday 
Pay 

Pension 
Deficit 

Completed properties Cost 305,549 686    -450      305,785 

Grant -58,093  58,093         0 

Revaluation 116,582 -116,582          0 

Depreciation 0 -28,163  -2,518  117      -30,564 

Total 364,038           275,221 

Investment properties Cost 1,995     450      2,445 

Fair Value 858 -858    1,095      1,095 

Total 2,853           3,540 

Total Housing Properties 366,891           278,761 

Tangible fixed assets Cost 2,298        -924   1,374 

Depreciation -2,080        813   -1,267 

Total 218           107 

Intangible assets Cost 0        924   924 

Amortisation 0        -813   -813 

Total 0           111 

Other fixed assets 218           218 

Total fixed assets 367,109           278,979 

Current assets             

Inventories 5           5 

Properties held for sale 3,753           3,753 

Debtors 4,609          0 4,609 

Cash 10,824           10,824 

Creditors due within 1 year             

Housing loans -2,180      -9     -2,189 

Government grants 0  -1,000         -1,000 

Other creditors -8,843    -1,868     -37 -87 -10,835 

Net current assets 8,168           5,167 

Creditors due after 1 year             

Housing loans -190,773      548 -143    -190,368 

Defined benefit pension liability 0          -615 -615 

Government grants 0  -52,333         -52,333 

Provisions for liabilities -107     -25    8  -124 

Net assets 184,397 -144,917 4,760 -2,518 -1,868 1,187 539 -143 0 -29 -702 40,706 

             

Capital and reserves             

Revaluation reserve 143,395 -143,372   -23       0 

Designated reserve 3,043    -3,043       0 

Revenue reserve 37,959 -1,545 4,760 -2,518 1,198 1,187 539 -143 0 -29 -702 40,706 

Total capital and reserves 184,397 -144,917 4,760 -2,518 -1,868 1,187 539 -143 0 -29 -702 40,706 



   

  Page 60 

Notes to the financial statements 

  

 
 
Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 - Group 

 

  Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 
Restatement 

£000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change 
to cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Holiday 
Pay 

Pension 
Deficit 

Turnover 34,998  600  -213  1    35,386 

Operating expenditure -19,532 35  -338 40 12   -6 52 -19,737 

Operating surplus 15,466 35 600 -338 -173 12 1 0 -6 52 15,649 

Surplus/(deficit) on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 

602 854         1,456 

Interest receivable 75      0    75 

Interest and financing costs -7,559      58   -20 -7,521 

Change in fair value of financial instruments 0       315   315 

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of investment 

properties 

0     59     59 

Surplus before tax 8,584 889 600 -338 -173 71 59 315 -6 32 10,033 

Taxation -124     -7   2  -129 

Surplus for the year 8,460 889 600 -338 -173 64 59 315 -4 32 9,904 

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,460 889 600 -338 -173 64 59 315 -4 32 9,904 
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Biographies of Board Members 
 

Nicola Inchbald, BA (Hons) Dip TP MRTPI (Independent and Chair of RHG) 

Nicola is a Chartered Town Planner with over 25 years experience in the development industry, specialising in residential development. She is a 

former Senior Director of CB Hillier Parker where she ran the Development Land Team. She is currently a Parish Councillor and a Trustee of 

the Ripple Trust, which supports young people in further education and the elderly in the area. Nicola has recently established The Inchbald 

Maxted Partnership, a development and planning consultancy.   

Keith Rolfe (Independent and Vice Chair of RHG and Vice Chair of Audit Committee) 

Keith worked in the banking and financial services sector for almost 30 years. He has extensive risk management experience gained from senior 

roles in a number of leading global financial institutions. More recently, he spent seven years working at Barclays Bank plc. As Chief Credit 

Officer for the UK and Ireland for Barclays Corporate Bank, Keith and his team of 150 credit officers were responsible for facilitating delivery 

of the business objectives of Barclays Corporate within the risk parameters set by the Board. Keith has served as an independent member of 

the Department for Communities and Local Government Credit Committee, responsible for the issuance of Government guarantees under the 

affordable housing guarantee scheme and the private rented sector guarantee scheme. He is a non executive director of Tipton and Coseley 

Building Society, where he chairs the Risk Committee. 

Kelvin Hard (Independent and Chair of Remuneration) 

Kelvin spent all his childhood in social housing and so understands the importance of social housing in helping people to live with dignity and 

security. Kelvin holds post graduate qualifications from the Universities of Cambridge and Oxford, and from the London Business School. He 

began his career as a ‘fast stream’ entrant to the Treasury and Cabinet Office, where he served for eight years before taking a Masters in 

Management at the London Business School. His roles included being Head of Human Resources for the Cabinet Office and conducting two 

efficiency reviews for the Prime Minister. Kelvin then served for many years as a Partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers, where he led the Change 

Management Consulting Practice for Europe, Middle East and Africa and was a member of the Firm's Governing Council. He now leads his own 

consultancy business specialising in organisation design and the management of change. Kelvin is a Chartered Member of the Institute of 

Personnel and Development and a Fellow of the Institute of Directors. Kelvin also volunteers as a mentor to a Young Enterprise Group and as 

a Director of residential holidays for schoolchildren. 

Hilary Hobart (Vice Chair of RHL) 

Hilary trained as an accountant in a firm of Chartered Accountants in Liverpool, which specialised in auditing organisations in regulated sectors. 

She gained a passion for housing and subsequently left the partnership to hold various finance posts and ultimately the post of Finance Director 

within the Liver Housing Group (now part of the Your Housing Group). In 1999 she moved to the Midlands to become the Finance Director & 

Company Secretary of the Accord Housing Group. She left the sector to be part of a management buy out of an IT infrastructure company and 

also became a voluntary Board Member of Ashram Housing Association for a period of two years. After a successful exit from her company 

and a four year career break to look after her twin boys, Hilary became a self-employed Finance Director for innovative start-up companies 

funded by venture capital investments. She is now employed by one of them on a part time basis, which gives her the opportunity to fulfil her 

role as a school governor for her local primary school. 

Martin Holland, FCIH (Chair of RHL and Vice Chair of RHA) 

Martin has worked in the housing sector for over 40 years and has experience in local authorities and the private sector as well as housing 

associations. Martin retired from his role as Chief Executive at Shropshire Housing Group in 2013, where he had worked since the early 

nineties. He served as Regional Chair of the National Housing Federation (NHF) between 2003 and 2006, and in 2015 was elected to the 

Regional Committee of the NHF. Martin was appointed to the Board of the Rural Housing Advisory Group in 2011, advising the Homes and 

Communities Agency and Department for Communities and Local Government on rural housing issues. 
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Ceri Jones 

After more than 30 years in teaching, Ceri retired from his post as Head Teacher of Bishop's Cleeve Primary School in 2000. The following 

year he was elected to Gloucestershire County Council as the member for Bishop's Cleeve and, in that role, has served on many committees 

both in Gloucester and locally. He was a member of the Council of the University of Gloucestershire for eight years and a Chairman of Cleeve 

Colts Football Club for 10 years. He has also chaired the Rooftop Residents Association in Bishop's Cleeve, which meets quarterly with both 

tenants and owner occupiers to discuss issues of interest and concern. In May 2013, Ceri decided to step down from the County Council. 

Paul Kellard (Tenant) 

Paul, born in Chester, has a career background in the Armed Forces and the Ministry of Defence. He currently works in Health and Social Care 

and was recently appointed to the post of Care Co-ordinator in a residential nursing home. He has been a Rooftop tenant for more than 20 

years and, in recent years, he has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel and Resident Excellence Panel. Paul successfully completed a 

governance training course accredited through Derby University. Paul volunteers with the Alzheimer’s Society as a fund raiser and Dementia 

Friends Champion. He has also undertaken training, as a Rooftop volunteer, to become a Dementia Friends Champion. He believes passionately 

in providing excellent housing to create strong communities, especially to an ageing population. 

Sheila Kettley (Tenant and Vice Chair of RS&C) 

Sheila, born in North London, has had a career background in banking, stockbroking, architecture and surveying. Her most recent position was 

as a Credit Control Manager. She and her husband were also publicans, based in various parts of the country, their last public house being in 

Eckington, Worcestershire. Sheila has been a Rooftop tenant for over 10 years and has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel since 

2008. Sheila chairs the Community Fund Group and the Communications Panel, sub-groups of the Customer Panel, and serves on the 

Complaints Review Panel. As a Rooftop volunteer, she sits on the judging panel of the annual Rooftop Garden Competition for residents and 

has recently undertaken training to become a Dementia Friends Champion. Sheila successfully completed a Governance Training course 

accredited through Derby University. She has been a member of the Audit Committee since 2011. 

Rachel Lathan (Tenant and Chair of RHA) 

Rachel has been an RHA tenant for some years and lives in Badsey with her husband and young family. She balances a demanding family life with 

her job in sales and her involvement with Rooftop. Rachel first became an involved resident with Rooftop when she joined the newly formed 

Resident Action Team in 2010 and has risen rapidly to the position of RHA Chair. She was a 'Tenant of the Year' finalist in the 2012 Tenant 

Participation Advisory Service Awards. Rachel has completed many public speaking engagements. She has successfully completed a Governance 

Training course accredited through Derby University. Rachel is an active member of the local community and believes passionately in providing 

excellent housing. 

Robin Richmond, MBA FCA (Chair of RS&C and Interim Chair of Audit Committee) 

Originally from London, Robin’s background is in finance, including property development with Arlington Securities plc. Since leaving 

Doncasters plc in 1999, Robin has been engaged in project work and has held a number of non-executive directorships, including 

Worcestershire Mental Health NHS Partnership Trust, Heart of England Housing and Care, and the Orbit Group. Robin is currently a Trustee 

of Midlands Air Ambulance Charity. Married with five children, Robin's outside interests include books, music and spending time with his family. 

Malcolm Robson (Independent)  

Malcolm trained as a Chartered Accountant and spent nine years in general practice with the London region of KPMG. In addition to working 

with a diverse client group ranging from multinational businesses to not for profit organisations, he was also appointed as a member of the audit 

quality review team. After leaving KPMG, he worked on a large brownfield mixed use regeneration scheme in the heart of Norwich, and was 

also a founder director of a Business Expansion Scheme providing residential property in the same city. Following the conclusion of the 

developments, he set up and developed a residential lettings agency which he sold in 1997. He has recently retired after 16 years with Morston 

Assets where he was appointed Group Finance Director in 2002. Specialising in larger scale regeneration projects and commercial property 

development, Morston has been particularly focussed on the development of, and continuing involvement with, new communities embracing 

the provision of a high quality built environment, the provision of economic opportunity for residents and the wider area, and the provision of 

soft infrastructure to promote social cohesion and entrepreneurship. 

 

 



   

  Page 65 

Notes to the financial statements 

  

 
Emma Wilson 

Emma is a registered nurse with experience of working as a senior manager in both primary and secondary care in London and 

Worcestershire, with accountability for the provision and delivery of nursing services. She now works as an advanced nurse practitioner in 

primary care, in addition to studying for an MSc in Advancing Practice at University of Worcester. After a move back home to Pershore from 

London with her two young children in 1997, she was aware of the need for good, affordable social housing and feels fortunate to have 

previously been a tenant of RHA for five years.  
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Report of the Board 
 

The Board is pleased to present the Report of the Board, the Strategic Report and the audited financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2016. The reports and financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by 

the Financial Reporting Council and comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social 

housing providers 2014 (SORP), the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 

Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and 

applies the relevant paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Group structure 

Rooftop Housing Association (RHA)  was incorporated on 18 May 1993 and is a Registered Provider (RP), a 

charitable Registered Society and a member of Rooftop Housing Group Limited (RHG).  The Group parent is a 

non-asset holding, non-charitable Registered Society (29661R), registered with the Homes and Communities 

Agency (HCA) (L4404), providing operational and corporate services including treasury management, information 

and communication technology, and human resources for the whole Group. 

As a charitable Registered Society, RHA has a shareholding membership policy, where each member holds one 

fully paid share of £1 in the Association, which is cancelled when their membership ends. Membership is open and 

subject to a restriction on the number of tenant shareholders. Nothing will be paid by way of surplus or dividend 

to shareholders. 

Senior management team 

The senior management team detailed on page 47, under the heading ‘Executive officers’, served throughout the 

year from 1 April 2015 to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of RHA is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing need. 

RHA also provides: 

 housing for sale through shared ownership schemes 

 temporary housing accommodation through supported housing schemes 

 housing accommodation through partnerships with specialist providers for those with particular support 

needs 

 development and management of older people schemes in partnership with the ExtraCare Charitable 

Trust. 

In addition RHA has an underlying commitment to tackling social and financial exclusion and building sustainable 

communities. This is done through many partnerships including with local authorities, police and voluntary groups. 

The Board  

RHA is governed within the framework set by its rules as a Registered Society.  These state that RHA will have a 

Board and determine its membership. The Board is responsible for overall strategic direction including the 

determination of key policies and monitoring of compliance with both policies and performance targets. The Board 

Members contribute to and share responsibility for decisions. 

The Board consists of six Members who bring to the Association a wide range of skills, experience and expertise. 

In making appointments to the Board the Association seeks members with a wide range of skills that it requires to 

effectively manage its business.  
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Members of the Board as at the date of this report are listed on pages 47 to 50 together with brief biographical 

details.  Each member of the Board and RHG holds one fully paid share of £1 in RHA. The day-to-day operation of 

RHA is delegated to the Group Chief Executive and Directors. They do not have the legal status of directors, but 

they act as executives within the authority delegated by the Board.  The executives hold no interest in RHA’s 

share capital and are not members of the Board.  

Board Member obligations 

There are six general duties of all Board Members. This is enshrined in company law and is common with 

community benefit societies law.  

 To act within the powers of the Association 

 To promote the success of the Association for the benefit of its members as a whole paying regard to:  

o long-term consequences 

o employee interests 

o relationships with customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders 

o operational impact upon the environment and communities 

o the need to maintain high standards of conduct and probity and to act fairly 

 To exercise independent judgement 

 To exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence 

 To avoid conflicts of interest 

 Not to accept benefits from third parties. 

 

Obligations 

Each Board Member shares the responsibility, along with other Board Members, for directing the affairs of the 

Association and ensuring it is solvent, well-run and delivering the outcomes for which it has been set up. 

The role of a Board Member and of the Board as a team includes, to:   

 

Strategy and purpose: 

 set out the vision for the Association, define its values, mission and overall direction, then protect and 

uphold these 

 make sure there are policies, strategies and plans in place to deliver the objects set out in the 

Association’s Rules, and that they are being delivered effectively 

 make sure the Association complies with its own Rules, and all the laws and regulations that apply to it. 

 

Compliance and integrity:  

 to make sure the Association complies with registered society law under the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, and with the requirements of the social housing regulator   

 ensure that the Association complies with its own Rules and remains true to its purpose and objects 

comply with the requirements of all the legislation and other regulators (if any) that govern the 

Association’s activities 

 act with integrity and avoid any personal conflicts of interest or misuse of the Association’s funds or 

assets. 

 

Financial viability and risk assurance: 

 ensure that the Association is and will remain solvent 

 use funds and assets reasonably and only in furtherance of the Association’s objects as set out in its 

governing document 

 avoid undertaking activities that might place the Association’s funds, assets or reputation at undue risk 

 ensure an effective assurance framework supports the achievement of the Association’s strategic 

objectives 

 take special care when borrowing funds or investing funds. 



   

  Page 3 

RHA annual report and financial statements 2016 

 

Duty of care: 

 use reasonable skill and care in working as a Board Member, using personal skills and experience as 

needed, to ensure that the Association is well-run and efficient 

 seek external professional advice on all matters where there may be a material risk to the Association, or 

where Board Members may be in breach of their duties.  

 

General: 

 always act in the Association’s best interests 

 uphold the Association’s purpose, values, objectives and policies 

 uphold the values of the Association through high standards of conduct, behaviour and probity, and by 

complying with the organisation’s code of conduct, rules, standing orders, probity policy and financial 

regulations 

 contribute to, and share responsibility for, the Board’s decisions, including its duty to exercise reasonable 

care, skill and independent judgement 

 prepare for and attend meetings, training sessions and other events 

 participate in reviews of Board performance, measures designed to develop the Board’s capacity and 

effectiveness, and the Board Member appraisal system 

 declare any relevant interests and avoid conflicts of interest 

 respect the confidentiality of information 

 ensure your skills are kept up to date and that you participate in training sessions 

 declare any hospitality or gifts offered to you in your capacity as members of the Boards or its 

committees 

 uphold the National Housing Federation's Code of Governance.  

 

Audit Committee 

The Group parent, RHG, is responsible for arranging all internal and external audit services throughout the Group. 

The Group Board has delegated initial responsibility for audit functions to an Audit Committee, which comprises 

Board Members from across the Group. The current membership is: 

 Robin Richmond (Interim Chair), RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C 

 Malcolm Robson, RHG 

 Sheila Kettley, RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C  

 Keith Rolfe, RHG 

The members of the Audit Committee are chosen for their appropriate skills, while representing the composition 

of the Group. 

The Audit Committee has responsibility for reviewing the adequacy of all risk and control related statements prior 

to endorsement by the relevant Boards, reviewing the effectiveness of internal control systems, including 

management, financial, operational and risk controls so that the Group can be reasonably assured that appropriate 

and effective risk management arrangements are in place. 

Resident involvement 

The purpose of Rooftop Housing Group’s Resident Panels is to enable Rooftop residents to be at the heart of 

Rooftop’s decision-making processes and help to ensure excellent and value for money services to our residents. 

The aim of our resident involvement activity is:  

 to be a voice for Rooftop residents within Rooftop’s governance structures and working in partnership 

with Rooftop staff 

 to enable residents to scrutinise and shape services 
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 to monitor and review performance. 

To achieve these aims and objectives, there are now three parts to Rooftop’s Resident Panel structure with the 

following purposes: 

The Customer Panel: we have up to 20 resident members who meet regularly to discuss services.  This panel acts 

as the main voice of Rooftop residents and the hub for resident involvement activity. 

The Resident Excellence Panel: these residents operate our tenant scrutiny to ensure that we provide good quality 

services.  They also lead, plan and support the work of the Customer Panel and are accountable to the Board 

through the Audit Committee. 

The AptQuest Team: these residents seek the views and concerns of all our residents via a regular programme of 

customer phone surveys. 

The main services are provided from the head office in Evesham and a local office based service is provided from 

our office in Bishop’s Cleeve. In addition the Association operates its floating support service from a number of 

local ‘hubs’ in sheltered schemes.  This variety of operating locations provides local access to our customers. 

The above arrangements are considered the most appropriate way of making sure that RHA provides the best 

possible service to its residents. 

Code of governance 

The Board has formally adopted the National Housing Federation’s Code of governance, and Code of Conduct 

(2012). The Board has formally assessed its compliance against the Code of governance and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Governance and Financial Viability Standard 

The Board has assessed compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Statement of the Board’s financial responsibilities 

The Board is required by law to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of RHA and of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing those financial statements, 

the Board is required to: 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

RHA will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at 

any time, the financial position of RHA, and to enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the 

Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The Board is also responsible for 

maintaining a satisfactory system of control over the accounting records and transactions, and for safeguarding the 

assets of RHA, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities. 

Internal controls assurance statement 

The Board is the ultimate governing body and is responsible for Rooftop’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness.  The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 

failure to achieve Rooftop’s business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.   
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The Board confirms there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 

by Rooftop, that has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report 

and accounts, and that this process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 

During 2015/16, the Board and/or Audit Committee have received the following evidence to support the 

effectiveness of the internal controls: 

 Rooftop employs independent internal auditors to assess its controls and make recommendations for 

improvements.   

 The internal audit annual plan is set by Audit Committee and is designed to ensure a broad scope of 

reviews, covering not just key financial systems but also operational performance and strategic control.  

During 2015/16, Audit Committee received seven assurance reviews including: 

o key financial systems – rent setting; treasury management 

o operational management – arrears 

o strategic control – governance; asset and liabilities register. 

 Each audit gives an overall assessment of the reliance that can be placed on the controls, with four 

categories (in descending order): full, substantial, limited or no assurance.  All seven reviews were found 

to provide substantial assurance (the second highest rating).   

 Where the auditors make recommendations for improvement, a management response is provided and 

this is reviewed by Audit Committee.  Delivery of those recommendations is then closely monitored 

through half-yearly follow-up reviews. 

 Risks are reviewed by Executive Team and Managers at a quarterly meeting with changes reported to 

Audit Committee. The Risk Map is reviewed by the Board through the quarterly pack and is available to 

members and staff on a continual basis.   

 The Board is aware that Rooftop’s external environment is changing and that risk management must adapt 

to keep pace with this.  There has been a major review of our approach to risk management, including 

rationalising our risk map and introducing a documented risk appetite statement. 

 Management reports on operational and financial matters. All board reports include a risk management 

summary which clearly shows any risks identified. 

 Rooftop is a member of the HouseMark benchmarking group.  This provides valuable information on the 

efficiency and effectiveness of Rooftop at achieving its objectives, both compared to other similar 

organisations and compared to Rooftop’s historic performance. 

 Quarterly performance pack which includes monitoring reports, performance against goals and projects 

and key performance indicators.   

 We have made further improvements to our treasury reporting, and also updated our treasury 

management policy, with the support of our independent treasury advisors.  This has been independently 

reviewed by our internal auditors who found our processes gave substantial assurance. 

 Group budgets which are approved by the boards following a review of the annual budget process by the 

Audit Committee for compliance with the Group budget parameters and financial policies. 

 A robust Business Plan based on clear assumptions and sensitivity-tested to ensure Rooftop understands 

the effects of any potential changes in its environment. 

 Resident involvement impact assessment by an external consultant every two years. 

 Annual ICT penetration test. 

 All policies and strategies are approved by the Board, Audit Committee or Executive Team.  

 Fraud and hospitality registers. 
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 External auditor’s reports and management letter. 

 A detailed review of the 2015 Sector Risk Profile published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 

 Rooftop was recognised as one of the Best 100 Not-for-Profit organisations to work for the second year 

running. 

 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) carried out an In Depth Assessment (IDA) of Rooftop in 

January 2016.  Rooftop continues to have the highest possible ratings for both Governance and Financial 

Viability from the HCA. 

There were no identified weaknesses in internal controls, which resulted in material losses, contingencies or 

uncertainties that require disclosure in these financial statements. 

Employees 

Within the Group structure all staff are employed by RHG, the Group parent. RHG is committed to promoting 

equality of opportunity in employment practices. Applications for employment from persons with black or minority 

ethnic origin or disability are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies. In the event of an employee 

becoming disabled, every effort is made to retain them so that their employment with the Group may continue. It 

is the policy of the Group that training, career development and promotion opportunities should be available to all 

employees. 

The Group has continued its practice of consulting and keeping employees informed on matters that affect them, 

and on the progress of the Group. This is carried out in a number of ways including; formal consultation with the 

employee forum, departmental meetings, and a company wide briefing session. In 2011 the Group was awarded 

Investors in People Gold accreditation and was re-accredited in 2015. 

Health and safety 

The Board is aware of its responsibility on all matters relating to health and safety. They have prepared health and 

safety policies and ensured all staff have undergone a programme of training on health and safety matters and have 

established a Safety Committee. 

Insurance 

RHA maintains insurance policies for members of the Board and executive directors, against liabilities in relation to 

RHA. 

Political and charitable donations 

RHA did not make any political contributions or charitable donations (2015: £0). 

Post balance sheet events 

The Board considers that there have been no events since the year end that have had a significant effect on RHA’s 

financial position. 

Going concern 

The Board considers that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, it continues to adopt the ‘going concern’ principle in the financial statements. 

Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 21 September 2016. 

External auditor 

We are planning to retender audit services during 2016/17 following expiry of the current contract. 

 

 



   

  Page 7 

RHA annual report and financial statements 2016 

Disclosure of information to the auditor 

In the case of each of the persons who are Board Members of the Association at the date when this report was 

approved: 

 so far as each of the Board Members is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

Association’s auditor is unaware; and 

 each of the Board Members has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Board Member to 

make him/herself aware of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the 

Association’s auditor is aware of that information. 

By order of the Board 

  

 

 

  

Rachel Lathan 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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Strategic report 
Objectives and strategy 

 Mission statement 

 ‘Our mission is to improve the quality of life of people and the communities in which they live.’ 

 Business Plan 2013 – 2023 

 Our group has four objectives: delivering excellent services; meeting the housing needs of communities and 

contributing towards cohesive and inclusive communities; making the best use of our resources; and encouraging 

innovation and improvement in all we do. 

Two new cross-cutting themes introduced in April 2015 are now reflected in our planning and operational 

practices.  These are:- 

 Sustainability – which covers responsible planning and management of resources.  The initial review in 

2015-16 has determined the scope and impact of this ‘green’ initiative and is reflected in our new 

Environmental Policy 

 Value for money – to cover our decision making processes, our return on assets, performance 

management and the scrutiny process and to promote a fuller understanding of costs and outcomes.   

This is reported in our annual VFM self assessment which is published on our website and included in this 

report. 

 Objective 1  Excellent services 

 ‘We will develop, deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers’. 

 Goals: 

 Carry out a three year programme of two scrutiny reviews per year 

 Ensure customers enjoy excellent access to services and customer care. 

 Objective 2  Community needs 

   ‘Working with partners, we will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities integrated 

with supported housing services, developing new build and asset reinvestment schemes that respond to housing 

needs identified by national and regional strategies that are environmentally sustainable.’ 

 Objective 2.1 Community needs – Through new homes 

 Goals: 

 HCA Affordable Homes Guarantee Programme 2015 -17 

 HCA Programme NAHP (National Affordable Housing Programme) 2015-18 

 During the period 2015-18 deliver 140 homes a year and secure funding through the Homes and 

Communities Agency, internal resources or other funding sources 

 Support the National Armed Forces Community Covenant through the provision of 30 new homes for 

former military personnel and their families by 2020, working with national specialist support charities. 

 Assemble a rolling land bank comprising:  

o All sites for contracted HCA schemes (approved budget) 

o Additional sites available for immediate development to provide 150 homes (budget £2.5m from within 

approved 10 year business plan provision for land purchase)  
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o Strategic land for future years (additional budget of £5 million over 10 years from April 2015 for 

purchase of options and land). 

 Objective 2.2 Community needs – Through existing homes 

 Goals: 

 Improve the environmental sustainability and affordability of our homes  

 During 2015-16 we carried out a wide reaching review of our approach to consider the options for long-

term sustainability, and this has resulted in the new environmental policy which establishes our 

sustainability standards for new homes, existing homes, design of our estates and the way Rooftop will 

deliver services over the next 40 years. 

Objective 2.3 Community needs – Through work in the community 

 Goals: 

 Provide accommodation and services to support Gypsy Roma Traveller households  

 Our Community Investment Goal is to invest a minimum of £500k of people and cash resources annually 

in our local communities, measuring the outcomes of community initiatives that demonstrate the best 

social value return 

During 2015-16 the Community Investment strategy was fundamentally reviewed to include the role of RHG in a 

‘dementia friendly’ society 

 Our Financial Inclusion Goal is by 2017 to offer work, family and money advice to all of our residents of 

working age in receipt of benefits (approximately 1,000). 

Objective 2.4 Community needs – Through providing support services we will enable residents of 

the Rooftop Group and the wider community to lead active and independent lifestyles 

Goals: 

 Implement organisational changes to deliver the Rooftop Support and Care revised 2014-2019 five year 

business plan, together with ambition to grow the volume of services by 10% by 2019 

Business development projects feature under this goal as does the project to “Implement the recommendations of 

the Support and Care Working Party” 

 Independent living – To support and help at least 1,000 older people, both Rooftop residents and from 

the wider community, to live independent lives by March 2018 

 Health and wellbeing – To promote and support health and wellbeing for at least 500 younger people by 

March 2018. 

Objective 3 – Resources 

‘We will make best use of our financial, property assets, ICT and human resources to support and deliver excellent 

services and homes for customers and the community.’ 

 Goals: 

 Optimise the use of our organisation’s people, skills and internal capacity 

 Partnership working to reduce operating costs  

 Capital Receipts - to generate £33 million net capital receipts 

 Asset utilisation – To continually review the performance of our property assets. 
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 Objective 4 - Encouraging innovation  

‘Our fourth objective strives for continuous improvement through annual team plans and supports all our other 

objectives and values.’ 

Business Model 

Rooftop’s Business Model demonstrates how Rooftop “creates, delivers and captures value.” 

Our Business Model identifies how our principal activities and Business plan allow us to deliver our four objectives.  

Some key elements of this Business Model include: 

 key partners 

 key activities 

 key resources 

 value proposition 

 revenue streams and cost structure. 

Key partners 

The Group works with several key partners who have a stake in the success of our business, as we do in theirs: 

 Wychavon District Council is our main local authority partner in Worcestershire  

 In Worcester the Group works with officers at city and county levels 

 In Gloucestershire the Group is working with councils in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury  

 ExtraCare Charitable Trust 

 Matrix Housing Partnership 

 NHS Trusts. 

Key activities 

The principal activity of the Group is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing 

need. 

Key resources 

The Group’s key resources are a pool of talented, experienced and committed staff; an asset base of over 6,400 

‘decent’ homes; a solid financial performance which allows the Group to fund future development, and excellent 

relationships with key stakeholders.  These resources are efficiently managed through our business planning 

process to ensure that objectives and goals, determined by the Board, are achieved. 

Value proposition 

Rooftop’s value proposition is that we will provide affordable homes that meet ‘decent homes’ standard, and built 

to be environmentally sustainable.  Rooftop will deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers, and we 

will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities. 

Revenue and cost structure 

At core, the Group is a social landlord providing affordable homes for rent.  Social housing lettings represent 88% 

of Rooftop’s turnover and 77% of its cost base.  The next most significant elements of the business are shared 

ownership sales (8% of turnover, 12% of operating costs) and supporting people (3% of turnover, 8% of operating 

costs).  Other activities are negligible.   

As a developing association, we have £206 million of loan funding.  Interest and financing costs consequently make 

up the majority of our non-operating activities, amounting to £9.3 million in 2016.   
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Development and performance 

Financial performance 

This is the first year that Rooftop Housing Group has presented its financial statements under Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  A number of accounting policies have changed 

to comply with that standard and prior year results have also been restated; the detail of this is included in the 

notes to the accounts. 

Rooftop Housing Group Limited 

The overall financial performance for the year has been excellent with the Group generating a surplus for the year 

before taxation of £7.7 million.  This is a tremendous achievement in the current difficult economic and financial 

climate.   

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, remains the main contributor to the overall group surplus. 

As an individual entity, RHG operates on the principle of cost recovery from its subsidiaries.  It generates relatively 

modest surpluses to cover its tax liabilities and provide some working capital. 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited  

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, generated a surplus of £7.1 million.   

During the year RHA drew down an additional £15 million funding from Legal & General, in order to finance its 

ambitious development programme.  This, offset by some scheduled loan repayments, explains the increase in long 

term creditors over the year as well as the temporary increase in cash balances to £22.6 million at year end.  The 

increase in drawn loans also means an increase in interest and financing costs, which have risen by £1.8 million 

from 2015 to 2016.  

An increased volume of shared ownership sales has resulted in increasing turnover (up £1.4 million) and increasing 

operating costs (up £1.3 million).  31 sales were completed during 2016 (2015: 21).  This partly reflects the cyclical 

nature of our development programme, with the increased sales in 2016 following the completion of a large 

number of new homes at the end of 2015, and fewer sales are planned in 2017.  Over the longer term, shared 

ownership sales form an increasingly important part of RHA’s business model.   

Surpluses from other property sales have fallen to £0.1 million (2015: £1.4 million) as RHA has paused its 

programme of void property sales.  The expected introduction of a nationwide right to buy for housing association 

tenants could be a major change in this area in future, and RHA is currently exploring the policy, operational and 

treasury implications of this.   

RHA’s turnover from social rents, its core income stream, rose by £2.4 million (8%).This was mainly due to the 

completion of new properties at the end of 2015, with existing rents generally rising by 2.2%.   

Rooftop Homes Limited  

RHL, the Group’s provider of keyworker accommodation, residential care, market and intermediate rent and 

garages has generated a surplus before tax of £0.6 million, a slight increase on the previous year.  RHL’s operations 

have been stable and there has been no change to its property portfolio.   

Rooftop Support and Care Limited  

RS&C, the Group’s specialist support provider for both the young and older people services has generated a 

surplus for the year of £9,000.  This is an improvement on the £18,000 deficit recorded in 2015.  RS&C’s turnover 

has increased by £268,000, largely due to an intra-group contract funded by RHA.  This has funded RS&C’s new 

Options and Active Lifestyles service, with a corresponding increase in operating costs.   

The operating environment for specialist support remains challenging.  Worcestershire County Council funding for 

older people’s support ended during 2015 and it is expected that there will be a substantial reduction in 

Gloucestershire County Council’s funding for young people’s services in 2017.  RS&C approaches these challenges 

with a strong balance sheet, with £781,000 available cash.    
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Operational highlights from the year 

 Board approval of the new 2016 Environmental Policy, which will determine the sustainability of Rooftop 

homes and estates for the next 40 years 

 Demonstration of the long term viability of the organisation though the recent In Depth Assessment by 

the HCA, by maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial 

capacity to deal with a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1) 

 Embedding of ‘Making a Difference’ (Mary Gober Customer Culture change programme) – which 

significantly impacted on the culture of the organisation and contributed towards our success in the 

Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 External cladding programme completed, which improved sustainability to 782 homes and helped achieve 

our SAP goal (average SAP rating of 71.3 points against the target of 70) 

 Opening of two specialist dementia schemes – Dorothy Terry House and Dora Matthew House 

 Implementation of the recommendations of the Support and Care Working Party which implemented the 

new structure and processes in Rooftop Support and Care 

 Community Investment Strategy Review, which resulted in new projects working towards making Rooftop 

a dementia friendly organisation and with a wider support role in the community 

 Achieved two stars in the Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 Acceptance by the HCA of our Financial Forecast Return (FFR) in May 2015 and revised FFR in October 

2015 following the 1% rent reduction announced in the budget (including stress testing) 

 Community investment activity with strong neighbourhood impact activity 

 Progress in Land Banking which will make future development easier 

 Customer Service Excellence award 2015-18 

 Re-accreditation to Investors in People Gold 2015-17 

 Queens Award for Enterprise – Matrix Housing Partnership, and 

 National Award for Most Innovative In-House Repair Contractor with Fortis, reflecting a superb 

achievement and significantly reduced VAT costs. 

For 2015-16 we had 16 goals, which reflected the direction of the Board and the use of resources in our projects.  

At the end of the year, 14 of the 16 goals were on target for completion, with two goals off target, namely:- 

 Service Review Goal : the programmed service reviews have taken place with visible outcomes, but 

customer satisfaction has not increased against the (‘all time high’) baseline of 93.1% in 2012  

 Support and Care Business Goal : the project to implement the findings of the Support and Care Working 

party is now complete, and the new structure and processes are in place. However, Support and Care are 

facing a difficult commercial environment.  The amber status reflects the reduction in funding available and 

continued challenging operating environment in the support and care sector. 

Future prospects 

This is a challenging time for social landlords and the customers who live in our homes.  This is a period of 

significant change for a sector which has traditionally been underpinned by stability in government policy.   

Recent changes in government policy, following on from the political and economic consequences of the last 

recession, are making our operating environment more challenging as well as creating extra need for our wider 

community investment services.  The most significant change during the year was the reduction of social housing 

rents in England by 1% a year over a four-year period, starting in April 2016.  Rooftop has reviewed its business 

plan and removed sufficient costs to demonstrate its long term viability, but our capacity for action has inevitably 

been greatly reduced. 

Other forthcoming changes include: 

 Cut in welfare by a further £12bn by 2017-18 

 Continued rollout of Universal Credit 
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 Pay to stay – where residents with income over £30k may need to pay full market rent (voluntary 

scheme) 

 Withdrawal of housing benefit for the under 25s and instead a new youth allowance for 18-21 year olds 

with no entitlement to help with housing costs  

 Replacement of the minimum wage with the compulsory National Living Wage 

 A freeze on working age benefits for two years from April 2016 (exemptions for disability and pensioner 

benefits) 

 Capping Housing Benefit in line with Local Housing Allowance  

 Reduction in funding for support services, with the total loss of funding for Older People Services last 

year, and impact of the cuts in the Younger People Services this year. 

Each of these changes to our external environment have been reflected in our business planning process and 

portfolio of goals and projects. 

We have added an additional two goals to our business plan, increasing our total number of goals to 18.  These 

new goals reflect the changes to our business plan arising from the Board’s interpretation of the current 

environment and Rooftop’s response to it.  The new goals are: 

 Environmental – to  raise the environmental sustainability of our homes to an average of Band B 

 Capital assets – to channel the receipts from the Voluntary Right to Buy process into development of new 

homes. 

The recent In Depth Assessment by the HCA in January 2016 demonstrated Rooftop’s long term viability, by 

maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial capacity to deal with 

a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1). 

Rooftop’s future prospects are derived from the following critical elements being in place, giving Rooftop a sound 

organisational base to achieve its long-term objectives: 

 clear objectives and goals with transparent and monitored outputs 

 ‘clear line of sight’ for the Board to provide direction and governance 

 effective executive and management structure 

 necessary resources, both financial and people to carry out the identified activities required to achieve 

our objectives 

 financial and organisational stability to sustain long term planning. 

Principal risks and uncertainties faced 

Rooftop have a robust risk management process, supported by our Electronic Performance Management system 

(Clearview).  This system is fully integrated with our business planning process and risk management process, 

which allows us to effectively manage the risks associated with new developments and initiatives in response to 

changes in our environment, and focus on the risks and choices we face.   

All decision reports to Board include the greatest risk associated with that initiative or development, and a full 

evaluation of the risk and relevant control measures is an integral part of the quarterly management meetings. The 

identification and scoring of risk together with the control measures taken to mitigate risk are reported on a 

regular basis to the Audit Committee and Board. 

During the year Rooftop has completed a full review of its risk map, leading to a more streamlined risk map 

focussed on the most significant risks facing the Group.  The principal risks facing Rooftop, as outlined in the risk 

map, are: 
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Risk Description 

Increase in variable interest 

rates 

 

Rooftop has £206 million of loan funding, of which 84% is fixed.  This leaves £34 

million of variable loans.  With LIBOR at historic lows, Rooftop recognises that 

there is a high probability of an increase on interest costs in the future.  An 

increase of 3% would equate to a £1 million increase in our interest costs.  The 

Board’s policy is to limit this risk by fixing at least 75% of our portfolio.  

Breach of loan agreements 

 

Rooftop’s loan agreements contain covenants which must be met to avoid default.  

These include covenants on asset cover, interest cover and gearing, as well as 

cross-default clauses meaning a failure in one borrower could affect other 

borrowers within the Group.  The changes to government rent setting policy, 

regulation and right to buy all have potential to impact on loan covenants, 

particularly asset cover.  Rooftop is monitoring this situation carefully and has 

taken mitigating steps including ring fencing cash and charging additional security 

against one of its loans. 

Ability to access new debt 

 

Rooftop’s ambitious development programme is dependent on the ability to access 

new loan funding.  The current programme to March 2018 is fully funded but 

ambitions in the longer term would require additional funding.  Having sufficient 

property security to charge against new loans is a potentially limiting factor for 

Rooftop, and funding markets could also be affected by wider factors such as 

government policy towards the social housing sector and the British exit from the 

European Union. 

Insufficient subsidy for 

development 

 

Developing new homes forms a major pillar of Rooftop’s strategy.  Decreasing 

social housing grant and an increased focus on property ownership contribute to 

this risk.  The Homes & Communities Agencies 2016-21 grant prospectus has a 

clear focus on property ownership, with limited provision for households who 

cannot afford to buy. 

Housing market sales exposure 

 

Over time, Rooftop has undertaken increasing volumes of property sales activity, 

with both shared ownership and outright sales.  Rooftop recognises that this 

increases its exposure to the cycle of the housing market.  The 1% rent reduction 

imposed on providers has reduced capacity in Rooftop’s business plan to deal with 

a shortfall or delay in expected sales receipts.        
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Value for Money self assessment – making a difference 

As a not-for-profit organisation, Rooftop invests its surpluses back into the local community by building new 

homes, improving existing homes and supporting community initiatives.   

We need to make sure that every penny counts – focussing not just on how much we spend, but how and where 

we spend it – to have the best impact on achieving our mission. 

Our approach 

Last year, we expanded the basket of Value for Money indicators we use to assess our performance.  They are 

designed to show a wider picture of what we are doing, rather than just focussing on ‘traditional’ landlord housing 

management.  We’ve divided these targets into three groups: 

 Return on assets 

This measures the big, headline information about the impact Rooftop is making through its assets.  We 

want these targets to show how well we are using our assets to:  

o provide great services which meet our residents’ needs 

o deliver new homes to help solve the wider housing crisis 

o reduce our impact on the environment 

o generate a financial return, which can then be reinvested in the other priorities above. 

These areas are crucial to us and we really want to make a difference through using our assets well. 

 Cost of specific services 

This is about how we compare to other similar landlords in terms of costs.  The areas we are reporting 

on cover all of our major frontline landlord services, plus our spending on overheads (back office areas 

such as Human Resources, Finance and Information Technology).   

 Service outcomes / social return 

Value for Money can’t just be about how cheap things are.  That’s why we’ve set out targets to measure 

how good the services we provide actually are.   

Comparison with others – HouseMark  

To help us compare the cost and effectiveness of our services, we are members of HouseMark benchmarking.  

This allows us to compare our own performance over time, and also to compare ourselves to other similar 

organisations – Local Authority stock transfer organisations (LSVTs) in the Central region with 2,500-7,500 homes.   

The vast majority of our targets are calculated using HouseMark.  Three of our targets are internal calculations 

only and are not comparable with others.  We still think these targets give us useful information about how we are 

performing, compared to our plans and compared to previous years.  
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Our performance 

The results of our VFM indicators for 2015/16 and our targets for 2016/17 are shown below: 
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Return on assets 

We are disappointed by the fall in overall satisfaction with our services.  Anecdotally, we understand that the 

satisfaction levels have been influenced by the repairs performance over the last year, which has also shown a 

significant drop in satisfaction since last year.  Overall satisfaction is affected by a wide range of issues, some of 

which are not under our direct control, and it can take some time to turn around negative opinion.  However, our 

repairs performance is now improving, and our new neighbourhood service will mean that customers will see 

Rooftop out in their areas more, giving them more opportunity for interaction, and for us to respond quickly to 

emerging issues in the community. The action plan to improve the satisfaction figure is: 

 Reconnect residents with their Neighbourhood Officer – by having generic staff with smaller patch sizes 

from 1 July 2016. 

 Undertaking a property and resident MOT where residents have requested nine or more repairs using 

2015/16 data. 

 Specifically for repairs, Fortis will contact residents on route to the appointment as a reminder. 

 Working on a plan to improve right first time and reduce the number of follow-ons. 

 Introducing a personal and proactive approach for one year to regain the confidence of residents. This will 

involve telephoning residents with complaints or service request instead of writing. 

 Introducing PDA’s for maintenance staff 

Rooftop is proud to punch above its weight in terms of how much we develop, relative to our size.  Our target for 

the year was based on building an average of 150 homes a year.  Having completed a record 292 homes in 

2014/15, 2015/16 was the start of a new development cycle and has focussed on identifying new sites and securing 

planning permission so there were fewer completed properties this year.  We expect to complete 455 homes 

over the three years to March 2018 which represents an average of 2.4% growth per year.  We have adjusted our 

yearly targets to better reflect the cycle of our development programme.    

Our financial return on new development continues to outperform the targets set in our financial appraisals. 

This year we achieved our longstanding goal to improve the average energy efficiency of our homes to 70 under 

the SAP assessment rating.  To date we have achieved an average SAP score of 71.3.  This means more of our 

residents are in warmer homes which are cheaper to run.  We have achieved this goal by: 

 building new, more efficient homes 

 selling older, less efficient properties 

 investing in major improvements to existing homes, including this year’s external cladding programme to 

682 properties. 

Achievement of our energy efficiency goal is an important milestone in Rooftop’s business strategy.  This year, we 

have created a new environmental policy which will guide our approach to environmental issues over the next 40 

years.  One of the key steps next year will be to create a new indicator to measure the impact of our new 

approach. 

Our cash operating margin continues to improve.  This is the percentage of income collected remaining after 

deducting our operating costs, which is then used to pay for major maintenance, interest and new development. 

Cost of specific services 

Once again, the results for the cost of our main services are outstanding.  We remain better than average on all 

five measures and in the top 25% for repairs and overheads. 

Compared to the average for our peers, our performance represents an efficiency saving of £1.9 million.   

This year we have spent £7.7 million on major works of which £3.2 million was spent on external wall insulation.  

In addition we were successful in getting £1.6 million funding from British Gas to undertake external cladding to 

682 properties. This deliberate investment in the quality of our homes has directly contributed to us achieving our 

energy efficiency target meaning more of our residents will enjoy warmer homes.   
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A major recent contribution to our very low costs for major works, responsive repairs and estate services is our 

innovative Cost Sharing Vehicle with Fortis Living.  Transferring services to the Cost Sharing Vehicle has been a 

major exercise aimed at saving £700,000 a year.  We recognise that satisfaction with repairs has temporarily fallen, 

but expect this to rise again once the actions we have identified are implemented.       

Our targets for next year are the result of our detailed budgeting and business planning processes.  We aim to 

broadly maintain our current strong performance.  This year we are carrying out a major review of our main 

housing management IT system.  This will increase our overhead costs in the short term, but in the longer term 

we expect this to result in significant improvements to the quality and cost of the services we provide. 

Service outcomes / social return 

Our new Options team have massively outperformed their target.  We initially planned to carry out 400 

independent living assessments last year.  In fact, the team carried out 1,383 assessments which is more than we 

originally intended to do over three years.  These assessments are enabling us to target services more effectively, 

inform other strategies about future needs and to plan for new services.  This year we will review this service and 

how it is structured.  Until we have completed this review, our target remains the same as last year.   

The Options team is part of the innovative new service we created last year, to support our residents following 

the end of Worcestershire County Council’s Supporting People funding.  We intended the service to be funded 

through service charges, but we are still negotiating with housing benefit authorities about whether these charges 

are eligible for housing benefit and have not collected the majority of that income.  This uncollected income has 

affected our percentage of rent collected figures, placing us in a very low position compared to our peers.  If we 

excluded this specific issue, our performance would be better than average. 

New homes are important to us, and we are pleased with the significant increase in satisfaction we have seen this 

year.  We are aiming for further increases next year. 

Our repairs satisfaction has been very disappointing and we believe this is the main reason for the drop in overall 

satisfaction with our services.  During the year we carried out an independent review of our repairs service which 

made some recommendations for improvement.  The management action list has been reviewed by our Audit 

Committee and the actions taken will be independently audited.  In addition, our Head of Asset Management will 

now work jointly for Rooftop and Fortis Property Care to identify and resolve the root cause. This in addition to 

the introduction of MOTs, being proactive with customer service requests and REP review of the Cost Sharing 

Vehicle will improve the service our residents receive. 

We expected our average time to re-let empty homes to increase this year, as we were managing the lettings of 

our new homes and also re-letting homes where residents transfer to our new homes for older people at Yates 

Court, Evesham.  This is part of our strategy to make better use of our assets, by enabling older residents to move 

to more suitable accommodation which will in turn release family accommodation for families on the housing 

waiting list.   

Resident-led scrutiny 

Value for Money is ultimately about improving outcomes for our residents. 

In 2012/13 we set up the Resident Excellence Panel (REP), a resident-led scrutiny group with a focus on improving 

standards and ensuring we provide Value for Money.   

During 2015/16 the REP performed a review on how well Rooftop is responding to welfare reform, as Universal 

Credit is being introduced into our core areas of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire.  The review concluded that 

Rooftop had prepared well and were supporting tenants effectively, and made some recommendations to help 

improve the service further. 

The REP also began reviewing our Cost Sharing Vehicle for repairs and maintenance, which has now been in place 

for two years.  Next year we also plan reviews of voids and service charges. 
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We have continued to arrange Value for Money workshops for the REP and Customer Panel, which have helped 

our residents select scrutiny areas and review and monitor our performance.  This self assessment has been 

reviewed by our Customer Panel.  Customer Panel members have also helped to develop the way we report Value 

for Money in our Residents’ Annual Report. 

Optimising future returns on assets 

In 2013/14, we commissioned Savills to review the performance of our property assets.  Savills told us that: 

“The overall performance of Rooftop’s properties is good.  Financial returns are roughly double those of other 

providers in the region” – Savills 

Savills broke our properties down into the following groups: 

 

The marginal 1.9% group of properties includes our keyworker scheme at Worcestershire Royal Hospital.  Over 

the last two years we have carried out a full review of our non-core housing properties to consider whether any 

action is needed to maximise return on our assets.  The review has concluded that our non-core assets are 

performing well and changes in the health sector have helped to improve performance at our keyworker schemes.   

This year we will update the asset performance model to reflect changes over the last three years.  This will help 

to show us whether any further action is needed. 

The government’s voluntary right to buy scheme also creates a major opportunity for us to review our assets and 

potentially target sales of certain types or locations of homes.  We believe that this could help us to raise £33 

million through property sales by March 2020, which could then be reinvested in new homes and improvements to 

existing homes. 

This year we have also created a formal register of assets and liabilities, which has been independently tested by 

our internal auditors.  This will help us to maximise performance of all our assets in the future. 
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Plans for 2016/17 

This year, the government set us a major challenge by forcing us to cut our rents by 1% a year for four years, 

starting from April 2016.  

In response, our managers and Board carried out a major review which removed £3.1 million of cost a year from 

our Business Plan.  Our 2016/17 budget will deliver the majority of these savings, with others phased in up to 

2019/20.  This is crucial to ensuring our ability to deliver our long term goals.     

We have also started several projects to investigate new ways of saving money, by doing things differently or 

working with partners.  This includes projects to investigate: 

 viability of an off-site manufacturing factory for new homes 

 partnership working in support and care 

 partnership working around the voluntary right to buy scheme 

 the move from specialist teams to generic housing officers. 

By order of the Board 

 

  

   

Rachel Lathan 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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 Independent auditor’s report to the members of Rooftop Housing Association 

We have audited the financial statements of Rooftop Housing Association for the year ended 31st March 2016 which 

comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes 

in Reserves and the related notes.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland”. 

Respective responsibilities of The Board and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board’s Responsibilities set out on page 4, the Board is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. This report is made solely to the Association’s members, as a body, 

in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and Chapter 4 of Part 2 

of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Association’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 

the Association and its members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 

at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

  give a true and fair view of the state of the Association’s affairs as at 31st March 2016 and of the Association’s 

surplus for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland”; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 

Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 

Providers of Social Housing 2015. 

 

 

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion; 

 the Association has not kept proper books of account; or 

 a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 

 

Mazars LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Date 22 August 2016 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
      2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

          

Turnover   2 34,526 30,643 

Operating expenditure   2 (19,405) (16,526) 

Operating surplus   2 15,121 14,117 

Surplus on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4 138 1,439 

Interest receivable   8 341 298 

Interest and financing costs  9 (8,588) (6,783) 

Change in fair value of financial instruments 24 109 315 

Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 11 4 - 

Surplus before tax  7 7,125 9,386 

Taxation 10 - - 

Surplus for the year      7,125 9,386 

Total comprehensive income for the year     7,125 9,386 
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Statement of Financial Position 

At 31 March 2016 
 

  Notes 2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Fixed assets    

Housing properties 11 266,102 254,876 

Investment properties 11 691 687 

Investment in subsidiaries 12 4,374 4,364 

  271,167 259,927 

      

Current asset    

Properties held for sale   686 3,753 

Debtors 13  2,785 4,572 

Cash 14 22,605 8,481 

    26,076 16,806 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 15 (14,497) (11,527) 

Net current assets   11,579 5,279 

Total assets less current liabilities   282,746 265,206 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (237,916) (227,501) 

Net assets  44,830 37,705 

    

Capital and reserves    

Share capital 17 - - 

Revenue reserve  44,830 37,705 

Total reserves   44,830 37,705 

 

The financial statements of Rooftop Housing Association were approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:  

 

 Secretary Board Member

 

Board Member
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Statement of Changes in Reserves 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
  Revenue 

reserve 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 28,319 28,319 

Surplus for the year 9,386 9,386 

Balance at 31 March 2015 37,705 37,705 

Surplus for the year 7,125 7,125 

At 31 March 2016 44,830 44,830 
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Notes to the financial statements  

1. Principal accounting policies  

 

Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair 

value, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council and 

comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social housing providers 2014 (SORP), the 

Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 

Housing 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and applies the relevant paragraphs 

prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Statement of compliance 

This is the first year the Association has prepared its financial statements in accordance with FRS 102, accordingly 

the financial information as at 1 April 2014 (being the date of transition) and for the year ended 31 March 2015 

have been restated for material adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 in the current year. 

Group accounts 

The consolidated financial statements for Rooftop Housing Group Limited incorporate the financial statements of 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited, Rooftop Homes Limited, Rooftop Support and Care Limited and Rooftop 

Management Limited.  These entities are all subsidiaries within the meaning of the Co-operative and Community 

Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Localism Act 2011.   

Turnover 

Turnover represents rental and service charge income, fees, grants receivable and disposal proceeds of shared 

ownership first tranche sales. 

Proceeds from the first tranche disposals of shared ownership properties are accounted for in turnover in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which the disposal occurs.  The cost of sales includes the 

incidental costs of executing the sale and a proportion of the overall costs of the property determined by the 

percentage of the property sold under the first tranche sale.  The cost of sale is adjusted, where necessary, to 

ensure the surplus on sale is restricted to the overall surplus on the scheme.  

Service charges 

The Association operates variable and fixed service charges depending on the requirements of the respective 

tenancy agreements.  Where the charge is variable an assessment is made of whether costs have been over or 

under recovered and an appropriate prepayment or accrual provided for in the accounts. 

Right to buy income and sales 

Surpluses and deficits arising from the disposal of properties under the Right to Buy legislation are disclosed on the 

face of the Statement of Comprehensive Income after the operating result and before interest.  On the occurrence 

of a sale a relevant proportion of the proceeds are clawed back by Wychavon District Council.  The surplus or 

deficit is calculated by comparing the net proceeds received by the Association with the carrying value of the 

property sold. 

Shared ownership properties  

Shared ownership properties under construction are proportionally split between current and fixed assets, 

determined by the percentage of the properties to be sold under the first tranche sales. 
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Notes to the financial statements  

Housing Properties 

Housing properties including shared ownership properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. The cost of the properties is their purchase price together with improvement 

costs and incidental costs of acquisition, including capitalised interest and development administration. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write down the net book value of housing properties to their estimated residual 

value on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives as follows: 

General Needs 100 years 

Sheltered and Supported 100 years 

Non-traditional 15 years 

Garages 25 years 

Leasehold property Over life of the lease 

Shared ownership 100 years 

Component Accounting 

Major components are treated as separable assets and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives or 

the lives of the properties to which they relate, if shorter, at the following annual rates: 

Roofs 75 years 

Windows 40 years 

Doors 40 years 

Boilers 15 years 

Kitchens 20 years 

Bathrooms 30 years 

Heating 30 years 

Electrics 30 years 

Lifts 30 years 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  

Housing properties in the course of construction are stated at cost and are not depreciated.  They are transferred 

into housing properties when completed. 

Land donated, or acquired below market value is included in cost at its valuation, with the donation treated as a 

capital grant when it relates to a specific project. 

The market rent properties are investment properties in accordance with FRS 102 and are not depreciated but are 

measured at fair value annually with any change recognised in surplus or deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

Impairment 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether an indicator of impairment exists. If such an indicator 

exists, an impairment assessment is carried out and an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made. 

Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and fair 

value less costs to sell. 

Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other Government Grants 

Government grants are recognised using the accrual model and are classified either as a grant relating to revenue 

or a grant relating to assets. Grants relating to assets are recognised in income using the accrual model on a 

systematic basis over the expected useful life of the asset. Grants received for housing properties are recognised in 

income over the expected useful life of the housing property structure. Grants relating to revenue are recognised 

in income on a systematic basis over the period in which related costs for which the grant is intended to 

compensate are recognised. 
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Recycling of Capital Grant 

Where there is a requirement to either repay or recycle a grant received for an asset that has been disposed of, a 

provision is included in the Statement of Financial Position to recognise this obligation as a liability. When approval 

is received from the funding body to use the grant for a specific development, the amount previously recognised as 

a provision for the recycling of the grant is reclassified as a creditor in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Disposal Proceeds Fund 

The net disposal proceeds as a result of the sale of a property under Social Homebuy, are credited to a disposal 

proceeds fund. 

Capitalisation of interest 

Interest on the loan financing a development is capitalised from the purchase of land or property and/or the start 

on site up to the date of practical completion.  The amount takes into account interest earned on SHG received in 

advance. 

Supported housing schemes managed by agents 

The Association owns a number of schemes that are run by specialist agencies.  The agents carry the financial risk 

from operating the scheme and, therefore, the Statement of Comprehensive Income only includes the income and 

expenditure that relates solely to the Association.  Any other income and expenditure related to the scheme is 

excluded from the statement of comprehensive income.  

Investments 

Any investment by one Group member to another is shown at historical cost. 

Major and cyclical repairs and maintenance 

The Association only capitalises major repairs expenditure on housing properties where it increases the net rental 

stream by: 

 extending its useful economic life or 

 the improvement enables a higher rental income to be charged  

All other major repairs expenditure is charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provisions 

The Association only provides for contractual and constructive liabilities where it has a present obligation to 

transfer economic benefits as a result of past events, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will result 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Pension Costs 

The Group has traditionally operated two defined benefit pension schemes, contracted out of the state scheme.  

These were closed from April 2014. The Group also operated two money purchase defined contribution schemes 

and a career average revalued earnings defined benefit scheme (CARE), but from April 2014 the Group only 

operates one defined contribution scheme. Contributions to pension schemes are determined in accordance with 

actuarial advice and calculated as a percentage of pensionable salaries.  

For the defined contribution scheme the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in respect 

of pension costs is the contributions payable in the year.  This is charged to RHG and apportioned to subsidiaries 

via the Group Membership Agreement. 

For the closed defined benefit schemes there is a contractual agreement between the scheme and the Group that 

determines how the deficit will be funded. This liability is recognised in the RHA Statement of Financial Position 

and the resulting expense in the RHA Statement of Comprehensive Income for the present value of the 

contributions payable that arise from the agreement to the extent that they relate to the deficit.    
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Leased assets 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which 

they relate.  There are no finance leases.  

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

The Group is VAT registered but the majority of its income, being housing rents, and right to buy sales, is exempt 

for VAT purposes and this gives rise to a partial exemption calculation.  Expenditure is therefore shown inclusive 

of VAT and the input VAT recovered is deducted from lettings expenditure.  From October 2013 RHA, RHL and 

RS&C became members of a cost sharing group which provides property repair services to the Group. 

Deferred taxation 

The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated because of timing differences between the treatment of certain 

items for accounting and taxation purposes.  Full provision for deferred taxation is made under the liability method 

on all timing differences that have arisen, but not reversed by the balance sheet date, unless such provision is not 

permitted by FRS 102. 

Deferred tax is not provided for in respect of gains on the sale of non-monetary assets, if the taxable gain will 

probably be rolled over, or on revaluation gains on housing properties unless there is a binding agreement to sell 

them at the balance sheet date. 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges 

recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial Instruments classified as non-basic 

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains and losses arising from year to year being 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Service charge sinking funds 

Unutilised contributions to service charge sinking funds are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial 

Position. The amount included in liabilities in respect of service charge sinking funds includes interest credited to 

the fund.   

Significant management judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and labilities, income and expenses.  The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to account estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Significant management judgements 

The following are management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Association that have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of social housing properties 

The Association have to make an assessment as to whether an indicator of impairment exists.  In making the 

judgement, management considered the detailed criteria set out in the SORP.   
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Estimation uncertainty 

The Association makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

Fair value measurement 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of non-basic financial instruments. Management 

base the assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available.  In that case, 

management uses the best information available.  Estimated fair values may vary from the actual price that would 

be achievable in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.   
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2. Particulars of turnover, operating costs & operating surplus 
  

    2016     2015   

       

  Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating 

surplus/(deficit) 

Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating 

surplus/(deficit) 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Social housing lettings  31,330  (15,492) 15,838   28,933  (14,216)  14,717 

              

Other social housing activities            

Shared ownership sales 3,061 (2,680) 381 1,681 (1,392) 289 

Supporting People 135 (603) (468) 29 (64) (35) 

Other - (630) (630) - (854) (854) 

 3,196 (3,913) (717) 1,710 (2,310) (600) 

Total 34,526 (19,405) 15,121 30,643 (16,526) 14,117 
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3. Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing 

lettings 
   2016 

  General 

needs 

Supported 

housing and 

housing for 

older people 

Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 25,335 2,831 119 28,285 

Amortised government grant 456 148 - 604 

Service charge income 452 1,989 - 2,441 

Turnover from social housing lettings 26,243 4,968 119 31,330 

      

Management 2,936 312 3 3,251 

Services 1,198 1,409 2 2,609 

Routine maintenance 3,299 570 1 3,870 

Planned maintenance 1,651 103 - 1,754 

Rent losses from bad debts 290 - - 290 

Depreciation of housing properties 3,053 665 - 3,718 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 12,427 3,059 6 15,492 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 13,816 1,909 113 15,838 

Rent losses from voids 89 564 12 665 

  2015 

  

  General 

needs 

Supported 

housing and 

housing for 

older people 

Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 23,816 2,642 119 26,577 

Amortised government grant 448 149 - 597 

Service charge income 318 1,441 - 1,759 

Turnover from social housing lettings 24,582 4,232 119 28,933 

      

Management 2,546 370 2 2,918 

Services 1,091 1,152 - 2,243 

Routine maintenance 3,401 603 1 4,005 

Planned maintenance 1,289 151 - 1,440 

Rent losses from bad debts 83 - - 83 

Depreciation of housing properties 2,892 635 - 3,527 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 11,302 2,911 3 14,216 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 13,280 1,321 116 14,717 

Rent losses from voids 116 54 40 210 
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4. Sale of housing accommodation 
   2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

Disposal of properties     

Receipts from sale of housing property 2,544 2,096 

Book value of properties sold (2,335) (600) 

Other operating costs and costs of disposal (71) (57) 

Surplus on sale of properties 138 1,439 

5. Directors’ emoluments and expenses 
The directors are defined as the members of the Board and the executive officers as given on page 47. The directors are paid by Rooftop 

Housing Group Limited and these details are presented in the parent company accounts.  

6. Employee information 

RHA does not directly employ any staff, they are all employed by the parent Rooftop Housing Group Limited. The details are provided in the 

parent company accounts.  

7. Surplus before taxation  
   2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

  

The surplus before taxation is stated after charging :   

Depreciation 3,718 3,527 

External auditor’s remuneration (excluding value added tax)   

- in their capacity as auditor 17 15 

- in respect of other services 1 1 

8. Interest receivable   
   2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

From banks 103 60 

From loan to another group undertaking 238 238 

Total 341 298 

9. Interest and financing costs 

   2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

Bank loans and overdrafts  8,763 7,677 

Net interest on pension liability 13 20 

Less: interest capitalised  (188) (914) 

Total  8,588 6,783 

The rate used to calculate capitalised interest was 4.8% (2015: 4.7%) being the average rate of borrowing. Total interest payable 
of £8.6 million includes a credit of £19,845 in respect of adjustments of basic financial instruments to effective interest rate. 
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10. Taxation 

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 
RHA is recognised by the HM Revenue & Customs as a charity for taxation purposes with effect from July 2004. No tax arises on the result for 

the period. RHA has some £7.5 million (2015: £7.5 million) of tax losses that are available to be carried forward against any future non 

charitable surpluses. 

 

11. Tangible fixed assets 

   Freehold 
Land 

Housing 
Properties 

for Lettings 

Shared 
Ownership 

Investment 
Properties 

Shared 
Ownership 

under 
construction 

Properties 
under 

construction 

Total 
properties 

Cost or valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 

At 1 April 2015 352 266,466 11,850 687 - 4,234 283,589 

Works to existing properties - 5,520 - - - - 5,520 

Additions 521 1,615 193 - 222 7,456 10,007 

Disposals - (381) (407) - - - (788) 

Transfer between categories - 5,499 1,148 - - (6,647) - 

Revaluation - - - 4 - - 4 

At 31 March 2016 873 278,719 12,784 691 222 5,043 298,332 

        

Depreciation             

At 1 April 2015 - 27,629 397 - - - 28,026 

Charge for year - 3,635 83 - - - 3,718 

Transfer between categories - (6) 6 - - - - 

Disposals - (186) (19) - - - (205) 

At 31 March 2016 - 31,072 467 - - - 31,539 

              

Net book value at 31 March 2016 873 247,647 12,317 691 222 5,043 266,793 

Net book value at 31 March 2015 352 238,837 11,453 687 - 4,234 255,563 

Cost or valuation represented by:  

            

            

Gross cost 873 278,719 12,784 450 222 5,043 298,091 

Revaluation - - - 241 - - 241 

Total 873 278,719 12,784 691 222 5,043 298,332 

 

Investment properties, which are all freehold commercial properties, were valued to fair value at 31 March 2016 based on a valuation 

undertaken by Savills, Chartered Surveyors.  The valuation was carried out in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards 

manual. 

Housing properties for lettings and shared ownership properties are accounted for at historic cost but have been valued for funders’ purposes 

as follows:  
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Completed housing properties were valued as at 31 March 2016 on the basis of existing use value - social housing (EUV - SH). The existing use 

value for social housing assesses the dwellings on the basis that they would be managed and owned by an organisation committed to the 

provision of rented accommodation let at an affordable rent, and that the vacant units would be re-let on similar terms rather than sold into 

the open market.  The value of properties valued on an EUV-SH basis for funders’ purposes is £327.5 million. 

Total expenditure on works to existing properties: 

   2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Amounts capitalised:   

Replacement of components 5,492 2,016 

Improvements 28 1,112 

 5,520 3,128 

Amounts charged to the statement of comprehensive income 1,754 1,440 

Total 7,274 4,568 

 

Gross expenditure on components was £5.7 million and the cost of replaced components written off was £0.2 million. 

The EUV - SH valuation method discounts the cash flows from rental and other income less management, maintenance and repair expenditure 

to their present value. The main assumptions used were: 

 Discount rate 5.5% - 7.5% (real) 

Annual growth in rental income  1.0% (real) long term 

Annual increase in expenditure 1.0% (real) long term 

Property sales Forecasts of right-to-buy sales are based on analysis, past experience 

and current trends. 

 

Savills, Chartered Surveyors, carried out the EUV - SH valuation in accordance with the RICS Valuation - Professional Standards manual and 

takes into account the performance standards for Registered Providers published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 
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12. Fixed asset investments 
 

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Loan to other group member 4,374 4,364 

Total 4,374 4,364 

 

The loan to the other group member relates to Rooftop Homes Limited.  A long term inter-company loan facility of £13 million was provided 

in April 2004 to enable Rooftop Homes Limited to acquire properties from Rooftop Management Limited and Rooftop Housing Association 

and fund a five year development programme.  The initial drawdown in April 2004 was £5 million to acquire the properties from Rooftop 

Management Limited and Rooftop Housing Association.  Part of this original loan was repaid on the disposal of the Nuneaton properties in 

2007.  The loan must be repaid in full at the end of 30 years (2034) and interest is charged at a commercial rate. 

  

13. Debtors 
  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Amounts receivable within one year    

Rents and service charges 2,352 1,669 

Less: provision for doubtful debts (693) (623) 

  1,659 1,046 

Social housing grant receivable 453 2,496 

Amounts due from other group undertakings 70 - 

Amounts due from parent undertaking 244 557 

Other debtors 207 254 

Prepayment and accrued income 152 219 

  2,785 4,572 

The net present value adjustment required in respect of agreement to pay (ATP) arrears is immaterial. 

14. Cash at bank and in-hand  

There were no specific charges on RHA's cash at bank and in-hand at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015.  
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15. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  
   2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

Housing loan repayable within one year 4,713 1,533 

Recycled capital grant fund 137 - 

Government grants 1,587 998 

Trade creditors 2,170 3,261 

Right-to-buy sale proceeds due to Wychavon District Council 383 435 

Accruals in respect of repairs 201 422 

Amounts payable on housing development and major repairs 1,564 1,713 

Interest payable 597 566 

Other taxation and social security 22 12 

Amount due to other group undertakings 60 27 

Pension scheme contractual liability (note 18) 110 87 

Other accruals 2,953 2,473 

Total 14,497 11,527 

  The increase in the year on the recycled capital grant fund is due to the sale of one property. 

16. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year   
   2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

Housing loans    

Repayable between one and two years 3,719 4,705 

Repayable between two and five years 10,504 14,673 

Repayable, otherwise than by instalments, in five years or more  170,639 155,326 

Total loans repayable 184,862 174,704 

Pension scheme contractual liability (note 18) 728 615 

Government grants 52,326 52,182 

Total 237,916 227,501 

 

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on certain of RHA's housing properties. The interest rates are fixed between 3.8% and 6.5% or 

vary with market rates. Of the £213.7 million agreed facility £190,556,622 (2015: £177,104,424) has been drawn down by RHA to date. The 

loan is due for repayment by 2040. 
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Deferred income – Government grants 
 

2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

At 1 April 53,180 48,944 

Grants receivable net of disposals 1,337 4,833 

Amortisation to statement of comprehensive income (604) (597) 

At 31 March  53,913 53,180 

Due within one year 1,587 998 

Due after one year 52,326 52,182 

Government grants relating to properties under construction total £982,563.   

The original total value of grant received at 31 March 2016 is £59,248,582. 

 

  

17. Share capital  
   2016 2015 

  £ £ 

Shares of £1 each issued and fully paid    

At 1 April 18 17 

Issued during the year 1 1 

Cancelled during the year (3) - 

At 31 March 16 18 

 

The share capital of RHA consists of shares with a nominal value of £1, each of which carries no rights to dividends, or other income. Shares in 

issue are not capable of being repaid or transferred.  Where a shareholder ceases to be a member, that person’s share is cancelled and the 

amount paid by them then becomes the property of RHA. So all shareholdings relate to non-equity interests and there are no equity interests 

in RHA. 

 

18. Defined benefit pension liability 

 

The Group participates in The Pension Trust – Social Housing Pension scheme, a multi-employer scheme which provides benefits to some 500 

non-associated employers. The scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for the Group to obtain sufficient information to 

enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the scheme as a defined contribution scheme. 

 
The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. This, together 

with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial Reporting Council, set out the 

framework for funding defined benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK. 

 
The scheme is classified as a 'last-man standing arrangement'. Therefore the Group is potentially liable for other participating employers' 

obligations if those employers are unable to meet their share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. Participating 

employers are legally required to meet their share of the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal from the scheme. 

 
A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial valuation was certified on 

23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, liabilities of £4,446m and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, the 
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trustees and the participating employers have agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination from all employers, to the 

scheme as follows: 

 

Deficit contributions 

 
Tier 1 
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2020: 

 
 
£40.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% each year on 1st April) 

 
Tier 2 

From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2023: 

 
 

£28.6m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 4.7% each year on 1st April) 

 

Tier 3 
From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: 

 

 
£32.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% each year on 1st April) 

 
Tier 4 

From 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2026: 

 
 

£31.7m per annum (payable monthly and increasing by 3.0% each year on 1st April) 

 

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation was certified on 17 

December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of £1,035m. To eliminate this funding shortfall, payments 

consisted of the Tier 1, 2 & 3 deficit contributions. 

 
Where the scheme is in deficit and where the Group has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement, the Group recognises a liability for this 

obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement that relates to 

the deficit. The present value is calculated using the discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the discount rate is recognised 

as a finance cost. 

Present value of provision 

 

 
31 March 2016 

(£000s) 
31 March 2015 

(£000s) 
31 March 2014 

(£000s) 

Present value of provision 838 702 734 

 
 

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions  

 

 

Period Ending 

31 March 2016 
(£000s) 

Period Ending 

31 March 2015 
(£000s) 

Provision at start of period 702 734 

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 13 20 

Deficit contribution paid (87) (83) 

Remeasurements - impact of any change in assumptions (5) 31 

Remeasurements - amendments to the contribution schedule 215 - 

Provision at end of period 838 702 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income impact 

 

 
Period Ending 
31 March 2016 

(£000s) 

Period Ending 
31 March 2015 

(£000s) 

Interest expense 13 20 

Remeasurements – impact of any change in assumptions (5) 31 

Remeasurements – amendments to the contribution schedule 215 - 

 

 

 

Assumptions 

 
31 March 2016 
% per annum 

31 March 2015 
% per annum 

31 March 2014 
% per annum 

Rate of discount 2.06 1.92 3.02 

 
The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future recovery plan contributions 

due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount the same recovery plan contributions. 

 

19. Capital commitments 
  

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Capital expenditure contracted for in respect of development expenditure, but not 
provided for in the financial statements. 

12,720 11,245 

Capital expenditure authorised by the Board, but not contracted for in respect of 
development expenditure. 

45,225 30,340 

Total 57,945 41,585 

    

RHA expects to finance the above expenditure by:   

Social Housing Grant receivable 7,462 4,805 

Property sales proceeds 9,819 3,657 

Use of cash surplus plus loan funding 40,664 33,123 

Total 57,945 41,585 

 

The contracted capital expenditure commitment is based on all developments currently on site.  The commitment for capital expenditure 

authorised but not contracted for is based on all the remaining approved development schemes that are in the business plan. 
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20. Units 
  

  2016              2015 

  Owned and 

managed  

Managed  

by others  

Total  Total  

Under development at the end of the year         

Units for rent 88 - 88 21 

      

Under management at the end of the year     

  General needs housing 4,779 - 4,779 4,766 

  Supported housing and housing for older people 676 115 791 804 

  Intermediate rent 21 - 21 21 

  Leasehold properties 108 - 108 109 

  Low cost home ownership accommodation 229 - 229 218 

Units for rent 5,813 115 5,928 5,918 

      

Total units social housing 5,901 115 6,016 5,939 

      

Retained freeholds and estate charges 281 - 281 281 

 

21. Contingent liabilities and financial commitments 
  

As part of the transfer agreement with Wychavon District Council, RHA provided various indemnities to the Council in respect of obligations 

that RHA had assumed on the transfer. In the view of the Board there is little likelihood of any liability arising in respect of these indemnities, 

and so no provision is reflected in these financial statements. RHA has no other outstanding contingent liabilities or financial commitments. 

  

22. Related party transactions 
  

During the year interest of £228,600 (2015: £228,600) was paid by another Group member, Rooftop Homes Limited (RHL). A management fee 

of £5,652,674 (2015: £5,573,424) was charged by the immediate parent undertaking, Rooftop Housing Group Limited. Property charges of 

£129,164 (2015: £135,705) were paid by another group member, Rooftop Support & Care Limited (RS&C).  

Transactions with tenant Board Members are at arms length on normal commercial terms and they cannot use their position to their 

advantage. Rent charged to Board Members in the year was £16,283 (2015: £15,921) and the arrears at 31 March 2016 were £116 (2015:£0). 

 In August 2012 RHA became the sole corporate trustee of the Walker Hospital Trust. The Walker Hospital Trust is a charity which owns 

three properties and is a member of the National Association of Almshouses. 

From October 2013 RHA became a shareholder in Fortis Property Care Limited which provides property services to the Group including 

responsive repairs, planned maintenance, grounds maintenance and gas servicing. The services are provided at cost and the amount charged to 

RHA during the year was £7,369,933 (2015: £4,417,195) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £241,014). 
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23. Legislative provisions 

 
Rooftop Housing Association Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Rooftop Housing Group Limited. Rooftop Housing Group Limited is a 

Registered Society registered in England.  RHA is incorporated under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, and is 

registered with the Homes and Communities Agency under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 

 

 

24. Financial instruments 

 
The carrying values of the Association’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below: 

 

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Financial assets   

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:   

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 13) 2,319 3,796 

Amounts due from related undertakings (see note 13) 314 557 

 2,633 4,353 

Financial liabilities   

Measured at fair value through surplus or deficit:   

Loans payable (see note 15,16) 18,035 18,144 

Measured at amortised cost:   

Loans payable (see note 15,16) 171,540 158,093 

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:   

Trade and other creditors (see note 15,16) 5,114 6,123 

Amounts owed to related undertakings (see note 15,16) 60 27 

 176,714 164,243 

    

The income, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are summarised below:   

Interest expense   

Total interest expense for housing loans at amortised cost 7,865 6,779 

Fair value gains and (losses)   

On housing loans measured at fair value through Statement of Comprehensive Income 109 315 
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25. Transition to FRS 102 

 
This is the first year that the Group and its subsidiaries have presented their financial statements under Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 

102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  The following disclosures are required in the year of transition.  The last financial statements 

under previous UK GAAP were for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the date of transition to FRS 102 was, therefore, 1 April 2014.  As a 

consequence of adopting FRS 102, a number of accounting policies have changed to comply with that standard. 

 

In carrying out the transition to FRS 102, the Group has not applied any of the optional exemptions as permitted by Section 35 Transition to 

this FRS. 

 

Housing Properties 

Under previous UK GAAP the Group had a policy of revaluing housing land and buildings. On transition to FRS 102 the Group has elected to 

revert to historic cost. Properties held to earn commercial rentals or for capital appreciation or both are classified as investment properties 

and continue to be measured at fair value annually with no depreciation charged and any change in value now recognised in surplus in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Grant Accounting 

Grants were previously netted off the cost of the related asset.  As the Association now accounts for its properties at cost it has adopted the 

accruals model for government grants as required by SORP 2014.  Under the accruals model the government grants have been allocated to the 

related assets and amortised over the useful economic life of those assets.  As a result of grants no longer being netted off the cost of the 

related asset the depreciation charge on that asset has been restated. 

Designated Reserves 

The balances previously held in designated reserves in respect of sinking funds have been transferred to creditors. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction price and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges recognised as an expense in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.  Financial instruments classified as non-basic are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains 

and losses arising from year to year being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

Under previous UK GAAP the Social Housing Pension Scheme, a multi employer defined benefit pension scheme of which Rooftop Housing 

Group is a member, was accounted for by the Group as a defined contribution scheme.  It is not possible for the Group to obtain sufficient 

information to enable it to account for the scheme as a defined benefit scheme and so continues to account for the scheme as a defined 

contribution scheme.  Where the scheme is in deficit and the Group has agreed to a deficit funding arrangement the Group now recognises a 

liability for this obligation.  The amount recognised is the net present value of the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement 

that relates to the deficit. 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2014 for the Association – date of transition to FRS 102 

 
   Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 

Restatement £000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Pension 
Deficit 

Completed properties Cost 237,290     -450    236,840 

Grant -50,256  50,256       0 

Revaluation 103,514 -103,514        0 

Depreciation 0 -22,571  -2,180  105    -24,646 

Total 290,548         212,194 

Investment properties Cost 0     450    450 

Fair Value 0     237    237 

Total 0         687 

Under construction Cost 12,613         12,613 

Grant -2,847  2,847       0 

Total 9,766         12,613 

Total Housing Properties 300,314         225,494 

Fixed asset investments 3,980      375   4,355 

Total fixed assets 304,294         229,849 

Current assets           

Properties held for sale 1,489         1,489 

Debtors 3,622         3,622 

Cash 4,741         4,741 

Creditors due within 1 year           

Housing loans -1,388         -1,388 

Government grants 0  -3,371       -3,371 

Other creditors -6,877    -1,358    -83 -8,318 

Net current assets 1,587         -3,225 

Creditors due after 1 year           

Housing loans -152,104      481 -458  -152,081 

Defined benefit pension liability 0        -651 -651 

Government grants 0  -45,573       -45,573 

Net assets 153,777 -126,085 4,159 -2,180 -1,358 342 856 -458 -734 28,319 

           

Capital and reserves           

Revaluation reserve 124,726 -124,726        0 

Designated reserve 4,060    -4,060     0 

Revenue reserve 24,991 -1,359 4,159 -2,180 2,702 342 856 -458 -734 28,319 

Total capital and reserves 153,777 -126,085 4,159 -2,180 -1,358 342 856 -458 -734 28,319 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2015 for the Association 

 
   Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 

Restatement £000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Pension 
Deficit 

Completed properties Cost 278,766     -450    278,316 

Grant -57,534  57,534       0 

Revaluation 109,240 -109,240        0 

Depreciation 0 -25,629  -2,514  117    -28,026 

Total 330,472         250,290 

Investment properties Cost 0     450    450 

Fair Value 0     237    237 

Total 0         687 

Under construction Cost 4,586         4,586 

Grant -401  401       0 

Total 4,185         4,586 

Total Housing Properties 334,657         255,563 

Fixed asset investments 3,981      383   4,364 

Total fixed assets 338,638         259,927 

           

Current assets           

Properties held for sale 3,753         3,753 

Debtors 4,655        -83 4,572 

Cash 8,481         8,481 

Creditors due within 1 year           

Housing loans -1,524      -9   -1,533 

Government grants 0  -998       -998 

Other creditors -7,451    -1,458    -87 -8,996 

Net current assets 7,914         5,279 

Creditors due after 1 year           

Housing loans -175,109      548 -143  -174,704 

Defined benefit pension liability 0        -615 -615 

Government grants 0  -52,182       -52,182 

Net assets 171,443 -134,869 4,755 -2,514 -1,458 354 922 -143 -785 37,705 

           

Capital and reserves           

Revaluation reserve 133,654 -133,654        0 

Designated reserve 2,271    -2,271     0 

Revenue reserve 35,518 -1,215 4,755 -2,514 813 354 922 -143 -785 37,705 

Total capital and reserves 171,443 -134,869 4,755 -2,514 -1,458 354 922 -143 -785 37,705 
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 

 

  Effect of transition into FRS 102 FRS 102 after 
Restatement 

£000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

Financial 
Instruments 

other 

Pension 
Deficit 

Turnover 30,146  597  -100     30,643 

Operating expenditure -16,204 33  -336  12   -31 -16,526 

Operating surplus 13,942 33 597 -336 -100 12 0 0 -31 14,117 

Surplus/(deficit) on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 

602 837        1,439 

Interest receivable 289      9   298 

Interest and financing costs -6,821      58  -20 -6,783 

Change in fair value of financial instruments 0       315  315 

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of investment 

properties 

0         0 

Surplus before tax 8,012 870 597 -336 -100 12 67 315 -51 9,386 

Taxation 0         0 

Surplus for the year 8,012 870 597 -336 -100 12 67 315 -51 9,386 

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,012 870 597 -336 -100 12 67 315 -51 9,386 

  



   

 
  

 Page 47 

 
 

 

 Board, executive and advisors  

   

Registered office 

  

70 High Street 

Evesham  

WR11 4YD 

Board 

  

- Rachel Lathan (Chair) 

- Martin Holland (Vice Chair) 

- Hilary Hobart 

- Paul Kellard 

- Sheila Kettley 

- Robin Richmond  

- Emma Wilson (co-optee) 

 

Executive officers - Ian Hughes, Group Chief Executive 

- Caroline Dykes, Finance Director 

- Sheila Morris, Secretary and Human Resources Director 

- David Hannon, Development Director  

- Juliana Crowe, Housing and Communities Director 

External auditor Mazars LLP 

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Bankers Barclays Bank Plc 

54 High Street 

Worcester 

WR1 2QQ 

Internal auditors Beever and Struthers  

St George’s House 

215-219 Chester Road 

Manchester 

M15 4JE 

 

Principal solicitors 

  

Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP 

134 Edmund Street 

Birmingham 

B2 2ES 

 

Other legal advisors 

  

  

Trowers & Hamlins 

3 Bunhill Row 

London  

EC1Y 8YZ 



   

 
  

 Page 48 

 
 

 

Lenders Nationwide Building Society 

Kings Park Road 

Moulton Park 

Northampton  NN3 6NW  

Lloyds Banking Group 

25 Gresham Street 

London 

EC2V 7HN 

Legal and General Assurance Society Limited  

One Coleman Street 

London 

EC2R 5AA 

 

Funding advisors Capita Asset Services 
64 Gresham Street 

London 
EC2V 7NQ 
 

Insurance brokers Zurich Municipal 

Zurich House 

Ballsbridge Park 

Dublin 4 

Ireland 

Taxation advisors RSM UK Tax and Accounting 

Temple Row 

Birmingham 

B2 5AF 

Valuers Savills Plc 

19/20 City Business Centre 

6 Brighton Road 

Horsham 

West Sussex  

RH13 5BB 

  

Performance analysis HouseMark Ltd 

8 Riley Court 

Millburn Hill Road 

University of Warwick Science Park 

Coventry CV4 7JJ 

 
 
 



   

 
  

 Page 49 
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Rachel Lathan (Tenant and Chair of RHA) 

Rachel has been an RHA tenant for some years and lives in Badsey with her husband and young family. She balances a demanding family life with 

her job in sales and her involvement with Rooftop. Rachel first became an involved resident with Rooftop when she joined the newly formed 

Resident Action Team in 2010 and has risen rapidly to the position of RHA Chair. She was a 'Tenant of the Year' finalist in the 2012 Tenant 

Participation Advisory Service Awards. Rachel has completed many public speaking engagements. She has successfully completed a Governance 

Training course accredited through Derby University. Rachel is an active member of the local community and believes passionately in providing 

excellent housing. 

Martin Holland, FCIH (Vice Chair of RHA and Chair of RHL) 

Martin has worked in the housing sector for over 40 years and has experience in local authorities and the private sector as well as housing 

associations. Martin retired from his role as Chief Executive at Shropshire Housing Group in 2013, where he had worked since the early 

nineties. He served as Regional Chair of the National Housing Federation (NHF) between 2003 and 2006, and in 2015 was elected to the 

Regional Committee of the NHF. Martin was appointed to the Board of the Rural Housing Advisory Group in 2011, advising the Homes and 

Communities Agency and Department for Communities and Local Government on rural housing issues. 

Hilary Hobart (Vice Chair of RHL) 

Hilary trained as an accountant in a firm of Chartered Accountants in Liverpool, which specialised in auditing organisations in regulated sectors. 

She gained a passion for housing and subsequently left the partnership to hold various finance posts and ultimately the post of Finance Director 

within the Liver Housing Group (now part of the Your Housing Group). In 1999 she moved to the Midlands to become the Finance Director & 

Company Secretary of the Accord Housing Group. She left the sector to be part of a management buy out of an IT infrastructure company and 

also became a voluntary Board Member of Ashram Housing Association for a period of two years. After a successful exit from her company 

and a four year career break to look after her twin boys, Hilary became a self-employed Finance Director for innovative start-up companies 

funded by venture capital investments. She is now employed by one of them on a part time basis, which gives her the opportunity to fulfil her 

role as a school governor for her local primary school. 

Paul Kellard (Tenant) 

Paul, born in Chester, has a career background in the Armed Forces and the Ministry of Defence. He currently works in Health and Social Care 

and was recently appointed to the post of Care Co-ordinator in a residential nursing home. He has been a Rooftop tenant for more than 20 

years and, in recent years, he has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel and Resident Excellence Panel. Paul successfully completed a 

governance training course accredited through Derby University. Paul volunteers with the Alzheimer’s Society as a fund raiser and Dementia 

Friends Champion. He has also undertaken training, as a Rooftop volunteer, to become a Dementia Friends Champion. He believes passionately 

in providing excellent housing to create strong communities, especially to an ageing population. 

Sheila Kettley (Tenant and Vice Chair of RS&C) 

Sheila, born in North London, has had a career background in banking, stockbroking, architecture and surveying. Her most recent position was 

as a Credit Control Manager. She and her husband were also publicans, based in various parts of the country, their last public house being in 

Eckington, Worcestershire. Sheila has been a Rooftop tenant for over 10 years and has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel since 

2008. Sheila chairs the Community Fund Group and the Communications Panel, sub-groups of the Customer Panel, and serves on the 

Complaints Review Panel. As a Rooftop volunteer, she sits on the judging panel of the annual Rooftop Garden Competition for residents and 

has recently undertaken training to become a Dementia Friends Champion. Sheila successfully completed a Governance Training course 

accredited through Derby University. She has been a member of the Audit Committee since 2011. 
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Emma is a registered nurse with experience of working as a senior manager in both primary and secondary care in London and 

Worcestershire, with accountability for the provision and delivery of nursing services. She now works as an advanced nurse practitioner in 
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London with her two young children in 1997, she was aware of the need for good, affordable social housing and feels fortunate to have 

previously been a tenant of RHA for five years.  
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Report of the Board 
 

The Board is pleased to present the Report of the Board, the Strategic Report and the audited financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2016. The reports and financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by 

the Financial Reporting Council and comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social 

housing providers 2014 (SORP), the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private 

Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and 

applies the relevant paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Group structure 

Rooftop Homes Limited (RHL) was incorporated on 13 November 2003 and is a Registered Provider (RP), a 

Registered Society and a member of Rooftop Housing Group Limited (RHG). The Group parent is a non-asset 

holding, non-charitable Registered Society (29661R), registered with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 

(L4404), providing operational and corporate services including treasury management, information and 

communication technology and human resources for the whole Group. 

Senior management team 

The senior management team detailed on page 42, under the heading ‘Executive officers’, served throughout the 

year from 1 April 2015 to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

Principal activities 

The principal activity of RHL is to provide social housing: the letting, management and maintenance of dwellings for 

people in housing need, together with appropriate care and support services. The housing that falls within the 

definition of social housing includes shared ownership, keyworker and residential care activities. It also owns and 

operates intermediate and market rented stock and a significant portfolio of residential garages and garage courts 

within the Group. 

The Board 

RHL is governed within the framework set by its rules as a Registered Society.  These state that RHL shall have a 

Board and determine its membership. The Board is responsible for the overall strategic direction of RHL, including 

the determination of key policies and the monitoring of compliance with both policies and performance targets. 

The Board Members contribute to and share responsibility for decisions. 

The Board consists of six non-executive Board Members who bring to the Association a wide range of skills, 

experience and expertise. In making appointments to the Board the Association seeks members with a wide range 

of skills that it requires to effectively manage its business.  

 Members of the Board as at the date of this report are listed on pages 42 to 45 together with brief biographical 

details. Each member of the Board and RHG holds one fully paid share of £1 in RHL which is cancelled on 

cessation of membership.  

The day-to-day matters of RHL are delegated to the Group Chief Executive and Directors. They do not have the 

legal status of directors, but they act as executives within the authority delegated by the Board. The executives 

hold no interest in RHL’s share capital and are not members of the Board.  
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Board Member obligations 

There are six general duties of all Board Members. This is enshrined in company law and is common with 

community benefit societies law.  

 To act within the powers of the Association 

 To promote the success of the Association for the benefit of its members as a whole paying regard to:  

o long-term consequences 

o employee interests 

o relationships with customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders 

o operational impact upon the environment and communities 

o the need to maintain high standards of conduct and probity and to act fairly 

 To exercise independent judgement 

 To exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence 

 To avoid conflicts of interest 

 Not to accept benefits from third parties. 

 

Obligations 

Each Board Member shares the responsibility, along with other Board Members, for directing the affairs of the 

Association and ensuring it is solvent, well-run and delivering the outcomes for which it has been set up. 

The role of a Board Member and of the Board as a team includes, to:   

 

Strategy and purpose: 

 set out the vision for the Association, define its values, mission and overall direction, then protect and 

uphold these 

 make sure there are policies, strategies and plans in place to deliver the objects set out in the 

Association’s Rules, and that they are being delivered effectively 

 make sure the Association complies with its own Rules, and all the laws and regulations that apply to it. 

 

Compliance and integrity:  

 to make sure the Association complies with registered society law under the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, and with the requirements of the social housing regulator   

 ensure that the Association complies with its own Rules and remains true to its purpose and objects 

comply with the requirements of all the legislation and other regulators (if any) that govern the 

Association’s activities 

 act with integrity and avoid any personal conflicts of interest or misuse of the Association’s funds or 

assets. 

 

Financial viability and risk assurance: 

 ensure that the Association is and will remain solvent 

 use funds and assets reasonably and only in furtherance of the Association’s objects as set out in its 

governing document 

 avoid undertaking activities that might place the Association’s funds, assets or reputation at undue risk 

 ensure an effective assurance framework supports the achievement of the Association’s strategic 

objectives 

 take special care when borrowing funds or investing funds. 

 

Duty of care: 

 use reasonable skill and care in working as a Board Member, using personal skills and experience as 

needed, to ensure that the Association is well-run and efficient 
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 seek external professional advice on all matters where there may be a material risk to the Association, or 

where Board Members may be in breach of their duties.  

 

General: 

 always act in the Association’s best interests 

 uphold the Association’s purpose, values, objectives and policies 

 uphold the values of the Association through high standards of conduct, behaviour and probity, and by 

complying with the organisation’s code of conduct, rules, standing orders, probity policy and financial 

regulations 

 contribute to, and share responsibility for, the Board’s decisions, including its duty to exercise reasonable 

care, skill and independent judgement 

 prepare for and attend meetings, training sessions and other events 

 participate in reviews of Board performance, measures designed to develop the Board’s capacity and 

effectiveness, and the Board Member appraisal system 

 declare any relevant interests and avoid conflicts of interest 

 respect the confidentiality of information 

 ensure your skills are kept up to date and that you participate in training sessions 

 declare any hospitality or gifts offered to you in your capacity as members of the Boards or its 

committees 

 uphold the National Housing Federation's Code of Governance.  

 

Audit Committee 

The Group parent, RHG, is responsible for arranging all internal and external audit services throughout the Group. 

The Group Board has delegated initial responsibility for audit functions to an Audit Committee, which comprises 

Board Members from across the Group. The current membership is: 

 Robin Richmond (Interim Chair), RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C 

 Malcolm Robson, RHG 

 Sheila Kettley, RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C  

 Keith Rolfe, RHG 

The members of the Audit Committee are chosen for their appropriate skills, while representing the composition 

of the Group. 

The Audit Committee has responsibility for reviewing the adequacy of all risk and control related statements prior 

to endorsement by the relevant Boards, reviewing the effectiveness of internal control systems, including 

management, financial, operational and risk controls so that the Group can be reasonably assured that appropriate 

and effective risk management arrangements are in place. 

Resident involvement 

The purpose of Rooftop Housing Group’s Resident Panels is to enable Rooftop residents to be at the heart of 

Rooftop’s decision-making processes and help to ensure excellent and value for money services to our residents. 

The aim of our resident involvement activity is:  

 to be a voice for Rooftop residents within Rooftop’s governance structures and working in partnership 

with Rooftop staff 

 to enable residents to scrutinise and shape services 

 to monitor and review performance. 

To achieve these aims and objectives, there are now three parts to Rooftop’s Resident Panel structure with the 

following purposes: 
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The Customer Panel: we have up to 20 resident members who meet regularly to discuss services.  This panel acts 

as the main voice of Rooftop residents and the hub for resident involvement activity. 

The Resident Excellence Panel: these residents operate our tenant scrutiny to ensure that we provide good quality 

services.  They also lead, plan and support the work of the Customer Panel and are accountable to the Board 

through the Audit Committee. 

The AptQuest Team: these residents seek the views and concerns of all our residents via a regular programme of 

customer phone surveys. 

The main services are provided from the head office in Evesham. The keyworker schemes at Worcester, 

Shrewsbury and Weston-Super-Mare have on-site management services, whilst the intermediate and market rent 

portfolios at Tewkesbury, Worcester, Biddulph and Nuneaton are jointly managed with local agents. This variety of 

operating locations provides local access to our customers. 

The above arrangements are considered the most appropriate way of making sure that RHL provides the best 

possible service to its customers. 

Code of Governance 

The Board has formally adopted the National Housing Federation’s Code of governance, and Code of Conduct 

(2012). The Board has formally assessed its compliance against the Code of governance and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Governance and Financial Viability Standard 

The Board has assessed compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Statement of the Board’s financial responsibilities 

The Board is required by law to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of RHL and of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing those financial statements, 

the Board is required to: 

  

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

RHL will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at 

any time, the financial position of RHL, and to enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting 

Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015. The Board is also responsible for maintaining a 

satisfactory system of control over the accounting records and transactions, and for safeguarding the assets of 

RHL, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Internal controls assurance statement 

The Board is the ultimate governing body and is responsible for Rooftop’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness.  The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 

failure to achieve Rooftop’s business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.   

The Board confirms there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 

by Rooftop, that has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report 

and accounts, and that this process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 
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During 2015/16, the Board and/or Audit Committee have received the following evidence to support the 

effectiveness of the internal controls: 

 Rooftop employs independent internal auditors to assess its controls and make recommendations for 

improvements.   

 The internal audit annual plan is set by Audit Committee and is designed to ensure a broad scope of 

reviews, covering not just key financial systems but also operational performance and strategic control.  

During 2015/16, Audit Committee received seven assurance reviews including: 

o key financial systems – rent setting; treasury management 

o operational management – arrears 

o strategic control – governance; asset and liabilities register. 

 Each audit gives an overall assessment of the reliance that can be placed on the controls, with four 

categories (in descending order): full, substantial, limited or no assurance.  All seven reviews were found 

to provide substantial assurance (the second highest rating).   

 Where the auditors make recommendations for improvement, a management response is provided and 

this is reviewed by Audit Committee.  Delivery of those recommendations is then closely monitored 

through half-yearly follow-up reviews. 

 Risks are reviewed by Executive Team and Managers at a quarterly meeting with changes reported to 

Audit Committee. The Risk Map is reviewed by the Board through the quarterly pack and is available to 

members and staff on a continual basis.   

 The Board is aware that Rooftop’s external environment is changing and that risk management must adapt 

to keep pace with this.  There has been a major review of our approach to risk management, including 

rationalising our risk map and introducing a documented risk appetite statement. 

 Management reports on operational and financial matters. All board reports include a risk management 

summary which clearly shows any risks identified. 

 Rooftop is a member of the HouseMark benchmarking group.  This provides valuable information on the 

efficiency and effectiveness of Rooftop at achieving its objectives, both compared to other similar 

organisations and compared to Rooftop’s historic performance. 

 Quarterly performance pack which includes monitoring reports, performance against goals and projects 

and key performance indicators.   

 We have made further improvements to our treasury reporting, and also updated our treasury 

management policy, with the support of our independent treasury advisors.  This has been independently 

reviewed by our internal auditors who found our processes gave substantial assurance. 

 Group budgets which are approved by the boards following a review of the annual budget process by the 

Audit Committee for compliance with the Group budget parameters and financial policies. 

 A robust Business Plan based on clear assumptions and sensitivity-tested to ensure Rooftop understands 

the effects of any potential changes in its environment. 

 Resident involvement impact assessment by an external consultant every two years. 

 Annual ICT penetration test. 

 All policies and strategies are approved by the Board, Audit Committee or Executive Team.  

 Fraud and hospitality registers. 

 External auditor’s reports and management letter. 

 A detailed review of the 2015 Sector Risk Profile published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 
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 Rooftop was recognised as one of the Best 100 Not-for-Profit organisations to work for the second year 

running. 

 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) carried out an In Depth Assessment (IDA) of Rooftop in 

January 2016.  Rooftop continues to have the highest possible ratings for both Governance and Financial 

Viability from the HCA. 

There were no identified weaknesses in internal controls, which resulted in material losses, contingencies or 

uncertainties that require disclosure in these financial statements. 

Employees 

Within the Group structure all staff are employed by RHG, the Group parent. RHG is committed to promoting 

equality of opportunity in its employment practice. Applications for employment from persons with black or 

minority ethnic origin or disabilities are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies. In the event of an 

employee becoming disabled, every effort is made to retain them so that their employment with the Group may 

continue. It is the policy of the Group that training, career development and promotion opportunities should be 

available to all employees. 

The Group has continued its practice of consulting and keeping employees informed on matters that affect them, 

and on the progress of the Group. This is carried out in a number of ways including a formal consultation with the 

employee forum, departmental meetings and a company wide briefing session. In 2011 the Group was awarded 

Investors in People Gold accreditation and was re-accredited in 2015. 

Health and safety 

The Board is aware of its responsibilities in all matters relating to health and safety. They have prepared health and 

safety policies and ensured all staff have undergone a programme of training on health and safety matters and have 

established a Safety Committee. 

Insurance 

RHL maintains insurance policies for members of the Board and executive directors, against liabilities in relation to 

RHL. 

Political and charitable donations 

RHL did not make any political contributions, or charitable donations (2015: £0) 

Post balance sheet events 

The Board considers that there have been no events since the year end that have had a significant effect on RHL’s 

financial position. 

Going concern 

The Board considers that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, it continues to adopt the ‘going concern’ principle in the financial statements. 

Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 21 September 2016. 

External auditor 

We are planning to retender audit services during 2016/17 following expiry of the current contract. 
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Disclosure of information to the auditor 

In the case of each of the persons who are Board Members of the Association at the date when this report was 

approved: 

 so far as each of the Board Members are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

company’s auditor is unaware; and 

 each of the Board Members has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Board Member to 

make him/herself aware of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s 

auditor is aware of that information. 

 

By order of the Board 

 

 

  

Martin Holland 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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Strategic report 
Objectives and strategy 

 Mission statement 

 ‘Our mission is to improve the quality of life of people and the communities in which they live.’ 

 Business Plan 2013 – 2023 

 Our group has four objectives: delivering excellent services; meeting the housing needs of communities and 

contributing towards cohesive and inclusive communities; making the best use of our resources; and encouraging 

innovation and improvement in all we do. 

Two new cross-cutting themes introduced in April 2015 are now reflected in our planning and operational 

practices.  These are:- 

 Sustainability – which covers responsible planning and management of resources.  The initial review in 

2015-16 has determined the scope and impact of this ‘green’ initiative and is reflected in our new 

Environmental Policy 

 Value for money – to cover our decision making processes, our return on assets, performance 

management and the scrutiny process and to promote a fuller understanding of costs and outcomes.   

This is reported in our annual VFM self assessment which is published on our website and included in this 

report. 

 Objective 1  Excellent services 

 ‘We will develop, deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers’. 

 Goals: 

 Carry out a three year programme of two scrutiny reviews per year 

 Ensure customers enjoy excellent access to services and customer care. 

 Objective 2  Community needs 

   ‘Working with partners, we will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities integrated 

with supported housing services, developing new build and asset reinvestment schemes that respond to housing 

needs identified by national and regional strategies that are environmentally sustainable.’ 

 Objective 2.1 Community needs – Through new homes 

 Goals: 

 HCA Affordable Homes Guarantee Programme 2015 -17 

 HCA Programme NAHP (National Affordable Housing Programme) 2015-18 

 During the period 2015-18 deliver 140 homes a year and secure funding through the Homes and 

Communities Agency, internal resources or other funding sources 

 Support the National Armed Forces Community Covenant through the provision of 30 new homes for 

former military personnel and their families by 2020, working with national specialist support charities. 

 Assemble a rolling land bank comprising:  

o All sites for contracted HCA schemes (approved budget) 

o Additional sites available for immediate development to provide 150 homes (budget £2.5m from within 

approved 10 year business plan provision for land purchase)  
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o Strategic land for future years (additional budget of £5 million over 10 years from April 2015 for 

purchase of options and land). 

 Objective 2.2 Community needs – Through existing homes 

 Goals: 

 Improve the environmental sustainability and affordability of our homes  

 During 2015-16 we carried out a wide reaching review of our approach to consider the options for long-

term sustainability, and this has resulted in the new environmental policy which establishes our 

sustainability standards for new homes, existing homes, design of our estates and the way Rooftop will 

deliver services over the next 40 years. 

Objective 2.3 Community needs – Through work in the community 

 Goals: 

 Provide accommodation and services to support Gypsy Roma Traveller households  

 Our Community Investment Goal is to invest a minimum of £500k of people and cash resources annually 

in our local communities, measuring the outcomes of community initiatives that demonstrate the best 

social value return 

During 2015-16 the Community Investment strategy was fundamentally reviewed to include the role of RHG in a 

‘dementia friendly’ society 

 Our Financial Inclusion Goal is by 2017 to offer work, family and money advice to all of our residents of 

working age in receipt of benefits (approximately 1,000). 

Objective 2.4 Community needs – Through providing support services we will enable residents of 

the Rooftop Group and the wider community to lead active and independent lifestyles 

Goals: 

 Implement organisational changes to deliver the Rooftop Support and Care revised 2014-2019 five year 

business plan, together with ambition to grow the volume of services by 10% by 2019 

Business development projects feature under this goal as does the project to “Implement the recommendations of 

the Support and Care Working Party” 

 Independent living – To support and help at least 1,000 older people, both Rooftop residents and from 

the wider community, to live independent lives by March 2018 

 Health and wellbeing – To promote and support health and wellbeing for at least 500 younger people by 

March 2018. 

Objective 3 – Resources 

‘We will make best use of our financial, property assets, ICT and human resources to support and deliver excellent 

services and homes for customers and the community.’ 

 Goals: 

 Optimise the use of our organisation’s people, skills and internal capacity 

 Partnership working to reduce operating costs  

 Capital Receipts - to generate £33 million net capital receipts 

 Asset utilisation – To continually review the performance of our property assets. 
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 Objective 4 - Encouraging innovation  

‘Our fourth objective strives for continuous improvement through annual team plans and supports all our other 

objectives and values.’ 

Business Model 

Rooftop’s Business Model demonstrates how Rooftop “creates, delivers and captures value.” 

Our Business Model identifies how our principal activities and Business plan allow us to deliver our four objectives.  

Some key elements of this Business Model include: 

 key partners 

 key activities 

 key resources 

 value proposition 

 revenue streams and cost structure. 

Key partners 

The Group works with several key partners who have a stake in the success of our business, as we do in theirs: 

 Wychavon District Council is our main local authority partner in Worcestershire  

 In Worcester the Group works with officers at city and county levels 

 In Gloucestershire the Group is working with councils in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury  

 ExtraCare Charitable Trust 

 Matrix Housing Partnership 

 NHS Trusts. 

Key activities 

The principal activity of the Group is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing 

need. 

Key resources 

The Group’s key resources are a pool of talented, experienced and committed staff; an asset base of over 6,400 

‘decent’ homes; a solid financial performance which allows the Group to fund future development, and excellent 

relationships with key stakeholders.  These resources are efficiently managed through our business planning 

process to ensure that objectives and goals, determined by the Board, are achieved. 

Value proposition 

Rooftop’s value proposition is that we will provide affordable homes that meet ‘decent homes’ standard, and built 

to be environmentally sustainable.  Rooftop will deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers, and we 

will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities. 

Revenue and cost structure 

At core, the Group is a social landlord providing affordable homes for rent.  Social housing lettings represent 88% 

of Rooftop’s turnover and 77% of its cost base.  The next most significant elements of the business are shared 

ownership sales (8% of turnover, 12% of operating costs) and supporting people (3% of turnover, 8% of operating 

costs).  Other activities are negligible.   

As a developing association, we have £206 million of loan funding.  Interest and financing costs consequently make 

up the majority of our non-operating activities, amounting to £9.3 million in 2016.   
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Development and performance 

Financial performance 

This is the first year that Rooftop Housing Group has presented its financial statements under Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  A number of accounting policies have changed 

to comply with that standard and prior year results have also been restated; the detail of this is included in the 

notes to the accounts. 

Rooftop Housing Group Limited 

The overall financial performance for the year has been excellent with the Group generating a surplus for the year 

before taxation of £7.7 million.  This is a tremendous achievement in the current difficult economic and financial 

climate.   

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, remains the main contributor to the overall group surplus. 

As an individual entity, RHG operates on the principle of cost recovery from its subsidiaries.  It generates relatively 

modest surpluses to cover its tax liabilities and provide some working capital. 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited  

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, generated a surplus of £7.1 million.   

During the year RHA drew down an additional £15 million funding from Legal & General, in order to finance its 

ambitious development programme.  This, offset by some scheduled loan repayments, explains the increase in long 

term creditors over the year as well as the temporary increase in cash balances to £22.6 million at year end.  The 

increase in drawn loans also means an increase in interest and financing costs, which have risen by £1.8 million 

from 2015 to 2016.  

An increased volume of shared ownership sales has resulted in increasing turnover (up £1.4 million) and increasing 

operating costs (up £1.3 million).  31 sales were completed during 2016 (2015: 21).  This partly reflects the cyclical 

nature of our development programme, with the increased sales in 2016 following the completion of a large 

number of new homes at the end of 2015, and fewer sales are planned in 2017.  Over the longer term, shared 

ownership sales form an increasingly important part of RHA’s business model.   

Surpluses from other property sales have fallen to £0.1 million (2015: £1.4 million) as RHA has paused its 

programme of void property sales.  The expected introduction of a nationwide right to buy for housing association 

tenants could be a major change in this area in future, and RHA is currently exploring the policy, operational and 

treasury implications of this.   

RHA’s turnover from social rents, its core income stream, rose by £2.4 million (8%). This was mainly due to the 

completion of new properties at the end of 2015, with existing rents generally rising by 2.2%. 

Rooftop Homes Limited  

RHL, the Group’s provider of keyworker accommodation, residential care, market and intermediate rent and 

garages has generated a surplus before tax of £0.6 million, a slight increase on the previous year.  RHL’s operations 

have been stable and there has been no change to its property portfolio.   

Rooftop Support and Care Limited  

RS&C, the Group’s specialist support provider for both the young and older people services has generated a 

surplus for the year of £9,000.  This is an improvement on the £18,000 deficit recorded in 2015.  RS&C’s turnover 

has increased by £268,000, largely due to an intra-group contract funded by RHA.  This has funded RS&C’s new 

Options and Active Lifestyles service, with a corresponding increase in operating costs.   

The operating environment for specialist support remains challenging.  Worcestershire County Council funding for 

older people’s support ended during 2015 and it is expected that there will be a substantial reduction in 

Gloucestershire County Council’s funding for young people’s services in 2017.  RS&C approaches these challenges 

with a strong balance sheet, with £781,000 available cash.    
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Operational highlights from the year 

 Board approval of the new 2016 Environmental Policy, which will determine the sustainability of Rooftop 

homes and estates for the next 40 years 

 Demonstration of the long term viability of the organisation though the recent In Depth Assessment by 

the HCA, by maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial 

capacity to deal with a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1) 

 Embedding of ‘Making a Difference’ (Mary Gober Customer Culture change programme) – which 

significantly impacted on the culture of the organisation and contributed towards our success in the 

Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 External cladding programme completed, which improved sustainability to 782 homes and helped achieve 

our SAP goal (average SAP rating of 71.3 points against the target of 70) 

 Opening of two specialist dementia schemes – Dorothy Terry House and Dora Matthew House 

 Implementation of the recommendations of the Support and Care Working Party which implemented the 

new structure and processes in Rooftop Support and Care 

 Community Investment Strategy Review, which resulted in new projects working towards making Rooftop 

a dementia friendly organisation and with a wider support role in the community 

 Achieved two stars in the Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 Acceptance by the HCA of our Financial Forecast Return (FFR) in May 2015 and revised FFR in October 

2015 following the 1% rent reduction announced in the budget (including stress testing) 

 Community investment activity with strong neighbourhood impact activity 

 Progress in Land Banking which will make future development easier 

 Customer Service Excellence award 2015-18 

 Re-accreditation to Investors in People Gold 2015-17 

 Queens Award for Enterprise – Matrix Housing Partnership, and 

 National Award for Most Innovative In-House Repair Contractor with Fortis, reflecting a superb 

achievement and significantly reduced VAT costs. 

For 2015-16 we had 16 goals, which reflected the direction of the Board and the use of resources in our projects.  

At the end of the year, 14 of the 16 goals were on target for completion, with two goals off target, namely:- 

 Service Review Goal : the programmed service reviews have taken place with visible outcomes, but 

customer satisfaction has not increased against the (‘all time high’) baseline of 93.1% in 2012  

 Support and Care Business Goal : the project to implement the findings of the Support and Care Working 

party is now complete, and the new structure and processes are in place. However, Support and Care are 

facing a difficult commercial environment.  The amber status reflects the reduction in funding available and 

continued challenging operating environment in the support and care sector. 

Future prospects 

This is a challenging time for social landlords and the customers who live in our homes.  This is a period of 

significant change for a sector which has traditionally been underpinned by stability in government policy.   

Recent changes in government policy, following on from the political and economic consequences of the last 

recession, are making our operating environment more challenging as well as creating extra need for our wider 

community investment services.  The most significant change during the year was the reduction of social housing 

rents in England by 1% a year over a four-year period, starting in April 2016.  Rooftop has reviewed its business 

plan and removed sufficient costs to demonstrate its long term viability, but our capacity for action has inevitably 

been greatly reduced. 

Other forthcoming changes include: 

 Cut in welfare by a further £12bn by 2017-18 

 Continued rollout of Universal Credit 
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 Pay to stay – where residents with income over £30k may need to pay full market rent (voluntary 

scheme) 

 Withdrawal of housing benefit for the under 25s and instead a new youth allowance for 18-21 year olds 

with no entitlement to help with housing costs  

 Replacement of the minimum wage with the compulsory National Living Wage 

 A freeze on working age benefits for two years from April 2016 (exemptions for disability and pensioner 

benefits) 

 Capping Housing Benefit in line with Local Housing Allowance  

 Reduction in funding for support services, with the total loss of funding for Older People Services last 

year, and impact of the cuts in the Younger People Services this year. 

Each of these changes to our external environment have been reflected in our business planning process and 

portfolio of goals and projects. 

We have added an additional two goals to our business plan, increasing our total number of goals to 18.  These 

new goals reflect the changes to our business plan arising from the Board’s interpretation of the current 

environment and Rooftop’s response to it.  The new goals are: 

 Environmental – to  raise the environmental sustainability of our homes to an average of Band B 

 Capital assets – to channel the receipts from the Voluntary Right to Buy process into development of new 

homes. 

The recent In Depth Assessment by the HCA in January 2016 demonstrated Rooftop’s long term viability, by 

maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial capacity to deal with 

a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1). 

Rooftop’s future prospects are derived from the following critical elements being in place, giving Rooftop a sound 

organisational base to achieve its long-term objectives: 

 clear objectives and goals with transparent and monitored outputs 

 ‘clear line of sight’ for the Board to provide direction and governance 

 effective executive and management structure 

 necessary resources, both financial and people to carry out the identified activities required to achieve 

our objectives 

 financial and organisational stability to sustain long term planning. 

Principal risks and uncertainties faced 

Rooftop have a robust risk management process, supported by our Electronic Performance Management system 

(Clearview).  This system is fully integrated with our business planning process and risk management process, 

which allows us to effectively manage the risks associated with new developments and initiatives in response to 

changes in our environment, and focus on the risks and choices we face.   

All decision reports to Board include the greatest risk associated with that initiative or development, and a full 

evaluation of the risk and relevant control measures is an integral part of the quarterly management meetings. The 

identification and scoring of risk together with the control measures taken to mitigate risk are reported on a 

regular basis to the Audit Committee and Board. 

During the year Rooftop has completed a full review of its risk map, leading to a more streamlined risk map 

focussed on the most significant risks facing the Group.  The principal risks facing Rooftop, as outlined in the risk 

map, are: 
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Risk Description 

Increase in variable interest 

rates 

 

Rooftop has £206 million of loan funding, of which 84% is fixed.  This leaves £34 

million of variable loans.  With LIBOR at historic lows, Rooftop recognises that 

there is a high probability of an increase on interest costs in the future.  An 

increase of 3% would equate to a £1 million increase in our interest costs.  The 

Board’s policy is to limit this risk by fixing at least 75% of our portfolio.  

Breach of loan agreements 

 

Rooftop’s loan agreements contain covenants which must be met to avoid default.  

These include covenants on asset cover, interest cover and gearing, as well as 

cross-default clauses meaning a failure in one borrower could affect other 

borrowers within the Group.  The changes to government rent setting policy, 

regulation and right to buy all have potential to impact on loan covenants, 

particularly asset cover.  Rooftop is monitoring this situation carefully and has 

taken mitigating steps including ring fencing cash and charging additional security 

against one of its loans. 

Ability to access new debt 

 

Rooftop’s ambitious development programme is dependent on the ability to access 

new loan funding.  The current programme to March 2018 is fully funded but 

ambitions in the longer term would require additional funding.  Having sufficient 

property security to charge against new loans is a potentially limiting factor for 

Rooftop, and funding markets could also be affected by wider factors such as 

government policy towards the social housing sector and the British exit from the 

European Union. 

Insufficient subsidy for 

development 

 

Developing new homes forms a major pillar of Rooftop’s strategy.  Decreasing 

social housing grant and an increased focus on property ownership contribute to 

this risk.  The Homes & Communities Agencies 2016-21 grant prospectus has a 

clear focus on property ownership, with limited provision for households who 

cannot afford to buy. 

Housing market sales exposure 

 

Over time, Rooftop has undertaken increasing volumes of property sales activity, 

with both shared ownership and outright sales.  Rooftop recognises that this 

increases its exposure to the cycle of the housing market.  The 1% rent reduction 

imposed on providers has reduced capacity in Rooftop’s business plan to deal with 

a shortfall or delay in expected sales receipts.        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

  Page 15 

RHL annual report and financial statements 2016 

Value for Money self assessment – making a difference 

As a not-for-profit organisation, Rooftop invests its surpluses back into the local community by building new 

homes, improving existing homes and supporting community initiatives.   

We need to make sure that every penny counts – focussing not just on how much we spend, but how and where 

we spend it – to have the best impact on achieving our mission. 

Our approach 

Last year, we expanded the basket of Value for Money indicators we use to assess our performance.  They are 

designed to show a wider picture of what we are doing, rather than just focussing on ‘traditional’ landlord housing 

management.  We’ve divided these targets into three groups: 

 Return on assets 

This measures the big, headline information about the impact Rooftop is making through its assets.  We 

want these targets to show how well we are using our assets to:  

o provide great services which meet our residents’ needs 

o deliver new homes to help solve the wider housing crisis 

o reduce our impact on the environment 

o generate a financial return, which can then be reinvested in the other priorities above. 

These areas are crucial to us and we really want to make a difference through using our assets well. 

 Cost of specific services 

This is about how we compare to other similar landlords in terms of costs.  The areas we are reporting 

on cover all of our major frontline landlord services, plus our spending on overheads (back office areas 

such as Human Resources, Finance and Information Technology).   

 Service outcomes / social return 

Value for Money can’t just be about how cheap things are.  That’s why we’ve set out targets to measure 

how good the services we provide actually are.   

Comparison with others – HouseMark  

To help us compare the cost and effectiveness of our services, we are members of HouseMark benchmarking.  

This allows us to compare our own performance over time, and also to compare ourselves to other similar 

organisations – Local Authority stock transfer organisations (LSVTs) in the Central region with 2,500-7,500 homes.   

The vast majority of our targets are calculated using HouseMark.  Three of our targets are internal calculations 

only and are not comparable with others.  We still think these targets give us useful information about how we are 

performing, compared to our plans and compared to previous years.  
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Our performance 

The results of our VFM indicators for 2015/16 and our targets for 2016/17 are shown below: 
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Return on assets 

We are disappointed by the fall in overall satisfaction with our services.  Anecdotally, we understand that the 

satisfaction levels have been influenced by the repairs performance over the last year, which has also shown a 

significant drop in satisfaction since last year.  Overall satisfaction is affected by a wide range of issues, some of 

which are not under our direct control, and it can take some time to turn around negative opinion.  However, our 

repairs performance is now improving, and our new neighbourhood service will mean that customers will see 

Rooftop out in their areas more, giving them more opportunity for interaction, and for us to respond quickly to 

emerging issues in the community. The action plan to improve the satisfaction figure is: 

 Reconnect residents with their Neighbourhood Officer – by having generic staff with smaller patch sizes 

from 1 July 2016. 

 Undertaking a property and resident MOT where residents have requested nine or more repairs using 

2015/16 data. 

 Specifically for repairs, Fortis will contact residents on route to the appointment as a reminder. 

 Working on a plan to improve right first time and reduce the number of follow-ons. 

 Introducing a personal and proactive approach for one year to regain the confidence of residents. This will 

involve telephoning residents with complaints or service request instead of writing. 

 Introducing PDA’s for maintenance staff 

Rooftop is proud to punch above its weight in terms of how much we develop, relative to our size.  Our target for 

the year was based on building an average of 150 homes a year.  Having completed a record 292 homes in 

2014/15, 2015/16 was the start of a new development cycle and has focussed on identifying new sites and securing 

planning permission so there were fewer completed properties this year.  We expect to complete 455 homes 

over the three years to March 2018 which represents an average of 2.4% growth per year.  We have adjusted our 

yearly targets to better reflect the cycle of our development programme.    

Our financial return on new development continues to outperform the targets set in our financial appraisals. 

This year we achieved our longstanding goal to improve the average energy efficiency of our homes to 70 under 

the SAP assessment rating.  To date we have achieved an average SAP score of 71.3.  This means more of our 

residents are in warmer homes which are cheaper to run.  We have achieved this goal by: 

 building new, more efficient homes 

 selling older, less efficient properties 

 investing in major improvements to existing homes, including this year’s external cladding programme to 

682 properties. 

Achievement of our energy efficiency goal is an important milestone in Rooftop’s business strategy.  This year, we 

have created a new environmental policy which will guide our approach to environmental issues over the next 40 

years.  One of the key steps next year will be to create a new indicator to measure the impact of our new 

approach. 

Our cash operating margin continues to improve.  This is the percentage of income collected remaining after 

deducting our operating costs, which is then used to pay for major maintenance, interest and new development. 

Cost of specific services 

Once again, the results for the cost of our main services are outstanding.  We remain better than average on all 

five measures and in the top 25% for repairs and overheads. 

Compared to the average for our peers, our performance represents an efficiency saving of £1.9 million.   

This year we have spent £7.7 million on major works of which £3.2 million was spent on external wall insulation.  

In addition we were successful in getting £1.6 million funding from British Gas to undertake external cladding to 

682 properties. This deliberate investment in the quality of our homes has directly contributed to us achieving our 

energy efficiency target meaning more of our residents will enjoy warmer homes.   
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A major recent contribution to our very low costs for major works, responsive repairs and estate services is our 

innovative Cost Sharing Vehicle with Fortis Living.  Transferring services to the Cost Sharing Vehicle has been a 

major exercise aimed at saving £700,000 a year.  We recognise that satisfaction with repairs has temporarily fallen, 

but expect this to rise again once the actions we have identified are implemented.       

Our targets for next year are the result of our detailed budgeting and business planning processes.  We aim to 

broadly maintain our current strong performance.  This year we are carrying out a major review of our main 

housing management IT system.  This will increase our overhead costs in the short term, but in the longer term 

we expect this to result in significant improvements to the quality and cost of the services we provide. 

Service outcomes / social return 

Our new Options team have massively outperformed their target.  We initially planned to carry out 400 

independent living assessments last year.  In fact, the team carried out 1,383 assessments which is more than we 

originally intended to do over three years.  These assessments are enabling us to target services more effectively, 

inform other strategies about future needs and to plan for new services.  This year we will review this service and 

how it is structured.  Until we have completed this review, our target remains the same as last year.   

The Options team is part of the innovative new service we created last year, to support our residents following 

the end of Worcestershire County Council’s Supporting People funding.  We intended the service to be funded 

through service charges, but we are still negotiating with housing benefit authorities about whether these charges 

are eligible for housing benefit and have not collected the majority of that income.  This uncollected income has 

affected our percentage of rent collected figures, placing us in a very low position compared to our peers.  If we 

excluded this specific issue, our performance would be better than average. 

New homes are important to us, and we are pleased with the significant increase in satisfaction we have seen this 

year.  We are aiming for further increases next year. 

Our repairs satisfaction has been very disappointing and we believe this is the main reason for the drop in overall 

satisfaction with our services.  During the year we carried out an independent review of our repairs service which 

made some recommendations for improvement.  The management action list has been reviewed by our Audit 

Committee and the actions taken will be independently audited.  In addition, our Head of Asset Management will 

now work jointly for Rooftop and Fortis Property Care to identify and resolve the root cause. This in addition to 

the introduction of MOTs, being proactive with customer service requests and REP review of the Cost Sharing 

Vehicle will improve the service our residents receive. 

We expected our average time to re-let empty homes to increase this year, as we were managing the lettings of 

our new homes and also re-letting homes where residents transfer to our new homes for older people at Yates 

Court, Evesham.  This is part of our strategy to make better use of our assets, by enabling older residents to move 

to more suitable accommodation which will in turn release family accommodation for families on the housing 

waiting list.   

Resident-led scrutiny 

Value for Money is ultimately about improving outcomes for our residents. 

In 2012/13 we set up the Resident Excellence Panel (REP), a resident-led scrutiny group with a focus on improving 

standards and ensuring we provide Value for Money.   

During 2015/16 the REP performed a review on how well Rooftop is responding to welfare reform, as Universal 

Credit is being introduced into our core areas of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire.  The review concluded that 

Rooftop had prepared well and were supporting tenants effectively, and made some recommendations to help 

improve the service further. 

The REP also began reviewing our Cost Sharing Vehicle for repairs and maintenance, which has now been in place 

for two years.  Next year we also plan reviews of voids and service charges. 
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We have continued to arrange Value for Money workshops for the REP and Customer Panel, which have helped 

our residents select scrutiny areas and review and monitor our performance.  This self assessment has been 

reviewed by our Customer Panel.  Customer Panel members have also helped to develop the way we report Value 

for Money in our Residents’ Annual Report. 

Optimising future returns on assets 

In 2013/14, we commissioned Savills to review the performance of our property assets.  Savills told us that: 

“The overall performance of Rooftop’s properties is good.  Financial returns are roughly double those of other 

providers in the region” – Savills 

Savills broke our properties down into the following groups: 

 

The marginal 1.9% group of properties includes our keyworker scheme at Worcestershire Royal Hospital.  Over 

the last two years we have carried out a full review of our non-core housing properties to consider whether any 

action is needed to maximise return on our assets.  The review has concluded that our non-core assets are 

performing well and changes in the health sector have helped to improve performance at our keyworker schemes.   

This year we will update the asset performance model to reflect changes over the last three years.  This will help 

to show us whether any further action is needed. 

The government’s voluntary right to buy scheme also creates a major opportunity for us to review our assets and 

potentially target sales of certain types or locations of homes.  We believe that this could help us to raise £33 

million through property sales by March 2020, which could then be reinvested in new homes and improvements to 

existing homes. 

This year we have also created a formal register of assets and liabilities, which has been independently tested by 

our internal auditors.  This will help us to maximise performance of all our assets in the future. 
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Plans for 2016/17 

This year, the government set us a major challenge by forcing us to cut our rents by 1% a year for four years, 

starting from April 2016.  

In response, our managers and Board carried out a major review which removed £3.1 million of cost a year from 

our Business Plan.  Our 2016/17 budget will deliver the majority of these savings, with others phased in up to 

2019/20.  This is crucial to ensuring our ability to deliver our long term goals.     

We have also started several projects to investigate new ways of saving money, by doing things differently or 

working with partners.  This includes projects to investigate: 

 viability of an off-site manufacturing factory for new homes 

 partnership working in support and care 

 partnership working around the voluntary right to buy scheme 

 the move from specialist teams to generic housing officers. 

By order of the Board 

 

  

   

Martin Holland 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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 Independent auditor’s report to the members of Rooftop Homes Limited 

We have audited the financial statements of Rooftop Homes Limited for the year ended 31st March 2016 which 

comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes 

in Reserves and the related notes.  The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 

applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland”. 

Respective responsibilities of The Board and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board’s Responsibilities set out on page 4, the Board is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. This report is made solely to the Association’s members, as a body, 

in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and Chapter 4 of Part 2 

of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008.  Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Association’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other 

purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than 

the Association and its members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 

at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

  give a true and fair view of the state of the Association’s affairs as at 31st March 2016 and of the Association’s 

surplus for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland”; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 

Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered 

Providers of Social Housing 2015. 

 

 

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion; 

 the Association has not kept proper books of account; or 

 a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 

 

Mazars LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Date 22 August 2016 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 
  

For the year ended 31 March 2016     2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

     

Turnover   2 2,828 2,775 

Operating expenditure   2 (1,291) (1,328) 

Operating surplus   2 1,537 1,447 

Surplus on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment  

  4 - 17 

Interest receivable   8 3 6 

Interest and financing costs  9 (995) (976) 

Surplus on revaluation of investment properties 11 26 59 

Surplus before tax  7 571 553 

Taxation  10 (89) (145) 

Surplus for the year      482 408 

Total comprehensive income for the year     482 408 
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Statement of Financial Position 

As at 31 March 2016 
  

 Notes 2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

    

Fixed assets    

Housing properties 11 19,898 20,191 

Investment properties 11 2,882 2,853 

    22,780 23,044 

Current assets       

Debtors 12 327 278 

Cash 13 467 414 

    794 692 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 14 (1,784) (1,729) 

Net current liabilities   (990) (1,037) 

Total assets less current liabilities   21,790 22,007 

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 15  (19,364) (20,028) 

Provision for liabilities and charges 16  (117) (152) 

Net assets  2,309 1,827 

Capital and reserves       

Share capital 17 - - 

Revenue reserve  2,309 1,827 

Total reserves   2,309 1,827 

 

The financial statements of Rooftop Homes Limited were approved by the Board and were signed on its behalf by:  

 

 

 

  

 Secetary Board Member

 

Board Member
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Statement of Changes in Reserves 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
  Revenue 

reserve 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 1,419 1,419 

Surplus for the year 408 408 

Balance at 31 March 2015 1,827 1,827 

Surplus for the year 482 482 

Balance at 31 March 2016 2,309 2,309 
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1. Principal accounting policies  

 

Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair 

value, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council and 

comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social housing providers 2014 (SORP), the 

Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 

Housing 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and applies the relevant paragraphs 

prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Statement of compliance 

This is the first year the Association has prepared its financial statements in accordance with FRS 102, accordingly 

the financial information as at 1 April 2014 (being the date of transition) and for the year ended 31 March 2015 

have been restated for material adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 in the current year. 

Group accounts 

The consolidated financial statements for Rooftop Housing Group Limited incorporate the financial statements of 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited, Rooftop Homes Limited, Rooftop Support and Care Limited and Rooftop 

Management Limited.  These entities are all subsidiaries within the meaning of the Co-operative and Community 

Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Localism Act 2011.   

Turnover 

Turnover represents rental and service charge income, fees and  grants receivable.   

Service charges 

The Association operates variable and fixed service charges depending on the requirements of the respective 

tenancy agreements.  Where the charge is variable an assessment is made of whether costs have been over or 

under recovered and an appropriate prepayment or accrual provided for in the accounts. 

Housing Properties 

Housing properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost 

of the properties is their purchase price together with improvement costs and incidental costs of acquisition, 

including capitalised interest and development administration. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write down the net book value of housing properties to their estimated residual 

value on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives as follows: 

General Needs 100 years 

Sheltered and Supported 100 years 

Non-traditional 15 years 

Garages 25 years 

Leasehold property Over life of the lease 

Shared ownership 100 years 

Component Accounting 

Major components are treated as separable assets and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives or 

the lives of the properties to which they relate, if shorter, at the following annual rates: 
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Roofs 75 years 

Windows 40 years 

Doors 40 years 

Boilers 15 years 

Kitchens 20 years 

Bathrooms 30 years 

Heating 30 years 

Electrics 30 years 

Lifts 30 years 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  

Housing properties in the course of construction are stated at cost and are not depreciated.  They are transferred 

into housing properties when completed. 

Land donated, or acquired below market value is included in cost at its valuation, with the donation treated as a 

capital grant when it relates to a specific project. 

The market rent properties are investment properties in accordance with FRS 102 and are not depreciated but are 

measured at fair value annually with any change recognised in surplus or deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

Impairment 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether an indicator of impairment exists. If such an indicator 

exists, an impairment assessment is carried out and an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made. 

Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and fair 

value less costs to sell. 

Capitalisation of interest 

Interest on the loan financing a development is capitalised from the purchase of land or property and/or the start 

on site up to the date of practical completion.   

Major and cyclical repairs and maintenance 

The Group only capitalises major repairs expenditure on housing properties where it increases the net rental 

stream by: 

 extending its useful economic life or 

 the improvement enables a higher rental income to be charged  

All other major repairs expenditure is charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provisions 

The Association only provides for contractual and constructive liabilities where it has a present obligation to 

transfer economic benefits as a result of past events, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will result 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  

Leased assets 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which 

they relate.  There are no finance leases.  

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

The Group is VAT registered but the majority of its income, being housing rents, and right to buy sales, is exempt 

for VAT purposes and this gives rise to a partial exemption calculation.  Expenditure is therefore shown inclusive 

of VAT and the input VAT recovered is deducted from lettings expenditure.  From October 2013 RHA, RHL and 

RS&C became members of a cost sharing group which provides property repair services to the Group. 
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Deferred taxation 

The payment of taxation is deferred or accelerated because of timing differences between the treatment of certain 

items for accounting and taxation purposes.  Full provision for deferred taxation is made under the liability method 

on all timing differences that have arisen, but not reversed by the balance sheet date, unless such provision is not 

permitted by FRS 102. 

Deferred tax is not provided for in respect of gains on the sale of non-monetary assets, if the taxable gain will 

probably be rolled over, or on revaluation gains on housing properties unless there is a binding agreement to sell 

them at the balance sheet date. 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges 

recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial Instruments classified as non-basic 

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains and losses arising from year to year being 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Service charge sinking funds 

Unutilised contributions to service charge sinking funds are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial 

Position. The amount included in liabilities in respect of service charge sinking funds includes interest credited to 

the fund.   

Significant management judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and labilities, income and expenses.  The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to account estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Significant management judgements 

The following are management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Association that have the 

most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of social housing properties 

The Association has to make an assessment as to whether an indicator of impairment exists.  In making the 

judgement, management considered the detailed criteria set out in the SORP.   

Estimation uncertainty 

The Association makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

Fair value measurement 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of non-basic financial instruments. Management 

base the assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available.  In that case, 

management uses the best information available.  Estimated fair values may vary from the actual price that would 

be achievable in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.   
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2. Particulars of turnover, operating costs & operating surplus 
  

    2016     2015   

    Operating Operating   Operating Operating 
  Turnover costs surplus Turnover costs surplus 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Social housing lettings 2,341 (1,178) 1,163 2,292 (1,206) 1,086 

Activities other than social housing 487 (113) 374 483 (122) 361 

Total 2,828 (1,291) 1,537 2,775 (1,328) 1,447 
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3. Particulars of income and expenditure from social housing 

lettings 
  

     2016 

  Keyworker Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

        

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 1,483 312 1,795 

Service charge income 546 - 546 

Turnover from social housing lettings 2,029 312 2.341 

     

Management 157 48 205 

Services 493 13 506 

Routine maintenance 139 22 161 

Planned maintenance 29 - 29 

Rent losses from bad debts 9 1 10 

Depreciation of housing properties 238 29 267 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 1,065 113 1,178 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 964 199 1,163 

Rent losses from voids 79 25 104 

    

  

     2015 

  Keyworker Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 

        

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges 1,398 311 1,709 

Service charge income 583 - 583 

Turnover from social housing lettings 1,981 311 2,292 

     

Management 148 38 186 

Services 583 12 595 

Routine maintenance 107 33 140 

Planned maintenance 12 3 15 

Rent losses from bad debts (2) 5 3 

Depreciation of housing properties 238 29 267 

Operating costs on social housing lettings 1,086 120 1,206 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings 895 191 1,086 

Rent losses from voids 130 26 156 
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4. Sale of housing accommodation 
  2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Property disposals    

Receipts from sale of housing property - 22 

Book value of properties sold - (5) 

Other operating costs and costs of disposal - - 

Surplus on sale of property - 17 

 

5. Directors’ emoluments and expenses 
 
The directors are defined as the members of the Board and the executive officers as given on page 42. The directors are paid by Rooftop 
Housing Group Limited and these details are presented in the parent company accounts. 

 

6. Employee information 
 

RHL does not directly employ any staff, they are all employed by the parent Rooftop Housing Group Limited. The details are provided in the 

parent company accounts. 

7. Surplus before taxation  
 
  2016 

£’000 

 

2015 

£’000 

 

The surplus before taxation is stated after charging    

Depreciation 301 301 

External auditor’s remuneration (excluding value added tax)    

- in their capacity as auditor 2 2 

 

8. Interest receivable   
  2016 

£’000 

2015      

£’000 

Bank interest 3 6 

 

9. Interest and financing costs 
  2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Bank loans and overdrafts  757 738 

Total interest payable on loans from another group undertaking 238 238 

Total  995 976 

Total interest payable of £995,000 includes £9,810 in respect of adjustments of basic financial instruments to effective interest rate. 
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10. Taxation 

 

  2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

   

Current tax:     

UK corporation tax on surplus for the period 124 157 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods - - 

Total current tax 124 157 

    

Deferred tax:   

Origination and reversal of timing differences (20) (12) 

Adjustment in respect of prior periods - - 

Effect of change in tax rate on opening liability (15) - 

Total deferred tax (35) (12) 

    

Tax on surplus on ordinary activities 89 145 

    

Factors affecting tax charge for the period    

The tax assessed for the period is lower (2015: higher) than the standard rate of corporation 

tax in the UK of 20% (2015 - 21%) as explained below: 

   

     

Surplus on ordinary activities before tax 571 553 

    

Surplus on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 

20% (2015 - 21%) 114 116 

Effects of:   

Fixed asset differences 34 53 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 14 

Capital gains chargeable for the period (3) 2 

Adjust closing deferred tax to average rate (12) - 

Income not taxable for tax purposes (44) (40) 

Total tax charge for the period 89 145 

      

RHL is recognised by the HM Revenue & Customs as an investment company for taxation purposes.  
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11. Tangible fixed assets 
 

  

 

Housing 

properties for 
lettings 

Investment 

properties 

Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £’000 

At 1 April 2015 22,725 2,853 25,578 

Works to existing properties 2 3 5 

Additions - - - 

Disposals - - - 

Revaluation - 26 26 

At 31 March 2016 22,727 2,882 25,609 

        

Depreciation       

At 1 April 2015 2,534 - 2,534 

Disposals (6) - (6) 

Charge for the year 301 - 301 

Revaluation - - - 

At 31 March 2016 2,829 - 2,829 

        

Net book value at 31 March 2016 19,898 2,882 22,780 

Net book value at 31 March 2015 20,191 2,853 23,044 

        

Cost or valuation at 31 March 2016 is represented by: 

Gross cost 22,727 1,998 24,725 

Revaluation - 884 884 

Total 22,727 2,882 25,609 

  

 
The net book value of social housing properties held on a long term lease is £2.8 million (2015: £3.0 million).   
  

Investment properties, which are all freehold, were valued to fair value at 31 March 2016 based on a valuation undertaken by Savills, Chartered 

Surveyors.  Housing properties for lettings are accounted for at historic cost but have been valued for funders’ purposes at £29.7 million as 

follows: 

RHL’s housing stock and other assets have been valued on the basis of market value, subject to leases and tenancies (as appropriate). This 

assumes that: in the case of the private rented stock that properties could be sold on the open market with vacant possession following 

termination of the assured shorthold tenancies; in the case of the keyworker properties and residential care home the capitalised net income 

arising from the various lease arrangements; and the garages on the basis of capitalised net income assuming continued existing use. The garages 

valuation also takes into account the redevelopment potential at a number of sites. 

Varying assumptions such as discount rate have been used reflecting the characteristics and methodology applicable in each case.  

Savills, Chartered Surveyors, carried out the valuation in accordance with the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards  

manual. The valuer is ‘external’ and the valuation is as at 31 March 2016. The total value of all housing properties including investment 

properties is £32.6 million (2015: £32.2 million). 

Gross expenditure on components was £15,000 and the cost of replaced components written off was £10,000. 
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Total expenditure on works to existing properties: 

  2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

   

Amounts capitalised - replacement of components  5 3 

 5 3 

Amounts charged to statement of comprehensive income  29 15 

Total  34 18 

 

 

12. Debtors 
  2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

Amounts receivable within one year     

Rents and service charges 264 122 

Less: provision for doubtful debts (35) (23) 

  229 99 

Amounts due from parent undertaking - 41 

Amounts due from other group undertakings 3 5 

Prepayments and accrued income 95 133 

Total 327 278 

The net present value adjustment required in respect of agreement to pay (ATP) arrears is immaterial. 

13. Cash at bank and in-hand  

There were no specific charges on RHL’s cash at bank and in-hand at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015.  

 

14. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  
  2016 

£’000 
2015 
£’000 

Housing loan repayable within one year 675 656 

Trade creditors 156 182 

Interest payable 49 44 

Corporation tax 40 71 

Amounts due to parent undertaking 6 - 

Amounts due to another group undertaking 70 - 

Other accruals 788 776 

Total 1,784 1,729 
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15. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year   

   2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Housing Loans     

Repayable between one and two years 688 673 

Repayable between two and five years 2,909 2,827 

Repayable, otherwise than by instalments, in five years or more 11,393 12,164 

Loan from another group undertaking, repayable in five years or more 4,374 4,364 

Total loans repayable 19,364 20,028 

 

Housing loans are secured by specific charges on certain of RHL’s housing properties. The interest rates are fixed between 4.5% and 6.4% or 

vary with market rates. Of the £5.8 million facility agreed with Nationwide Building Society, and £13.0 million facility agreed with RHA, 

£5,796,424 and £3,810,000 has been drawn down respectively (2015: £6,059,392 and £3,810,000).  The total long term loan facility for RHL is 

currently £30.3 million which includes a £11.5 million facility with Lloyds Bank of which £9,900,000 (2015: £10,300,000) has been drawn down 

and is due for repayment by 2039. 

  

16. Provisions for liabilities and charges 
  2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

Deferred taxation     

At 1 April 152 164 

Charge for the period (35) (12) 

At 31 March 117 152 

The deferred taxation provision comprises:   

Other timing differences 20 25 

Accelerated capital allowances 97 127 

At 31 March 117 152 

 

17. Share capital  
   2016 

£ 
2015 

£ 

Shares of £1 each issued and fully paid     

At 1 April 6 5 

Issued during the year 1 1 

Cancelled during the year - - 

At 31 March 7 6 

 

The share capital of RHL consists of shares with a nominal value of £1 each, which carries no rights to dividends or other income. Shares in 

issue are not capable of being repaid or transferred. Where a shareholder ceases to be a member, that person’s share is cancelled and the 

amount paid by them then becomes the property of RHL. Therefore, all shareholdings relate to non-equity interests and there are no equity 

interests in RHL.   
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18. Financial instruments 
 

The carrying values of the Association’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below: 

 

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Financial assets   

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:   

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 12) 229 99 

Amounts due from related undertakings (see note 12) 3 46 

  232 145 

Financial liabilities   

Measured at amortised cost:   

Loans payable (see note 14,15) 20,039 20,684 

   

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:   

Trade and other creditors (see note 14) 196 253 

Amounts owed to related undertakings (see note 14) 76 0 

 20,311 20,937 

The income, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are summarised below:   

Interest expense   

Total interest expense for housing loans at amortised cost 995 976 

 

 

19. Legislative Provision 

RHL is incorporated under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, and is registered with the Homes and Communities 

Agency under the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008. 
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20. Units  

     2016  2015  

  Owned and 

managed  

Managed  

by others  

Total  Total  

Under development at the end of the year        

Units for rent - - - - 

     

Under management at the end of the year     

  Keyworker 228 119 347 349 

  Keyworker office accommodation 32 - 32 32 

  Intermediate rent 7 - 7 7 

Total units social housing 267 119 386 388 

Residential care homes - 46 46 46 

Market renting 45 - 45 44 

Total units non-social housing 45 46 91 90 

      

Total units  312 165 477 478 

21. Contingent liabilities and financial commitments 

In the view of the Board there is little likelihood of any liability arising in respect of any indemnities and, therefore, no provision is reflected in 

these financial statements. 

RHL has no outstanding commitment to maintenance and servicing contracts.  

  

22. Related party transactions 

During the year interest of £228,600 (2015: £228,600) was charged by another Group member, Rooftop Housing Association Limited.  A 

management fee of £273,663 (2015: £246,868) was charged by the immediate parent undertaking, Rooftop Housing Group Limited.   

Transactions with Board Members are at arms length on normal commercial terms and they cannot use their position to their advantage. 

From October 2013 RHL became a shareholder in Fortis Property Care Limited which provides property services to the Group including 

responsive repairs, planned maintenance, grounds maintenance and gas servicing. The services are provided at cost and the amount charged to 

RHL during the year was £57,389 (2015: £59,004) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £0). 

  

23. Ultimate and immediate parent undertaking  

Rooftop Homes Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of Rooftop Housing Group Limited. Rooftop Housing Group Limited is a Registered 

Society registered in England. 
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24. Transition to FRS 102 

This is the first year that the Group and its subsidiaries have presented their financial statements under Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 

102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  The following disclosures are required in the year of transition.  The last financial statements 

under previous UK GAAP were for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the date of transition to FRS 102 was therefore 1 April 2014.  As a 

consequence of adopting FRS 102, a number of accounting policies have changed to comply with that standard. 

 

In carrying out the transition to FRS 102, the Group has not applied any of the optional exemptions as permitted by Section 35 Transition to 

this FRS. 

 

Housing Properties 

Under previous UK GAAP the Group had a policy of revaluing housing land and buildings. On transition to FRS 102 the Group has elected to 

revert to historic cost. Properties held to earn commercial rentals or for capital appreciation or both are classified as investment properties 

and continue to be measured at fair value annually with no depreciation charged and any change in value now recognised in surplus in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Designated Reserves 

The balances previously held in designated reserves in respect of sinking funds have been transferred to creditors. 

 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction price and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges recognised as an expense in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.  Financial instruments classified as non-basic are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains 

and losses arising from year to year being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2014 for the Association – date of transition to FRS 102 

 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 22,730     22,730 

Revaluation 6,317 -6,317    0 

Depreciation 0 -2,238    -2,238 

Total 29,047     20,492 

Investment properties Cost 1,994     1,994 

Fair Value 800 -800  800  800 

Total 2,794     2,794 

Total Housing Properties 31,841     23,286 

Total fixed assets 31,841     23,286 

Current assets       

Debtors 209     209 

Cash 1,208     1,208 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Housing loan -451     -451 

Other creditors -2,451  -203   -2,654 

Net current assets -1,485     -1,688 

Creditors due after 1 year       

Housing loans -15,660     -15,660 

Loan from another group undertaking -4,003    -352 -4,355 

Deferred tax -146   -18  -164 

Net assets 10,547 -9,355 -203 782 -352 1,419 

       

Capital and reserves       

Revaluation reserve 9,373 -9,373    0 

Designated reserve 529  -529   0 

Revenue reserve 645 18 326 782 -352 1,419 

Total capital and reserves 10,547 -9,355 -203 782 -352 1,419 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2015 for the Association 

 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 22,725     22,725 

Revaluation 6,623 -6,623    0 

Depreciation 0 -2,534    -2,534 

Total 29,348     20,191 

Investment properties Cost 1,995     1,995 

Fair Value 858 -858  858  858 

Total 2,853     2,853 

Total Housing Properties 32,201     23,044 

Total fixed assets 32,201     23,044 

Current assets       

Debtors 278     278 

Cash 414     414 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Housing loan -656     -656 

Other creditors -820  -253   -1,073 

Net current assets -784     -1,037 

Creditors due after 1 year       

Housing loans -15,664     -15,664 

Loans from another group undertaking -4,003    -361 -4,364 

Deferred tax -127   -25  -152 

Net assets 11,623 -10,015 -253 833 -361 1,827 

       

Capital and reserves       

Revaluation reserve 10,038 -10,015 -23   0 

Designated reserve 579  -579   0 

Revenue reserve 1,006  349 833 -361 1,827 

Total capital and reserves 11,623 -10,015 -253 833 -361 1,827 
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for year ended 31 March 2015  

 

  Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s UK GAAP as 
previously 
reported 

Change to 
cost 

Sinking 
Funds 

Investment 
Properties 

Financial 
Instruments 

basic 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Turnover 2,865  -90   2,775 

Operating expenditure -1,370 2 40   -1,328 

Operating surplus 1,495 2 -50 0 0 1,447 

Surplus/(deficit) on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment 

0 17    17 

Interest receivable 6     6 

Interest and financing costs -967    -9 -976 

Change in fair value of financial 
instruments 

0     0 

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of 
investment properties 

0   59  59 

Surplus before tax 534 19 -50 59 -9 553 

Taxation -138   -7  -145 

Surplus for the year 396 19 -50 52 -9 408 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

396 19 -50 52 -9 408 
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Report of the Board 
 

The Board is pleased to present the Report of the Board, the Strategic Report and the audited financial statements 

for the year ended 31 March 2016. The reports and financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Co-

operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued 

by the Financial Reporting Council. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and applies the 

relevant paragraphs prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Group structure 

Rooftop Support and Care Limited (RS&C), previously G3 (Inspiring Individuals) Limited and formerly Gloucester 

Youth Housing Association, was incorporated on 4 April 1986 as a charitable Registered Society (25211R) and 

joined the Rooftop Housing Group Limited (RHG) on 1 October 2009. The Group parent is a non-asset holding, 

non-charitable Registered Society (29661R), registered with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) (L4404), 

providing operational and corporate services including treasury management, information and communication 

technology, and human resources for the whole Group. 

As a charitable Registered Society, RS&C has a shareholding membership policy, where each member holds one 

fully paid share of £1 in the Association, which is cancelled when their membership ends. Membership is open and 

applications are welcome from residents and business people from the communities that RS&C serves. Nothing 

will be paid by way of surplus or dividend to shareholders. RS&C changed its name from G3 (Inspiring Individuals) 

Limited on 19 October 2015. 

Senior management team 

The senior management team detailed on page 39 under the heading ‘Executive officers’, served from 1 April 2015 

to the date of this report unless otherwise stated. 

Principal activities 

RS&C is committed to providing a service to the communities of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire in order to 

alleviate the problem of young homelessness and the hardship, vulnerability and inequality this brings.  It aims to 

achieve this through the provision of a variety of housing and support options and to assist them through to 

independence. RS&C provides all support services for the Group which includes the young homeless traditionally 

provided by RS&C, along with older people support previously provided by Rooftop Housing Association (RHA). 

The Board  

RS&C is governed within the framework set by its rules as a Registered Society.  These state that RS&C will have a 

Board and determine its membership. The Board is responsible for overall strategic direction of RS&C, including 

the determination of key policies and monitoring of compliance with both policies and performance targets. The 

Board Members contribute to and share responsibility for decisions. 

The Board consists of six members, drawn for their professional, commercial and local knowledge. The Board 

Members bring to the Association a wide range of skills, experience and expertise. In making appointments to the 

Board the Association seeks members with a wide range of skills that it requires to effectively manage its business.  

Members of the Board as at the date of this report are listed on pages 39 to 42 together with brief biographical 

details.  Each member of the Board and RHG holds one fully paid share of £1 in RS&C. The day-to-day operation 

of RS&C is delegated to the Group Chief Executive and Directors. They do not have the legal status of directors, 

but they act as executives within the authority delegated by the Board.  The executives hold no interest in RS&C’s 

share capital and are not members of the Board.  
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Board Member obligations 

There are six general duties of all Board Members. This is enshrined in company law and is common with 

community benefit societies law.  

 To act within the powers of the Association 

 To promote the success of the Association for the benefit of its members as a whole paying regard to:  

o long-term consequences 

o employee interests 

o relationships with customers, suppliers, regulators and other stakeholders 

o operational impact upon the environment and communities 

o the need to maintain high standards of conduct and probity and to act fairly 

 To exercise independent judgement 

 To exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence 

 To avoid conflicts of interest 

 Not to accept benefits from third parties. 

 

Obligations 

Each Board Member shares the responsibility, along with other Board Members, for directing the affairs of the 

Association and ensuring it is solvent, well-run and delivering the outcomes for which it has been set up. 

The role of a Board Member and of the Board as a team includes, to:   

Strategy and purpose: 

 set out the vision for the Association, define its values, mission and overall direction, then protect and 

uphold these 

 make sure there are policies, strategies and plans in place to deliver the objects set out in the 

Association’s Rules, and that they are being delivered effectively 

 make sure the Association complies with its own Rules, and all the laws and regulations that apply to it. 

 

Compliance and integrity:  

 to make sure the Association complies with registered society law under the Co-operative and 

Community Benefit Societies Act 2014, and with the requirements of the social housing regulator   

 ensure that the Association complies with its own Rules and remains true to its purpose and objects 

comply with the requirements of all the legislation and other regulators (if any) that govern the 

Association’s activities 

 act with integrity and avoid any personal conflicts of interest or misuse of the Association’s funds or 

assets. 

 

Financial viability and risk assurance: 

 ensure that the Association is and will remain solvent 

 use funds and assets reasonably and only in furtherance of the Association’s objects as set out in its 

governing document 

 avoid undertaking activities that might place the Association’s funds, assets or reputation at undue risk 

 ensure an effective assurance framework supports the achievement of the Association’s strategic 

objectives 

 take special care when borrowing funds or investing funds. 

 

Duty of care: 

 use reasonable skill and care in working as a Board Member, using personal skills and experience as 

needed, to ensure that the Association is well-run and efficient 

 seek external professional advice on all matters where there may be a material risk to the Association, or 

where Board Members may be in breach of their duties.  
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General: 

 always act in the Association’s best interests 

 uphold the Association’s purpose, values, objectives and policies 

 uphold the values of the Association through high standards of conduct, behaviour and probity, and by 

complying with the organisation’s code of conduct, rules, standing orders, probity policy and financial 

regulations 

 contribute to, and share responsibility for, the Board’s decisions, including its duty to exercise reasonable 

care, skill and independent judgement 

 prepare for and attend meetings, training sessions and other events 

 participate in reviews of Board performance, measures designed to develop the Board’s capacity and 

effectiveness, and the Board Member appraisal system 

 declare any relevant interests and avoid conflicts of interest 

 respect the confidentiality of information 

 ensure your skills are kept up to date and that you participate in training sessions 

 declare any hospitality or gifts offered to you in your capacity as members of the Boards or its 

committees 

 uphold the National Housing Federation's Code of Governance.  

 

Audit Committee 

The Group parent, RHG, is responsible for arranging all internal and external audit services throughout the Group. 

The Group Board has delegated initial responsibility for audit functions to an Audit Committee, which comprises 

Board Members from across the Group. The current membership is: 

 Robin Richmond (Interim Chair), RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C 

 Malcolm Robson, RHG 

 Sheila Kettley, RHG, RHA, RHL, RS&C  

 Keith Rolfe, RHG 

The members of the Audit Committee are chosen for their appropriate skills, while representing the composition 

of the Group. 

The Audit Committee has responsibility for reviewing the adequacy of all risk and control related statements prior 

to endorsement by the relevant Boards, reviewing the effectiveness of internal control systems, including 

management, financial, operational and risk controls so that the Group can be reasonably assured that appropriate 

and effective risk management arrangements are in place. 

Resident involvement 

The purpose of Rooftop Housing Group’s Resident Panels is to enable Rooftop residents to be at the heart of 

Rooftop’s decision-making processes and help to ensure excellent and value for money services to our residents. 

The aim of our resident involvement activity is:  

 to be a voice for Rooftop residents within Rooftop’s governance structures and working in partnership 

with Rooftop staff 

 to enable residents to scrutinise and shape services 

 to monitor and review performance. 

To achieve these aims and objectives, there are now three parts to Rooftop’s Resident Panel structure with the 

following purposes: 

The Customer Panel: we have up to 20 resident members who meet regularly to discuss services.  This panel acts 

as the main voice of Rooftop residents and the hub for resident involvement activity. 
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The Resident Excellence Panel: these residents operate our tenant scrutiny to ensure that we provide good quality 

services.  They also lead, plan and support the work of the Customer Panel and are accountable to the Board 

through the Audit Committee. 

The AptQuest Team: these residents seek the views and concerns of all our residents via a regular programme of 

customer phone surveys. 

The head office for the services is in Evesham.  The young people services are managed from an office in 

Gloucester while the older people services are managed from the head office. 

Much of the support is provided through a floating service or at a number of local hubs in sheltered or other 

supported housing schemes. 

The above arrangements are considered the most appropriate way of making sure that RS&C provides the best 

possible service to its residents. 

Code of governance 

The Board has formally adopted the National Housing Federation’s Code of governance, and Code of Conduct 

(2012). The Board has formally assessed its compliance against the Code of governance and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Governance and Financial Viability Standard 

The Board has assessed compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability Standard and confirms that the 

organisation is compliant. 

Statement of the Board’s financial responsibilities 

The Board is required by law to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which give a true and fair view 

of the state of affairs of RS&C and of the surplus or deficit for that period. In preparing those financial statements, 

the Board is required to: 

 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

 state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, unless it is inappropriate to presume that 

RS&C will continue in business. 

The Board is responsible for maintaining proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at 

any time, the financial position of RS&C, and to enable it to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014. 

The Board is also responsible for maintaining a satisfactory system of control over the accounting records and 

transactions, and for safeguarding the assets of RS&C, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 

detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Internal controls assurance statement 

The Board is the ultimate governing body and is responsible for Rooftop’s system of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness.  The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of 

failure to achieve Rooftop’s business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance 

against material misstatement or loss.   

The Board confirms there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced 

by Rooftop, that has been in place for the year under review and up to the date of approval of the annual report 

and accounts, and that this process is regularly reviewed by the Board. 

During 2015/16, the Board and/or Audit Committee have received the following evidence to support the 

effectiveness of the internal controls: 



   

  Page 5 

RS&C annual report and financial statements 2016 

 Rooftop employs independent internal auditors to assess its controls and make recommendations for 

improvements.   

 The internal audit annual plan is set by Audit Committee and is designed to ensure a broad scope of 

reviews, covering not just key financial systems but also operational performance and strategic control.  

During 2015/16, Audit Committee received seven assurance reviews including: 

o key financial systems – rent setting; treasury management 

o operational management – arrears 

o strategic control – governance; asset and liabilities register. 

 Each audit gives an overall assessment of the reliance that can be placed on the controls, with four 

categories (in descending order): full, substantial, limited or no assurance.  All seven reviews were found 

to provide substantial assurance (the second highest rating).   

 Where the auditors make recommendations for improvement, a management response is provided and 

this is reviewed by Audit Committee.  Delivery of those recommendations is then closely monitored 

through half-yearly follow-up reviews. 

 Risks are reviewed by Executive Team and Managers at a quarterly meeting with changes reported to 

Audit Committee. The Risk Map is reviewed by the Board through the quarterly pack and is available to 

members and staff on a continual basis.   

 The Board is aware that Rooftop’s external environment is changing and that risk management must adapt 

to keep pace with this.  There has been a major review of our approach to risk management, including 

rationalising our risk map and introducing a documented risk appetite statement. 

 Management reports on operational and financial matters. All board reports include a risk management 

summary which clearly shows any risks identified. 

 Rooftop is a member of the HouseMark benchmarking group.  This provides valuable information on the 

efficiency and effectiveness of Rooftop at achieving its objectives, both compared to other similar 

organisations and compared to Rooftop’s historic performance. 

 Quarterly performance pack which includes monitoring reports, performance against goals and projects 

and key performance indicators.   

 We have made further improvements to our treasury reporting, and also updated our treasury 

management policy, with the support of our independent treasury advisors.  This has been independently 

reviewed by our internal auditors who found our processes gave substantial assurance. 

 Group budgets which are approved by the boards following a review of the annual budget process by the 

Audit Committee for compliance with the Group budget parameters and financial policies. 

 A robust Business Plan based on clear assumptions and sensitivity-tested to ensure Rooftop understands 

the effects of any potential changes in its environment. 

 Resident involvement impact assessment by an external consultant every two years. 

 Annual ICT penetration test. 

 All policies and strategies are approved by the Board, Audit Committee or Executive Team.  

 Fraud and hospitality registers. 

 External auditor’s reports and management letter. 

 A detailed review of the 2015 Sector Risk Profile published by the Homes and Communities Agency. 

 Rooftop was recognised as one of the Best 100 Not-for-Profit organisations to work for the second year 

running. 
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 The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) carried out an In Depth Assessment (IDA) of Rooftop in 

January 2016.  Rooftop continues to have the highest possible ratings for both Governance and Financial 

Viability from the HCA. 

There were no identified weaknesses in internal controls, which resulted in material losses, contingencies or 

uncertainties that require disclosure in these financial statements. 

Employees 

Within the Group structure all staff are employed by RHG, the Group parent. RHG is committed to promoting 

equality of opportunity in employment practices. Applications for employment from persons with black or minority 

ethnic origin or disability are given full and fair consideration for all vacancies. In the event of an employee 

becoming disabled, every effort is made to retain them so that their employment with the Group may continue. It 

is the policy of the Group that training, career development and promotion opportunities should be available to all 

employees. 

The Group has continued its practice of consulting and keeping employees informed on matters that affect them, 

and on the progress of the Group. This is carried out in a number of ways including; formal consultation with the 

employee forum, departmental meetings, and a company wide briefing session. In 2011 the Group was awarded 

Investors in People Gold accreditation and was re-accredited in 2015. 

Health and safety 

The Board is aware of its responsibility on all matters relating to health and safety. They have prepared health and 

safety policies and ensured all staff have undergone a programme of training on health and safety matters and have 

established a Safety Committee. 

Insurance 

RS&C maintains insurance policies for members of the Board and executive directors, against liabilities in relation 

to RS&C. 

Political and charitable donations 

RS&C did not make any political contributions or charitable donations (2015: £0). 

Post balance sheet events 

The Board considers that there have been no events since the year end that have had a significant effect on RS&C’s 

financial position. 

Going concern 

The Board considers that it has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable future. For this 

reason, it continues to adopt the ‘going concern’ principle in the financial statements. 

Annual General Meeting 

The Annual General Meeting will be held on 21 September 2016. 

External auditor 

We are planning to retender audit services during 2016/17 following expiry of the current contract. 
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Disclosure of information to the auditor 

In the case of each of the persons who are Board Members of the Association at the date when this report was 

approved: 

 so far as each of the Board Members is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

company’s auditor is unaware; and 

 each of the Board Members has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Board Member to 

make him/herself aware of any relevant audit information (as defined) and to establish that the company’s 

auditor is aware of that information. 

By order of the Board 

   

  

 

 

Robin Richmond 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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Strategic report 
Objectives and strategy 

 Mission statement 

 ‘Our mission is to improve the quality of life of people and the communities in which they live.’ 

 Business Plan 2013 – 2023 

 Our group has four objectives: delivering excellent services; meeting the housing needs of communities and 

contributing towards cohesive and inclusive communities; making the best use of our resources; and encouraging 

innovation and improvement in all we do. 

Two new cross-cutting themes introduced in April 2015 are now reflected in our planning and operational 

practices.  These are:- 

 Sustainability – which covers responsible planning and management of resources.  The initial review in 

2015-16 has determined the scope and impact of this ‘green’ initiative and is reflected in our new 

Environmental Policy 

 Value for money – to cover our decision making processes, our return on assets, performance 

management and the scrutiny process and to promote a fuller understanding of costs and outcomes.   

This is reported in our annual VFM self assessment which is published on our website and included in this 

report. 

 Objective 1  Excellent services 

 ‘We will develop, deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers’. 

 Goals: 

 Carry out a three year programme of two scrutiny reviews per year 

 Ensure customers enjoy excellent access to services and customer care. 

 Objective 2  Community needs 

   ‘Working with partners, we will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities integrated 

with supported housing services, developing new build and asset reinvestment schemes that respond to housing 

needs identified by national and regional strategies that are environmentally sustainable.’ 

 Objective 2.1 Community needs – Through new homes 

 Goals: 

 HCA Affordable Homes Guarantee Programme 2015 -17 

 HCA Programme NAHP (National Affordable Housing Programme) 2015-18 

 During the period 2015-18 deliver 140 homes a year and secure funding through the Homes and 

Communities Agency, internal resources or other funding sources 

 Support the National Armed Forces Community Covenant through the provision of 30 new homes for 

former military personnel and their families by 2020, working with national specialist support charities. 

 Assemble a rolling land bank comprising:  

o All sites for contracted HCA schemes (approved budget) 

o Additional sites available for immediate development to provide 150 homes (budget £2.5m from within 

approved 10 year business plan provision for land purchase)  
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o Strategic land for future years (additional budget of £5 million over 10 years from April 2015 for 

purchase of options and land). 

 Objective 2.2 Community needs – Through existing homes 

 Goals: 

 Improve the environmental sustainability and affordability of our homes  

 During 2015-16 we carried out a wide reaching review of our approach to consider the options for long-

term sustainability, and this has resulted in the new environmental policy which establishes our 

sustainability standards for new homes, existing homes, design of our estates and the way Rooftop will 

deliver services over the next 40 years. 

Objective 2.3 Community needs – Through work in the community 

 Goals: 

 Provide accommodation and services to support Gypsy Roma Traveller households  

 Our Community Investment Goal is to invest a minimum of £500k of people and cash resources annually 

in our local communities, measuring the outcomes of community initiatives that demonstrate the best 

social value return 

During 2015-16 the Community Investment strategy was fundamentally reviewed to include the role of RHG in a 

‘dementia friendly’ society 

 Our Financial Inclusion Goal is by 2017 to offer work, family and money advice to all of our residents of 

working age in receipt of benefits (approximately 1,000). 

Objective 2.4 Community needs – Through providing support services we will enable residents of 

the Rooftop Group and the wider community to lead active and independent lifestyles 

Goals: 

 Implement organisational changes to deliver the Rooftop Support and Care revised 2014-2019 five year 

business plan, together with ambition to grow the volume of services by 10% by 2019 

Business development projects feature under this goal as does the project to “Implement the recommendations of 

the Support and Care Working Party” 

 Independent living – To support and help at least 1,000 older people, both Rooftop residents and from 

the wider community, to live independent lives by March 2018 

 Health and wellbeing – To promote and support health and wellbeing for at least 500 younger people by 

March 2018. 

Objective 3 – Resources 

‘We will make best use of our financial, property assets, ICT and human resources to support and deliver excellent 

services and homes for customers and the community.’ 

 Goals: 

 Optimise the use of our organisation’s people, skills and internal capacity 

 Partnership working to reduce operating costs  

 Capital Receipts - to generate £33 million net capital receipts 

 Asset utilisation – To continually review the performance of our property assets. 
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 Objective 4 - Encouraging innovation  

‘Our fourth objective strives for continuous improvement through annual team plans and supports all our other 

objectives and values.’ 

Business Model 

Rooftop’s Business Model demonstrates how Rooftop “creates, delivers and captures value.” 

Our Business Model identifies how our principal activities and Business plan allow us to deliver our four objectives.  

Some key elements of this Business Model include: 

 key partners 

 key activities 

 key resources 

 value proposition 

 revenue streams and cost structure. 

Key partners 

The Group works with several key partners who have a stake in the success of our business, as we do in theirs: 

 Wychavon District Council is our main local authority partner in Worcestershire  

 In Worcester the Group works with officers at city and county levels 

 In Gloucestershire the Group is working with councils in Gloucester, Cheltenham and Tewkesbury  

 ExtraCare Charitable Trust 

 Matrix Housing Partnership 

 NHS Trusts. 

Key activities 

The principal activity of the Group is to provide housing accommodation at affordable rents for people in housing 

need. 

Key resources 

The Group’s key resources are a pool of talented, experienced and committed staff; an asset base of over 6,400 

‘decent’ homes; a solid financial performance which allows the Group to fund future development, and excellent 

relationships with key stakeholders.  These resources are efficiently managed through our business planning 

process to ensure that objectives and goals, determined by the Board, are achieved. 

Value proposition 

Rooftop’s value proposition is that we will provide affordable homes that meet ‘decent homes’ standard, and built 

to be environmentally sustainable.  Rooftop will deliver and sustain excellent services to all our customers, and we 

will contribute towards the creation of cohesive and inclusive communities. 

Revenue and cost structure 

At core, the Group is a social landlord providing affordable homes for rent.  Social housing lettings represent 88% 

of Rooftop’s turnover and 77% of its cost base.  The next most significant elements of the business are shared 

ownership sales (8% of turnover, 12% of operating costs) and supporting people (3% of turnover, 8% of operating 

costs).  Other activities are negligible.   

As a developing association, we have £206 million of loan funding.  Interest and financing costs consequently make 

up the majority of our non-operating activities, amounting to £9.3 million in 2016.   
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Development and performance 

Financial performance 

This is the first year that Rooftop Housing Group has presented its financial statements under Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  A number of accounting policies have changed 

to comply with that standard and prior year results have also been restated; the detail of this is included in the 

notes to the accounts. 

Rooftop Housing Group Limited 

The overall financial performance for the year has been excellent with the Group generating a surplus for the year 

before taxation of £7.7 million.  This is a tremendous achievement in the current difficult economic and financial 

climate.   

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, remains the main contributor to the overall group surplus. 

As an individual entity, RHG operates on the principle of cost recovery from its subsidiaries.  It generates relatively 

modest surpluses to cover its tax liabilities and provide some working capital. 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited  

RHA, the Group’s core social housing provider, generated a surplus of £7.1 million.   

During the year RHA drew down an additional £15 million funding from Legal & General, in order to finance its 

ambitious development programme.  This, offset by some scheduled loan repayments, explains the increase in long 

term creditors over the year as well as the temporary increase in cash balances to £22.6 million at year end.  The 

increase in drawn loans also means an increase in interest and financing costs, which have risen by £1.8 million 

from 2015 to 2016.  

An increased volume of shared ownership sales has resulted in increasing turnover (up £1.4 million) and increasing 

operating costs (up £1.3 million).  31 sales were completed during 2016 (2015: 21).  This partly reflects the cyclical 

nature of our development programme, with the increased sales in 2016 following the completion of a large 

number of new homes at the end of 2015, and fewer sales are planned in 2017.  Over the longer term, shared 

ownership sales form an increasingly important part of RHA’s business model.   

Surpluses from other property sales have fallen to £0.1 million (2015: £1.4 million) as RHA has paused its 

programme of void property sales.  The expected introduction of a nationwide right to buy for housing association 

tenants could be a major change in this area in future, and RHA is currently exploring the policy, operational and 

treasury implications of this.   

RHA’s turnover from social rents, its core income stream, rose by £2.4 million (8%). This was mainly due to the 

completion of new properties at the end of 2015, with existing rents generally rising by 2.2%. 

Rooftop Homes Limited  

RHL, the Group’s provider of keyworker accommodation, residential care, market and intermediate rent and 

garages has generated a surplus before tax of £0.6 million, a slight increase on the previous year.  RHL’s operations 

have been stable and there has been no change to its property portfolio.   

Rooftop Support and Care Limited  

RS&C, the Group’s specialist support provider for both the young and older people services has generated a 

surplus for the year of £9,000.  This is an improvement on the £18,000 deficit recorded in 2015.  RS&C’s turnover 

has increased by £268,000, largely due to an intra-group contract funded by RHA.  This has funded RS&C’s new 

Options and Active Lifestyles service, with a corresponding increase in operating costs.   

The operating environment for specialist support remains challenging.  Worcestershire County Council funding for 

older people’s support ended during 2015 and it is expected that there will be a substantial reduction in 

Gloucestershire County Council’s funding for young people’s services in 2017.  RS&C approaches these challenges 

with a strong balance sheet, with £781,000 available cash.    
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Operational highlights from the year 

 Board approval of the new 2016 Environmental Policy, which will determine the sustainability of Rooftop 

homes and estates for the next 40 years 

 Demonstration of the long term viability of the organisation though the recent In Depth Assessment by 

the HCA, by maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial 

capacity to deal with a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1) 

 Embedding of ‘Making a Difference’ (Mary Gober Customer Culture change programme) – which 

significantly impacted on the culture of the organisation and contributed towards our success in the 

Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 External cladding programme completed, which improved sustainability to 782 homes and helped achieve 

our SAP goal (average SAP rating of 71.3 points against the target of 70) 

 Opening of two specialist dementia schemes – Dorothy Terry House and Dora Matthew House 

 Implementation of the recommendations of the Support and Care Working Party which implemented the 

new structure and processes in Rooftop Support and Care 

 Community Investment Strategy Review, which resulted in new projects working towards making Rooftop 

a dementia friendly organisation and with a wider support role in the community 

 Achieved two stars in the Sunday Times Top Not For Profit Best Companies to work for awards 

 Acceptance by the HCA of our Financial Forecast Return (FFR) in May 2015 and revised FFR in October 

2015 following the 1% rent reduction announced in the budget (including stress testing) 

 Community investment activity with strong neighbourhood impact activity 

 Progress in Land Banking which will make future development easier 

 Customer Service Excellence award 2015-18 

 Re-accreditation to Investors in People Gold 2015-17 

 Queens Award for Enterprise – Matrix Housing Partnership, and 

 National Award for Most Innovative In-House Repair Contractor with Fortis, reflecting a superb 

achievement and significantly reduced VAT costs. 

For 2015-16 we had 16 goals, which reflected the direction of the Board and the use of resources in our projects.  

At the end of the year, 14 of the 16 goals were on target for completion, with two goals off target, namely:- 

 Service Review Goal : the programmed service reviews have taken place with visible outcomes, but 

customer satisfaction has not increased against the (‘all time high’) baseline of 93.1% in 2012  

 Support and Care Business Goal : the project to implement the findings of the Support and Care Working 

party is now complete, and the new structure and processes are in place. However, Support and Care are 

facing a difficult commercial environment.  The amber status reflects the reduction in funding available and 

continued challenging operating environment in the support and care sector. 

Future prospects 

This is a challenging time for social landlords and the customers who live in our homes.  This is a period of 

significant change for a sector which has traditionally been underpinned by stability in government policy.   

Recent changes in government policy, following on from the political and economic consequences of the last 

recession, are making our operating environment more challenging as well as creating extra need for our wider 

community investment services.  The most significant change during the year was the reduction of social housing 

rents in England by 1% a year over a four-year period, starting in April 2016.  Rooftop has reviewed its business 

plan and removed sufficient costs to demonstrate its long term viability, but our capacity for action has inevitably 

been greatly reduced. 

Other forthcoming changes include: 

 Cut in welfare by a further £12bn by 2017-18 

 Continued rollout of Universal Credit 
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 Pay to stay – where residents with income over £30k may need to pay full market rent (voluntary 

scheme) 

 Withdrawal of housing benefit for the under 25s and instead a new youth allowance for 18-21 year olds 

with no entitlement to help with housing costs  

 Replacement of the minimum wage with the compulsory National Living Wage 

 A freeze on working age benefits for two years from April 2016 (exemptions for disability and pensioner 

benefits) 

 Capping Housing Benefit in line with Local Housing Allowance  

 Reduction in funding for support services, with the total loss of funding for Older People Services last 

year, and impact of the cuts in the Younger People Services this year. 

Each of these changes to our external environment have been reflected in our business planning process and 

portfolio of goals and projects. 

We have added an additional two goals to our business plan, increasing our total number of goals to 18.  These 

new goals reflect the changes to our business plan arising from the Board’s interpretation of the current 

environment and Rooftop’s response to it.  The new goals are: 

 Environmental – to  raise the environmental sustainability of our homes to an average of Band B 

 Capital assets – to channel the receipts from the Voluntary Right to Buy process into development of new 

homes. 

The recent In Depth Assessment by the HCA in January 2016 demonstrated Rooftop’s long term viability, by 

maintenance of the highest possible rating of Governance (G1) and Viability with the financial capacity to deal with 

a wide range of adverse scenarios (V1). 

Rooftop’s future prospects are derived from the following critical elements being in place, giving Rooftop a sound 

organisational base to achieve its long-term objectives: 

 clear objectives and goals with transparent and monitored outputs 

 ‘clear line of sight’ for the Board to provide direction and governance 

 effective executive and management structure 

 necessary resources, both financial and people to carry out the identified activities required to achieve 

our objectives 

 financial and organisational stability to sustain long term planning. 

Principal risks and uncertainties faced 

Rooftop have a robust risk management process, supported by our Electronic Performance Management system 

(Clearview).  This system is fully integrated with our business planning process and risk management process, 

which allows us to effectively manage the risks associated with new developments and initiatives in response to 

changes in our environment, and focus on the risks and choices we face.   

All decision reports to Board include the greatest risk associated with that initiative or development, and a full 

evaluation of the risk and relevant control measures is an integral part of the quarterly management meetings. The 

identification and scoring of risk together with the control measures taken to mitigate risk are reported on a 

regular basis to the Audit Committee and Board. 

During the year Rooftop has completed a full review of its risk map, leading to a more streamlined risk map 

focussed on the most significant risks facing the Group.  The principal risks facing Rooftop, as outlined in the risk 

map, are: 
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Risk Description 

Increase in variable interest 

rates 

 

Rooftop has £206 million of loan funding, of which 84% is fixed.  This leaves £34 

million of variable loans.  With LIBOR at historic lows, Rooftop recognises that 

there is a high probability of an increase on interest costs in the future.  An 

increase of 3% would equate to a £1 million increase in our interest costs.  The 

Board’s policy is to limit this risk by fixing at least 75% of our portfolio.  

Breach of loan agreements 

 

Rooftop’s loan agreements contain covenants which must be met to avoid default.  

These include covenants on asset cover, interest cover and gearing, as well as 

cross-default clauses meaning a failure in one borrower could affect other 

borrowers within the Group.  The changes to government rent setting policy, 

regulation and right to buy all have potential to impact on loan covenants, 

particularly asset cover.  Rooftop is monitoring this situation carefully and has 

taken mitigating steps including ring fencing cash and charging additional security 

against one of its loans. 

Ability to access new debt 

 

Rooftop’s ambitious development programme is dependent on the ability to access 

new loan funding.  The current programme to March 2018 is fully funded but 

ambitions in the longer term would require additional funding.  Having sufficient 

property security to charge against new loans is a potentially limiting factor for 

Rooftop, and funding markets could also be affected by wider factors such as 

government policy towards the social housing sector and the British exit from the 

European Union. 

Insufficient subsidy for 

development 

 

Developing new homes forms a major pillar of Rooftop’s strategy.  Decreasing 

social housing grant and an increased focus on property ownership contribute to 

this risk.  The Homes & Communities Agencies 2016-21 grant prospectus has a 

clear focus on property ownership, with limited provision for households who 

cannot afford to buy. 

Housing market sales exposure 

 

Over time, Rooftop has undertaken increasing volumes of property sales activity, 

with both shared ownership and outright sales.  Rooftop recognises that this 

increases its exposure to the cycle of the housing market.  The 1% rent reduction 

imposed on providers has reduced capacity in Rooftop’s business plan to deal with 

a shortfall or delay in expected sales receipts.        
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Value for Money self assessment – making a difference 

As a not-for-profit organisation, Rooftop invests its surpluses back into the local community by building new 

homes, improving existing homes and supporting community initiatives.   

We need to make sure that every penny counts – focussing not just on how much we spend, but how and where 

we spend it – to have the best impact on achieving our mission. 

Our approach 

Last year, we expanded the basket of Value for Money indicators we use to assess our performance.  They are 

designed to show a wider picture of what we are doing, rather than just focussing on ‘traditional’ landlord housing 

management.  We’ve divided these targets into three groups: 

 Return on assets 

This measures the big, headline information about the impact Rooftop is making through its assets.  We 

want these targets to show how well we are using our assets to:  

o provide great services which meet our residents’ needs 

o deliver new homes to help solve the wider housing crisis 

o reduce our impact on the environment 

o generate a financial return, which can then be reinvested in the other priorities above. 

These areas are crucial to us and we really want to make a difference through using our assets well. 

 Cost of specific services 

This is about how we compare to other similar landlords in terms of costs.  The areas we are reporting 

on cover all of our major frontline landlord services, plus our spending on overheads (back office areas 

such as Human Resources, Finance and Information Technology).   

 Service outcomes / social return 

Value for Money can’t just be about how cheap things are.  That’s why we’ve set out targets to measure 

how good the services we provide actually are.   

Comparison with others – HouseMark  

To help us compare the cost and effectiveness of our services, we are members of HouseMark benchmarking.  

This allows us to compare our own performance over time, and also to compare ourselves to other similar 

organisations – Local Authority stock transfer organisations (LSVTs) in the Central region with 2,500-7,500 homes.   

The vast majority of our targets are calculated using HouseMark.  Three of our targets are internal calculations 

only and are not comparable with others.  We still think these targets give us useful information about how we are 

performing, compared to our plans and compared to previous years.  
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Our performance 

The results of our VFM indicators for 2015/16 and our targets for 2016/17 are shown below: 
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Return on assets 

We are disappointed by the fall in overall satisfaction with our services.  Anecdotally, we understand that the 

satisfaction levels have been influenced by the repairs performance over the last year, which has also shown a 

significant drop in satisfaction since last year.  Overall satisfaction is affected by a wide range of issues, some of 

which are not under our direct control, and it can take some time to turn around negative opinion.  However, our 

repairs performance is now improving, and our new neighbourhood service will mean that customers will see 

Rooftop out in their areas more, giving them more opportunity for interaction, and for us to respond quickly to 

emerging issues in the community. The action plan to improve the satisfaction figure is: 

 Reconnect residents with their Neighbourhood Officer – by having generic staff with smaller patch sizes 

from 1 July 2016. 

 Undertaking a property and resident MOT where residents have requested nine or more repairs using 

2015/16 data. 

 Specifically for repairs, Fortis will contact residents on route to the appointment as a reminder. 

 Working on a plan to improve right first time and reduce the number of follow-ons. 

 Introducing a personal and proactive approach for one year to regain the confidence of residents. This will 

involve telephoning residents with complaints or service request instead of writing. 

 Introducing PDA’s for maintenance staff 

Rooftop is proud to punch above its weight in terms of how much we develop, relative to our size.  Our target for 

the year was based on building an average of 150 homes a year.  Having completed a record 292 homes in 

2014/15, 2015/16 was the start of a new development cycle and has focussed on identifying new sites and securing 

planning permission so there were fewer completed properties this year.  We expect to complete 455 homes 

over the three years to March 2018 which represents an average of 2.4% growth per year.  We have adjusted our 

yearly targets to better reflect the cycle of our development programme.    

Our financial return on new development continues to outperform the targets set in our financial appraisals. 

This year we achieved our longstanding goal to improve the average energy efficiency of our homes to 70 under 

the SAP assessment rating.  To date we have achieved an average SAP score of 71.3.  This means more of our 

residents are in warmer homes which are cheaper to run.  We have achieved this goal by: 

 building new, more efficient homes 

 selling older, less efficient properties 

 investing in major improvements to existing homes, including this year’s external cladding programme to 

682 properties. 

Achievement of our energy efficiency goal is an important milestone in Rooftop’s business strategy.  This year, we 

have created a new environmental policy which will guide our approach to environmental issues over the next 40 

years.  One of the key steps next year will be to create a new indicator to measure the impact of our new 

approach. 

Our cash operating margin continues to improve.  This is the percentage of income collected remaining after 

deducting our operating costs, which is then used to pay for major maintenance, interest and new development. 

Cost of specific services 

Once again, the results for the cost of our main services are outstanding.  We remain better than average on all 

five measures and in the top 25% for repairs and overheads. 

Compared to the average for our peers, our performance represents an efficiency saving of £1.9 million.   

This year we have spent £7.7 million on major works of which £3.2 million was spent on external wall insulation.  

In addition we were successful in getting £1.6 million funding from British Gas to undertake external cladding to 

682 properties. This deliberate investment in the quality of our homes has directly contributed to us achieving our 

energy efficiency target meaning more of our residents will enjoy warmer homes.   
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A major recent contribution to our very low costs for major works, responsive repairs and estate services is our 

innovative Cost Sharing Vehicle with Fortis Living.  Transferring services to the Cost Sharing Vehicle has been a 

major exercise aimed at saving £700,000 a year.  We recognise that satisfaction with repairs has temporarily fallen, 

but expect this to rise again once the actions we have identified are implemented.       

Our targets for next year are the result of our detailed budgeting and business planning processes.  We aim to 

broadly maintain our current strong performance.  This year we are carrying out a major review of our main 

housing management IT system.  This will increase our overhead costs in the short term, but in the longer term 

we expect this to result in significant improvements to the quality and cost of the services we provide. 

Service outcomes / social return 

Our new Options team have massively outperformed their target.  We initially planned to carry out 400 

independent living assessments last year.  In fact, the team carried out 1,383 assessments which is more than we 

originally intended to do over three years.  These assessments are enabling us to target services more effectively, 

inform other strategies about future needs and to plan for new services.  This year we will review this service and 

how it is structured.  Until we have completed this review, our target remains the same as last year.   

The Options team is part of the innovative new service we created last year, to support our residents following 

the end of Worcestershire County Council’s Supporting People funding.  We intended the service to be funded 

through service charges, but we are still negotiating with housing benefit authorities about whether these charges 

are eligible for housing benefit and have not collected the majority of that income.  This uncollected income has 

affected our percentage of rent collected figures, placing us in a very low position compared to our peers.  If we 

excluded this specific issue, our performance would be better than average. 

New homes are important to us, and we are pleased with the significant increase in satisfaction we have seen this 

year.  We are aiming for further increases next year. 

Our repairs satisfaction has been very disappointing and we believe this is the main reason for the drop in overall 

satisfaction with our services.  During the year we carried out an independent review of our repairs service which 

made some recommendations for improvement.  The management action list has been reviewed by our Audit 

Committee and the actions taken will be independently audited.  In addition, our Head of Asset Management will 

now work jointly for Rooftop and Fortis Property Care to identify and resolve the root cause. This in addition to 

the introduction of MOTs, being proactive with customer service requests and REP review of the Cost Sharing 

Vehicle will improve the service our residents receive. 

We expected our average time to re-let empty homes to increase this year, as we were managing the lettings of 

our new homes and also re-letting homes where residents transfer to our new homes for older people at Yates 

Court, Evesham.  This is part of our strategy to make better use of our assets, by enabling older residents to move 

to more suitable accommodation which will in turn release family accommodation for families on the housing 

waiting list.   

Resident-led scrutiny 

Value for Money is ultimately about improving outcomes for our residents. 

In 2012/13 we set up the Resident Excellence Panel (REP), a resident-led scrutiny group with a focus on improving 

standards and ensuring we provide Value for Money.   

During 2015/16 the REP performed a review on how well Rooftop is responding to welfare reform, as Universal 

Credit is being introduced into our core areas of Worcestershire and Gloucestershire.  The review concluded that 

Rooftop had prepared well and were supporting tenants effectively, and made some recommendations to help 

improve the service further. 

The REP also began reviewing our Cost Sharing Vehicle for repairs and maintenance, which has now been in place 

for two years.  Next year we also plan reviews of voids and service charges. 
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We have continued to arrange Value for Money workshops for the REP and Customer Panel, which have helped 

our residents select scrutiny areas and review and monitor our performance.  This self assessment has been 

reviewed by our Customer Panel.  Customer Panel members have also helped to develop the way we report Value 

for Money in our Residents’ Annual Report. 

Optimising future returns on assets 

In 2013/14, we commissioned Savills to review the performance of our property assets.  Savills told us that: 

“The overall performance of Rooftop’s properties is good.  Financial returns are roughly double those of other 

providers in the region” – Savills 

Savills broke our properties down into the following groups: 

 

The marginal 1.9% group of properties includes our keyworker scheme at Worcestershire Royal Hospital.  Over 

the last two years we have carried out a full review of our non-core housing properties to consider whether any 

action is needed to maximise return on our assets.  The review has concluded that our non-core assets are 

performing well and changes in the health sector have helped to improve performance at our keyworker schemes.   

This year we will update the asset performance model to reflect changes over the last three years.  This will help 

to show us whether any further action is needed. 

The government’s voluntary right to buy scheme also creates a major opportunity for us to review our assets and 

potentially target sales of certain types or locations of homes.  We believe that this could help us to raise £33 

million through property sales by March 2020, which could then be reinvested in new homes and improvements to 

existing homes. 

This year we have also created a formal register of assets and liabilities, which has been independently tested by 

our internal auditors.  This will help us to maximise performance of all our assets in the future. 
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Plans for 2016/17 

This year, the government set us a major challenge by forcing us to cut our rents by 1% a year for four years, 

starting from April 2016.  

In response, our managers and Board carried out a major review which removed £3.1 million of cost a year from 

our Business Plan.  Our 2016/17 budget will deliver the majority of these savings, with others phased in up to 

2019/20.  This is crucial to ensuring our ability to deliver our long term goals.     

We have also started several projects to investigate new ways of saving money, by doing things differently or 

working with partners.  This includes projects to investigate: 

 viability of an off-site manufacturing factory for new homes 

 partnership working in support and care 

 partnership working around the voluntary right to buy scheme 

 the move from specialist teams to generic housing officers. 

By order of the Board 

 

    

Robin Richmond 

Chair 

20 July 2016 
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 Independent auditor’s report to the members of Rooftop Support and Care Limited  

We have audited the financial statements of Rooftop Support and Care Limited for the year ended 31st March 2016 

which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 

Changes in Reserves and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 

Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the 

UK and Republic of Ireland”. 

Respective responsibilities of The Board and auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board’s Responsibilities set out on page 4, the Board is responsible 

for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 

and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 

Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. This report is made solely to Rooftop Support and Care Limited’s 

members, as a body, in accordance with Part 7 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014.  Our 

audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to Rooftop Support and Care Limited’s members those 

matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than Rooftop Support and Care Limited 

and its members as a body for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website 

at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

Opinion on the financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

  give a true and fair view of the state of Rooftop Support and Care Limited’s affairs as at 31st March 2016 and of 

Rooftop Support and Care Limited’s surplus for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland”; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 

Act 2014. 

 

 

 

 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Co-operative and Community Benefit 

Societies Act 2014 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion; 

 Rooftop Support and Care Limited has not kept proper books of account; or 

 a satisfactory system of control over transactions has not been maintained; or 

 the financial statements are not in agreement with the books of account; or 

 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 

 

 

Mazars LLP 

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor  

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Date 22 August 2016 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 
 

     2016 2015 

    Notes £’000 £’000 

          

Turnover   2 2,236 1,968 

Operating expenditure   2 (2,230) (1,990) 

Operating surplus / (deficit)   2 6 (22) 

Interest receivable   6 3 4 

Surplus / (deficit) before tax  5 9 (18) 

Taxation 7 - - 

Surplus / (deficit) for the year    9 (18) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  9 (18) 
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Statement of Financial Position 

At 31 March 2016 
        2016 2015 

      Notes £’000 £’000 

Fixed assets      

Housing properties   8 153 154 

    153 154 

Current assets          

Debtors     9 288 79 

Cash     10 781 1,104 

        1,069 1,183 

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year     11 (260) (382) 

Net current assets       809 801 

Total assets less current liabilities       962 955 

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 12 (149) (151) 

Net assets    813 804 

      

Capital and reserves         

Share capital      - - 

Revenue reserve    813 804 

Total reserves      813 804 

 

The financial statements of Rooftop Support and Care Limited were approved by the Board and signed on its 

behalf by:  

 Secretary Board Member

 

Board Member
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Statement of Changes in Reserves 

For the year ended 31 March 2016 

 
  Revenue 

reserve 

Total 

  £’000 £’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 822 822 

Deficit for the year (18) (18) 

Balance at 31 March 2015 804 804 

Surplus for the year 9 9 

At 31 March 2016 813 813 



   

  Page 26 

Notes to the financial statements 

1. Principal accounting policies  

 

Basis of accounting 

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified to include certain items at fair 

value, in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council and 

comply with the Statement of Recommended Practice for registered social housing providers 2014 (SORP), the 

Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 

Housing 2015. The Association is a public benefit entity, as defined in FRS 102, and applies the relevant paragraphs 

prefixed ‘PBE’ in FRS 102. 

Statement of compliance 

This is the first year the Association has prepared its financial statements in accordance with FRS 102, accordingly 

the financial information as at 1 April 2014 (being the date of transition) and for the year ended 31 March 2015 

have been restated for material adjustments on adoption of FRS 102 in the current year. 

Group accounts 

The consolidated financial statements for Rooftop Housing Group Limited incorporate the financial statements of 

Rooftop Housing Association Limited, Rooftop Homes Limited, Rooftop Support and Care Limited and Rooftop 

Management Limited.  These entities are all subsidiaries within the meaning of the Co-operative and Community 

Benefit Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Localism Act 2011.   

Turnover 

Turnover represents rental and service charge income, fees and grants receivable.   

Service charges 

The Association operates variable and fixed service charges depending on the requirements of the respective 

tenancy agreements.  Where the charge is variable an assessment is made of whether costs have been over or 

under recovered and an appropriate prepayment or accrual provided for in the accounts. 

Housing Properties 

Housing properties are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost 

of the properties is their purchase price together with improvement costs and incidental costs of acquisition, 

including capitalised interest and development administration. 

Depreciation is charged so as to write down the net book value of housing properties to their estimated residual 

value on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives as follows: 

General Needs 100 years 

Sheltered and Supported 100 years 

Non-traditional 15 years 

Garages 25 years 

Leasehold property Over life of the lease 

Shared ownership 100 years 

Component Accounting 

Major components are treated as separable assets and depreciated over their expected useful economic lives or 

the lives of the properties to which they relate, if shorter, at the following annual rates: 

Roofs 75 years 

Windows 40 years 

Doors 40 years 

Boilers 15 years 

Kitchens 20 years 
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Bathrooms 30 years 

Heating 30 years 

Electrics 30 years 

Lifts 30 years 

Freehold land is not depreciated.  

Housing properties in the course of construction are stated at cost and are not depreciated.  They are transferred 

into housing properties when completed. 

Land donated, or acquired below market value is included in cost at its valuation, with the donation treated as a 

capital grant when it relates to a specific project. 

The market rent properties are investment properties in accordance with FRS 102 and are not depreciated but are 

measured at fair value annually with any change recognised in surplus or deficit in the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income. 

Impairment 

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether an indicator of impairment exists. If such an indicator 

exists, an impairment assessment is carried out and an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset is made. 

Where the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its value in use and fair 

value less costs to sell. 

Social Housing Grant (SHG) and other Government Grants 

Government grants are recognised using the accrual model and are classified either as a grant relating to revenue 

or a grant relating to assets. Grants relating to assets are recognised in income using the accrual model on a 

systematic basis over the expected useful life of the asset. Grants received for housing properties are recognised in 

income over the expected useful life of the housing property structure. Grants relating to revenue are recognised 

in income on a systematic basis over the period in which related costs for which the grant is intended to 

compensate are recognised. 

Recycling of Capital Grant 

Where there is a requirement to either repay or recycle a grant received for an asset that has been disposed of, a 

provision is included in the Statement of Financial Position to recognise this obligation as a liability. When approval 

is received from the funding body to use the grant for a specific development, the amount previously recognised as 

a provision for the recycling of the grant is reclassified as a creditor in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Supported housing schemes managed by agents 

The Group owns a number of schemes that are run by specialist agencies.  The agents carry the financial risk from 

operating the scheme and, therefore, the Statement of Comprehensive Income only includes the income and 

expenditure that relates solely to the Group.  Any other income and expenditure related to the scheme is 

excluded from the income and expenditure account.  

Major and cyclical repairs and maintenance 

The Group only capitalises major repairs expenditure on housing properties where it increases the net rental 

stream by: 

 extending its useful economic life or 

 the improvement enables a higher rental income to be charged  

All other major repairs expenditure is charged to the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provisions 

The Association only provides for contractual and constructive liabilities where it has a present obligation to 

transfer economic benefits as a result of past events, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will result 

and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  
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Leased assets 

Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period to which 

they relate.  There are no finance leases.  

Value Added Tax (VAT) 

The Group is VAT registered but the majority of its income, being housing rents, and right to buy sales, is exempt 

for VAT purposes and this gives rise to a partial exemption calculation.  Expenditure is therefore shown inclusive 

of VAT and the input VAT recovered is deducted from lettings expenditure.  From October 2013 RHA, RHL and 

RS&C became members of a cost sharing group which provides property repair services to the Group. 

Financial Instruments 

Basic financial instruments which meet the necessary conditions of FRS 102 are initially recognised at transaction 

price and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest charges 

recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial Instruments classified as non-basic 

are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period with gains and losses arising from year to year being 

recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Service charge sinking funds 

Unutilised contributions to service charge sinking funds are recognised as a liability in the Statement of Financial 

Position. The amount included in liabilities in respect of service charge sinking funds includes interest credited to 

the fund.   

Significant management judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and labilities, income and expenses.  The 

estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments 

about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  Actual results may 

differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to account estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

Significant management judgements 

The following are management judgement in applying the accounting policies of the Association that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Impairment of social housing properties 

The Association has to make an assessment as to whether an indicator of impairment exists.  In making the 

judgement, management considered the detailed criteria set out in the SORP.   

Estimation uncertainty 

The Association makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 

addressed below. 

Fair value measurement 

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of non-basic financial instruments. Management 

base the assumptions on observable data as far as possible but this is not always available.  In that case, 

management uses the best information available.  Estimated fair values may vary from the actual price that would 

be achievable in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.   
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2. Particulars of turnover, operating costs & operating surplus 
  

    2016     2015   

  Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating 

surplus 

Turnover Operating 

costs 

Operating 

surplus 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       

Social housing lettings  616 (476) 140  630 (425) 205 

              

Other social housing activities            

Supporting People 1,620 (1,770) (150) 1,338 (1,577) (239) 

Other - 16 16 - 12 12 

Total 2,236 (2,230) 6 1,968 (1,990) (22) 
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3. Particulars of Income and expenditure from social housing 

lettings  
  

  2016 

  General Supported Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges - - - - 

Amortised government grant - 2 - 2 

Service charge income - 614 - 614 

Turnover from social housing lettings - 616 - 616 

      

Management - 248 - 248 

Services - 92 - 92 

Routine maintenance - 107 - 107 

Planned maintenance - - - - 

Rent losses from bad debts - 28 - 28 

Depreciation of housing properties - 1 - 1 

Operating costs on social housing lettings - 476 - 476 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings - 140 - 140 

Rent losses from voids - 54 - 54 

  2015 

  General Supported Other Total 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Rent receivable net of identifiable service charges - - - - 

Amortised government grant - 3 - 3 

Service charge income - 627 - 627 

Turnover from social housing lettings - 630 - 630 

      

Management - 187 - 187 

Services - 78 - 78 

Routine maintenance - 90 - 90 

Planned maintenance - - - - 

Rent losses from bad debts - 68 - 68 

Depreciation of housing properties - 2 - 2 

Operating costs on social housing lettings - 425 - 425 

Operating surplus on social housing lettings - 205 - 205 

Rent losses from voids - 16 - 16 
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4. Directors’ emoluments and expenses  

The directors are defined as the members of the Board and the executive officers as given on page 39.  The directors are paid by RHG and 

these details are presented in the parent company accounts.  

  

5. Surplus/(Deficit) before taxation 
   2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

The surplus/(deficit) before taxation is stated after charging / (crediting) :   

External auditor’s remuneration (excluding value added tax)    

- in their capacity as auditor 3 3 

Depreciation 1 2 

 

6. Interest receivable 
   2016 

£’000 

2015 

£’000 

From banks 3 4 

 

7. Taxation 
RS&C is recognised by the HM Revenue and Customs as a charity for taxation purposes.  No tax arises on the result for the period. 
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8. Tangible fixed assets 
  

 

 Housing 

properties for 
lettings 

Investment 
properties 

Total 

Cost  £'000 £'000 £’000 

At 1 April 2015  158 - 158 

Works to existing properties  - - - 

Additions  - - - 

Disposals  - - - 

At 31 March 2016  158 - 158 

     

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2015  4 - 4 

Charge for the year  1 - 1 

At 31 March 2016  5 - 5 

         

Net book value at 31 March 2016  153 - 153 

Net book value at 31 March 2015  154 - 154 

         

   

 

9. Debtors  
   2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Amounts receivable within one year     

Rents and service charges 168 152 

Less provision for doubtful debts (119) (107) 

  49 45 

Amounts due from parent undertaking 150 - 

Amounts due from other group undertakings 60 22 

Other debtors 1 - 

Prepayments and accrual income 28 12 

  288 79 

The net present value adjustment required in respect of agreement to pay (ATP) arrears is immaterial. 

 

10. Cash at bank and in-hand 
  

There were no specific charges on RS&C's cash at bank and in-hand at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015. 
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11. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year  
   2016 

 

2015 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Trade creditors 18 37 

Amounts due to parent undertaking - 118 

Amounts due to other group undertakings 3 - 

Government grants 2 2 

Other accruals 237 225 

Total 260 382 

 

12. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 
   2016 

 
2015 

 
 £’000 £’000 

Government grants 149 151 

 
Deferred income – Government grants 
 

2016 
£’000 

2015 
£’000 

At 1 April 153 156 

Grants receivable - - 

Amortisation to statement of comprehensive income (2) (3) 

At 31 March  151 153 

Due within one year 2 2 

Due after one year 149 151 

 

The original total value of grant received at 31 March 2016 is £157,993. 

 

13. Share capital  
   2016 2015 

  £ £ 

Shares of £1 each issued and fully paid     

At 1 April 7 6 

Issued during the year 1 1 

Cancelled during the year - - 

At 31 March  8 7 
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14. Financial Instruments 
 
The carrying values of the Association’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below: 

 

  2016 2015 

  £’000 £’000 

Financial assets   

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:   

Rent arrears and other debtors (see note 9) 50 45 

Amounts due from related undertakings (see note 9) 210 22 

  260 67 

Financial liabilities   

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:   

Trade and other creditors (see note 11) 18 37 

Amounts owed to related undertakings (see note 11) 3 118 

 21 155 

 

15. Units 
           2016         2015 

Under management at the end of the year  Total  Total  

Supported housing 2 2 

Managed on behalf of another landlord 102 102 

Total units social housing 104 104 

 

16. Related party transactions 
  

Management fees of £1,895,104 (2015: £1,699,741) were charged by the immediate parent undertaking, RHG. 

Property charges of £129,164 (2015: £135,705) were charged by another group member, RHA.  

From October 2013 RS&C became a shareholder in Fortis Property Care Limited which provides property services to the Group including 

responsive repairs, planned maintenance, grounds maintenance and gas servicing. The services are provided at cost and the amount charged to 

RS&C during the year was £20,977 (2015: £10,344) and the balance owing at 31 March 2016 was £0 (2015: £0). 
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17. Ultimate and immediate parent undertaking 
  

From 1 October 2009, Rooftop Support and Care Limited became a wholly owned subsidiary of Rooftop Housing Group Limited which is a 

Registered Society registered in England. 

 

18. Transition to FRS 102 
 

This is the first year that the Group and its subsidiaries have presented their financial statements under Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 

102) issued by the Financial Reporting Council.  The following disclosures are required in the year of transition.  The last financial statements 

under previous UK GAAP were for the year ended 31 March 2015 and the date of transition to FRS 102 was therefore 1 April 2014.  As a 

consequence of adopting FRS 102, a number of accounting policies have changed to comply with that standard. 

 

In carrying out the transition to FRS 102, the Group has not applied any of the optional exemptions as permitted by Section 35 Transition to 

this FRS. 

 

Housing Properties 

Under previous UK GAAP the Group had a policy of revaluing housing land and buildings. On transition to FRS 102 the Group has elected to 

revert to historic cost. Properties held to earn commercial rentals or for capital appreciation or both are classified as investment properties 

and continue to be measured at fair value annually with no depreciation charged and any change in value now recognised in surplus in the 

Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 

Grant Accounting 

Grants were previously netted off the cost of the related asset.  As the Association now accounts for its properties at cost it has adopted the 

accruals model for government grants as required by SORP 2014.  Under the accruals model the government grants have been allocated to the 

related assets and amortised over the useful economic life of those assets.  As a result of grants no longer being netted off the cost of the 

related asset the depreciation charge on that asset has been restated. 

 

Designated Reserves 

The balances previously held in designated reserves in respect of sinking funds have been transferred to creditors. 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2014 for the Association – date of transition to FRS 102 
 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 

Change to 
cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 158     158 

Grant -158  158   0 

Revaluation 126 -126    0 

Depreciation 0   -2  -2 

Total 126     156 

Investment properties Cost 0     0 

Fair Value 0     0 

Total 0     0 

Total Housing Properties 126     156 

Total fixed assets 126     156 

Current assets       

Debtors 536     536 

Cash 780     780 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Government grants 0  -2   -2 

Other creditors -360    -134 -494 

Net current assets 956     820 

Creditors due after 1 year       

Government grants 0  -154   -154 

Net assets 1,082 -126 2 -2 -134 822 

       

Capital and reserves       

Revaluation reserve 126 -126    0 

Designated reserve 134    -134 0 

Revenue reserve 822  2 -2  822 

Total capital and reserves 1,082 -126 2 -2 -134 822 
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Reconciliation of net assets and reserves at 1 April 2015 for the Association 
 

   Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s  UK GAAP as 
previously 

reported 

Change to 
cost 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 
Funds 

FRS 102 After 
Restatement 

Completed properties Cost 158     158 

Grant -158  158   0 

Revaluation 143 -143    0 

Depreciation 0   -4  -4 

Total 143     154 

Investment properties Cost 0     0 

Fair Value 0     0 

Total 0     0 

Total Housing Properties 143     154 

Total fixed assets 143     154 

Current assets       

Debtors 79     79 

Cash 1,104     1,104 

Creditors due within 1 year       

Government grants 0  -2   -2 

Other creditors -223    -157 -380 

Net current assets 960     801 

Creditors due after 1 year       

Government grants 0  -151   -151 

Net assets 1,103 -143 5 -4 -157 804 

       

Capital and reserves       

Revaluation reserve 143 -143    0 

Designated reserve 166    -166 0 

Revenue reserve 794  5 -4 9 804 

Total capital and reserves 1,103 -143 5 -4 -157 804 
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Reconciliation of total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2015 

  Effect of transition into FRS 102 

£000’s UK GAAP as 

previously 
reported 

Grant Depreciation Sinking 

funds 

FRS 102 After 

Restatement 

Turnover 1,988 3  -23 1,968 

Operating expenditure -1,988  -2  -1,990 

Operating surplus 0 3 -2 -23 -22 

Surplus/(deficit) on disposal of property, plant 
and equipment 

0    0 

Interest receivable 4    4 

Surplus before tax 4 3 -2 -23 -18 

Taxation 0    0 

Surplus for the year 4 3 -2 -23 -18 

Total comprehensive income for the year 4 3 -2 -23 -18 
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Registered office 

  

70 High Street 

Evesham 

WR11 4YD 

Board 

  

- Robin Richmond (Chair) 

- Sheila Kettley (Vice Chair) 

- Hilary Hobart  

- Martin Holland 

- Ceri Jones (co-optee) 

- Paul Kellard 

- Rachel Lathan 

- Emma Wilson (co-optee) 

 

Executive officers - Ian Hughes, Group Chief Executive 

- Caroline Dykes, Finance Director 

- Sheila Morris, Secretary and Human Resources Director 

- David Hannon, Development Director  

- Juliana Crowe, Housing and Communities Director 

External auditor Mazars LLP  

45 Church Street 

Birmingham 

B3 2RT 

Bankers Barclays Bank Plc 

54 High Street 

Worcester 

WR1 2QQ 

Internal auditors Beever and Struthers  

St George’s House 

215-219 Chester Road 

Manchester 

M15 4JE 

Principal solicitors 

  

Anthony Collins Solicitors LLP 

134 Edmund Street 

Birmingham 

B2 2ES 

 

Other legal advisors 

  

  

Trowers & Hamlins 

3 Bunhill Row 

London  

EC1Y 8YZ 
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Kings Park Road 

Moulton Park 

Northampton  NN3 6NW  

Lloyds Banking Group 

25 Gresham Street 

London 

EC2V 7HN 

Legal and General Assurance Society Limited  

One Coleman Street 

London 

EC2R 5AA 

 

Funding advisors Capita Asset Services 
64 Gresham Street 

London 
EC2V 7NQ 
 

Insurance brokers Zurich Municipal 

Zurich House 

Ballsbridge Park 

Dublin 4 

Ireland 

Taxation advisors RSM UK Tax and Accounting 

Temple Row 

Birmingham 

B2 5AF 

Valuers Savills Plc 

19/20 City Business Centre 

6 Brighton Road 

Horsham 

West Sussex  

RH13 5BB 
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Robin Richmond, MBA FCA (Chair of RS&C and Interim Chair of Audit Committee) 

Originally from London, Robin’s background is in finance, including property development with Arlington Securities plc. Since leaving 

Doncasters plc in 1999, Robin has been engaged in project work and has held a number of non-executive directorships, including 

Worcestershire Mental Health NHS Partnership Trust, Heart of England Housing and Care, and the Orbit Group. Robin is currently a Trustee 

of Midlands Air Ambulance Charity. Married with five children, Robin's outside interests include books, music and spending time with his family. 

Sheila Kettley (Tenant and Vice Chair of RS&C) 

Sheila, born in North London, has had a career background in banking, stockbroking, architecture and surveying. Her most recent position was 

as a Credit Control Manager. She and her husband were also publicans, based in various parts of the country, their last public house being in 

Eckington, Worcestershire. Sheila has been a Rooftop tenant for over 10 years and has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel since 

2008. Sheila chairs the Community Fund Group and the Communications Panel, sub-groups of the Customer Panel, and serves on the 

Complaints Review Panel. As a Rooftop volunteer, she sits on the judging panel of the annual Rooftop Garden Competition for residents and 

has recently undertaken training to become a Dementia Friends Champion. Sheila successfully completed a Governance Training course 

accredited through Derby University. She has been a member of the Audit Committee since 2011. 

Hilary Hobart (Vice Chair of RHL) 

Hilary trained as an accountant in a firm of Chartered Accountants in Liverpool, which specialised in auditing organisations in regulated sectors. 

She gained a passion for housing and subsequently left the partnership to hold various finance posts and ultimately the post of Finance Director 

within the Liver Housing Group (now part of the Your Housing Group). In 1999 she moved to the Midlands to become the Finance Director & 

Company Secretary of the Accord Housing Group. She left the sector to be part of a management buy out of an IT infrastructure company and 

also became a voluntary Board Member of Ashram Housing Association for a period of two years. After a successful exit from her company 

and a four year career break to look after her twin boys, Hilary became a self-employed Finance Director for innovative start-up companies 

funded by venture capital investments. She is now employed by one of them on a part time basis, which gives her the opportunity to fulfil her 

role as a school governor for her local primary school. 

Martin Holland, FCIH (Chair of RHL and Vice Chair of RHA) 

Martin has worked in the housing sector for over 40 years and has experience in local authorities and the private sector as well as housing 

associations. Martin retired from his role as Chief Executive at Shropshire Housing Group in 2013, where he had worked since the early 

nineties. He served as Regional Chair of the National Housing Federation (NHF) between 2003 and 2006, and in 2015 was elected to the 

Regional Committee of the NHF. Martin was appointed to the Board of the Rural Housing Advisory Group in 2011, advising the Homes and 

Communities Agency and Department for Communities and Local Government on rural housing issues. 

Ceri Jones (Co-optee) 

After more than 30 years in teaching, Ceri retired from his post as Head Teacher of Bishop's Cleeve Primary School in 2000. The following 

year he was elected to Gloucestershire County Council as the member for Bishop's Cleeve and, in that role, has served on many committees 

both in Gloucester and locally. He was a member of the Council of the University of Gloucestershire for eight years and a Chairman of Cleeve 

Colts Football Club for 10 years. He has also chaired the Rooftop Residents Association in Bishop's Cleeve, which meets quarterly with both 

tenants and owner occupiers to discuss issues of interest and concern. In May 2013, Ceri decided to step down from the County Council. 

Paul Kellard (Tenant) 

Paul, born in Chester, has a career background in the Armed Forces and the Ministry of Defence. He currently works in Health and Social Care 

and was recently appointed to the post of Care Co-ordinator in a residential nursing home. He has been a Rooftop tenant for more than 20 

years and, in recent years, he has been involved with the Rooftop Customer Panel and Resident Excellence Panel. Paul successfully completed a 

governance training course accredited through Derby University. Paul volunteers with the Alzheimer’s Society as a fund raiser and Dementia 

Friends Champion. He has also undertaken training, as a Rooftop volunteer, to become a Dementia Friends Champion. He believes passionately 

in providing excellent housing to create strong communities, especially to an ageing population. 
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Rachel Lathan (Tenant and Chair of RHA) 

Rachel has been an RHA tenant for some years and lives in Badsey with her husband and young family. She balances a demanding family life with 

her job in sales and her involvement with Rooftop. Rachel first became an involved resident with Rooftop when she joined the newly formed 

Resident Action Team in 2010 and has risen rapidly to the position of RHA Chair. She was a 'Tenant of the Year' finalist in the 2012 Tenant 

Participation Advisory Service Awards. Rachel has completed many public speaking engagements. She has successfully completed a Governance 

Training course accredited through Derby University. Rachel is an active member of the local community and believes passionately in providing 

excellent housing. 

Emma Wilson (Co-optee) 

Emma is a registered nurse with experience of working as a senior manager in both primary and secondary care in London and 

Worcestershire, with accountability for the provision and delivery of nursing services. She now works as an advanced nurse practitioner in 

primary care, in addition to studying for an MSc in Advancing Practice at University of Worcester. After a move back home to Pershore from 

London with her two young children in 1997, she was aware of the need for good, affordable social housing and feels fortunate to have 

previously been a tenant of RHA for five years.  
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